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PARTI
This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated herein.by reference -contain forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E 'of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In particular, forward-looking statements regarding the Company's
expected performance and financial results in future periods — which include words such as “expeci(s)”, “feel(s)”,
“pelieve(s)”, “will”, “would”, “may”, “anticipate(s)”, and similar expressions — are based upon management's
current expectations and beliefs and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those déscribed in the preceding forward-looking statements. You are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date of the filing of this Form
10-K. The following factors known to management, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially
from those described in such forward-looking statements: our ability to continue to attract new customers and obtain
new and expanded business opportunmes from existing customers; management of our growth and successful
mtegratmn of our operations with those of ‘newly-acquired subsidiaries; continued growth in demand in'the United
States and abroad for products and consultlng services such as those offered by the Company; and the effect of
intensifying competition among a rising number of companies offering products and services similar to those offered
by the Company. Unless required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise. In addition, we encourage
you to review the risk factors contained in this Annual Report on Form 10- K and in the Company's other reports,

registration statements and other documents filed from time to time with the SEC which describe a number of
additional risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expected in the
forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K. All references to “us,” “we,” “our,” “Clinical Data,” “the
Company,” and other similar expressions, unless otherwise deﬁned herem refer to Clinical Data, Inc.,. its
predecessors and subsidiaries. : a ‘

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Clinical Data, Inc. is a leading provider worldwide of pharmacogenomics and molecular services as well as genetic
testing and clinical diagnostics to improve patient care and clinical outcomes. Our pharmacogenomics and molecular
services are marketed to the pharmaceutical, biotech, diagnostic, academie, government and agricultural markets to
assist them in endeavors relating to the genome. Furthermore, the Company utilizes pharmacogenomics to discover,
develop and commercialize genetic tests based on identifying genetic markers to guide drug development and
utilization. These genetic tests are marketed to providers, payors and consumers.

On October 6, 2005 we completed the acquisition of Genaissance Pharmaceuticals, Inc.: (“Genaissance™), a world
leader in the discovery and use of human gene variation for the development of a new. generation of DNA-based
tests and therapeutic products with an established market presence in pharmacogenomics and molecular services.
The acquisition of Genaissance was an important step in our objective to grow our business and revenues,
particularly in the pharmacogenomics and molecular tests markets. The acquisition of Genaissance also will enable
us to guide pharmaceutical therapy through the use of genetic tests we call Therapeutic D1agnost1cs because we
acquired products and technologies that are either already commercialized through Genaissance or that can be
commercialized in the future. Through this acquisition, we also gained the know-how to in license and further
develop 1ntellectual property from outside parties to develop and commercialize to create genetic tests. )

On December 20 2005 we completed the adquisition of Icoria, Tnc. (“Icoria M, a b1otechnology company that uses
its ability to analyze biological function at the level of gene expression and biochemical pathways to discover and
validate novel biomarkers for the research community. We believe the Icoria acquisition may strengthen our
position in molecular and pharmacogenomics services market. ‘
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Most recently, on March 7, 2006, through our wholly-owned subsidiary Clinical Data B.V., we purchased all of the
issued and outstanding shares of the French company, Genome Express, S.A., (“Genome Express”). Genome
Express is focused on providing genomics and post-genomics technology contract services, and genetic sequencing
and molecular biology services, and on performing integrated genomics analysis.

The Company’s molecular services segment was created from the acquisitions of Genaissance, Icoria and Genome
Express.

In addition, the Company is a leading manufacturer and distributor of clinical laboratory instrumentation and related
assays. The instruments are marketed worldwide through distributors and OEM partnerships. Worldwide we have an
installed base of over 15,000 units.

As a result of our acquisitions of Elan Diagnostics, Inc. (“Elan”), Group Practices Services Incorporated (“GPSI”),
Landmark Scientific Inc. (“Landmark”) and Electa Lab s.r.l. (“Electa Lab”) over the past three years, we supply a
complete range of products and services, from equipment and reagents to lab management and consulting services,
to two market segments, physician’s office laboratories (“POL”) and clinics and small hospitals.

As of April 29, 2004, the operations of Elan, GPSI and Landmark were integrated into a single wholly-owned
subsidiary, Clinical Data Sales & Service, Inc. (“CDSS”). CDSS prov1des its products and ‘services in North
Amenca and represents the Company’s POL segment.

The Company provides its products and services in Europe and Asia through its Dutch subsidiary, Vital Scientific
NV (“Vital Scientific”), and through Electa Lab. Products and services are provided in Australia through its
Australian subsidiary, Vital Diagnostics Pty. Ltd. (“Vital Diagnostics™). Vital Scientific, Electa Lab and Vltal
Diagnostics represent the Company’s clinics and small hospitals segment. ,

For revenue and operating information on each of our segments described above, please see Note 15 to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Company History ‘
The Company was established in 1972 to offer ambulatory dlagnostlc physiological monitoring for clinical and

research applications. In 1984, we acquired a thirty-three percent (33%) equity interest in Vital Scientific. From
1985 to 1991, our equity position in this Dutch company was increased to ninety-four percent (94%) and in October
1997 Vital Scientific became a wholly owned sub51d1ary

Vital Diagnostics was established in July 1992 as Clinical Data (Australia) Pty. Ltd. to dlstrlbute dlagnostlc products
in Australia and the South Pacific. As described in Note 1 of the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has sold 7.5% of this subsidiary to an officer of the Company. In December 2000, the
name of the subsidiary was changed to Vital Diagnostics Pty. Ltd. :

On April 29, 2003, we executed an Aménded and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Landmark Merger
Agréement”), pursuant to which we acquired 100% of Landmark, a corporation controlled by Randal J. Kirk, a
member of the Board of Dlrectors of the Company (“Mr. Kirk”), by means of a merger (the “Landmark Merger”) of
Landmark with and into Spectran Holdings, Inc., a wholly-owned sub51d1ary, which subsequently changed its name
to Landmark Scientific, Inc. The Landmark Merger was consummated on April 29, 2003. In consideration of the
Landmark Merger, we issued 25,000 shares of convertible, non-voting Series A Preferred Stock with an aggregate
fair value of approximately $1.2 million. Transaction costs totaled approximately $179,000. On April 29, 2004,
Landmark was merged with and into CDSS.

Also on April 29, 2003, we executed an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “GPSI Merger Agreement”™) pursuant to
which GPS], a corporation also controlled by Mr. Kirk, merged with and into CDSS and we acquired 100% of GPSI
(the “GPSI Merger”). The GPSI Merger was consummated on April 29, 2003. In consideration of the GPSI Merger,
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we issued approximately 222,000 shares of convertible, non-voting Series A Preferred Stock with an estimated
aggregate fair value of approximately $10.8 million. Transactiofi ¢osts totaled approx1mately $243,000.

On April 29, 2003, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Elan Diagnostics, Inc. The acqulsmon was made
pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2002, as amended on February 10, 2003, March
18, 2003, March 31, 2003 and April 29, 2003, among Elan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the parent company of Elan),
Elan, and Clinical Data (as amended, the “Asset Purchase Agreement”). The aggregate purchase price was $7.5
million and transaction costs totaled approximately $801,000. ‘ .

On October 6, 2005, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Genaissance in exchange for 484,000 shares of a
newly designated voting, convertible Series A Preferred Stock and 2,318,000 shares of our common stock. The
Series A Preferred Stock was valued at its common stock equivalent and the common stock was valued at the
average of the trading price two days before and two days after June 20, 2005, the date of the announced acquisition,
$19.66 per share. The Company issued 386,000 warrants with an aggregate fair value of approximately $1.2 million
to purchase the Company’s common stock in exchange for the outstanding warrants of Genaissance. Approximately
349,000 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the options assumed by us in
connection with the acquisition. The aggregate fair value, measured using the Black-Scholes model totaled
approxunately $1.6 mllhon Transaction costs totaled approximately $1.3 mllhon

On October 7, 2005, we acquired all the outstanding stock of Electa Lab, in exchange for €1.5 million
(approximately $1.8 million), plus transaction costs totaling approximately $103,000. The purchase of Electa Lab
was financed, in part, by the issuance of a note payable with principal totaling €500,000 (approximately $607,000).

On December 20, 2005, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of Icoria in exchange for 614,000 shares of our
common stock with an aggregate fair value of approximately $11.3 million. The common stock was valued-at the
average of the trading price two days before December 20, 2005, the date of the acquisition and deemed
measurement date. We also issued 42,000 warrants with an aggregate fair value of $81,000 to purchase our common
stock in exchange for the outstanding warrants of Icoria. We have reserved 43,000 shares of our common stock for
issuance pursuant to the options assumed by us in connection with the acquisition. The aggregate fair value,
measured using the Black-Scholes model, totaled approx1mate1y $227,000. Transactlon costs totaled approximately
$367,000.

On March 7, 2006, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of Genome Express 'in ‘exchange for 108,000 shares of
our common stock- with: an aggregate fair market value of approximately $2.5 million, ‘cash of €200,000
(approximately $241,000) and a contingent issuance of 15,000 shares of common stock with a value of €300,000
{approximately $361,000). The common stock was valued at the average of the trading price two days before and
two days after March 2,2006, the deemed measurement date Transacuon costs approx1mate $490, 000

OUR INDUSTRIES:
In Vitro Diagnostic (“IVD”) Testing

The worldwide market for human blood testing is estimated at $25 billion per year for diagnostic tests performed in
hospitals, physicians’ offices and commercial laboratories worldwide. Clinical chemistry testing of blood, which
includes such tests as cholesterol and glucose, represents a major segment of th1s market. The United States
continues to be the largest single market for IVD testmg

Domestically, the present focus on reducing health care costs and increasing health care availability has encouraged
the movement of blood testing from centralized laboratories into the patient care setting. Revenues from clinical
laboratory testing are growing as a result of the aging of the population, increased healthcare awareness, and
expanding insurance coverage. In addition, the physician market continues to benefit from the shift of diagnostic
testing from hospitals to alternate sites.
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Worldwide there is an increasing need for greater efficiency in disease management. Clinical laboratories, both large
and small, are seeking total support from diagnostic companies to enable them to establish a pre-determined cost per
patient outcome

Our primary focus is to provide a complete range of technical products and consulting services to the growing
domestic POL market and smaller laboratories and to offer blood analysis instrumentation and diagnostic assays for
use in clinics and hospitals internationally.

The healthcare industry is subject to extensive government regulation. Government and private insurance carriers
fund the cost of a significant portion of medical care offered in the United States and government funding is the
source of healthcare spending internationally. The impact of cost containment on healthcare expenditures in the
future is difficult to predict. The Company’s technology is subject to regulatory control by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (“Food and Drug Administration” or “FDA”), the European I'VD Directive and other regulatory
agencies in various countries around the world.

Development and Marketmg of Drugs

The pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare industries face intense pressure to become more productlve and
deliver more cost effective healthcare. Two of the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry's most challenging
issues are the high cost.and low success rate of developing drugs and the need to differentiate approved drugs in
highly competitive markets. At the same time, healthcare providers and payers are spending a growing proportion of
their resources on prescription drugs. Numerous efforts have been made over the years by.healthcare constituents to
improve patient outcomes while reducing the cost of care. Many of these efforts have failed and the costs associated
with healthcare delivery have continued to balloon. A large focus of the healthcare industry over the past few
decades has been to utilize new drugs to reduce the total cost of care. However, these new drugs are very expensive
and the drug cost will continue to represent 10% to 11% of the total cost of healthcare (Source: Centers of Medicare
and Medicaid Services). Healthcare spending in the U.S. is expected to increase over the next decade to $4 trillion
by 2015. (Source: Borger, C., et al., "Health Spending Prolectlons Through 2015: Changes on the Horizon," Health
Affairs Web Exclusive W61: 22 February 2006).

The drug development process is costly and subject to a high failure rate. Even with recent technological advances,
including advances in areas such as genomics, which is the knowledge and use of all of the genetic information of an
organism, the failure rate of clinical trials has increased significantly. According to a study by Bain & Company; the
average cost for developing a new drug, including the cost of unsuccessful drug candidates, is now $1.7 billion, 55%
higher than the average cost from 1995 to 2000, because of this growing failure rate. :

Approved drugs often face intense competition. The period of market exclusivity for the first. drug in a new
therapeutic class is typically much shorter today than it-was a few years. ago because of the introduction of similar
compounds in that therapeutic class. Consequently, marketing expenditures have increased rapidly as companies
attempt to maintain or increase market share. Marketing departments are under pressure to maximize the revenue
generated from approved products in order to meet corporate-wide revenue and earnings goals. In addition;
pharmaceutical companies continue to face increasing competition from generic drugs, as patents on more than 200
brand-name drugs will expire over the next several years. Drugs with total U.S. sales of $30 to $40 billion could
lose patent protection over the next three years (Source: 2006 Medco Drug Trend Report). Generic drugs account for
more than half of all prescriptions dispensed today. Thus, in order to maintain revenue growth rates and proﬁtablhty,
pharmaceutical companies must both improve the success rate of clinical trials and differentiate their drugs in a
crowded market place.

Retail sales of prescription drugs have grown each year reaching $235.4 billion in the U.S. in 2004 (Source: IMS
Health, IMS National Sales Perspectives™™, February 2005). In an attempt to contain the rising cost of drug
expenditures, healthcare providers and payers face the difficult task of deciding which drugs should be prescribed to
specific patients and are suitable for reimbursement. Healthcare providers make these decisions using medical
outcome studies and economic benefit factors but they have little, if any, knowledge of which individual patients are
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most likely to benefit from a specific drug. Managed care plan designs employed by payers and Prescription Benefit
Managers (“PBM”s) also impact the provider’s decision as to which drugs should be prescribed for a specific
patient. Thus, healthcare payers, providers and patients would benefit from using drugs that are most efficacious and
safest for a specific patient or patient population resulting in more appropriate and safer interventions and optimized
patient care management and outcomes. These economics and clinical outcomes requirements are also applicable in
the international markets where health coverage and programs are often sponsored by governments and other payers.

The medical community generally acknowledges that most drugs work more effectively for some patients than for
others. Pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies historically have not considered genomic differences between
patients in developing and implementing clinical trials or in the marketing of therapeutics. Consequently, these
companies may. unnecessarily discontinue further drug development, fail to-obtain regulatory approval for promising
drug candidates or, even if a drug obtains approval, be unable to market an approved drug effectively or to obtain
approval for third party reimbursement. Furthermore, upon approval of their drugs, some companies encounter real-
world efficacy and safety challenges. In some instances, drugs have had to be abruptly removed from the market,
primarily for safety concerns (for example, Merck’s voluntary worldwide withdrawal of Vioxx (rofecoxib), a
popular arthritis' medication). In other cases, significant marketing challenges relating to modest efficacy have
ansen

If, in clinical trials, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies applied biomarkers including those derived from
haplotypes, gene expression, and other techniques, together with sophisticated software programs to identify patient
populations that differ in their response to a drug, they could improve the development and marketing processes by
offering products with superior efficacy or safety. For example, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies could
use biomarkers predictive of a certain response to determine more precisely what patients would be most likely to
benefit from the drug under development. Similarly, this information would allow-the design of other studies, in
particular Phase III trials, which would be enriched for responders. Such a trial' would likely be smaller since only
patients likely to respond to the drug would be enrolled. This should result in faster, cheaper Phase III trials, earlier
approval, and an accelerated timetable for reaching the market. In addition, the resultant product would be clearly
differentiated from other agents within its class or therapeutic area, possibly by superior efficacy. Similarly, if
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies could identify the patients most likely to have an unwanted side effect
based on genetic variation, they could more closely monitor these patients or eliminate them from pamclpatmg in
clinical trials and recelvmg the drug, thereby improving the safety proﬁle :

Pharmaceutlcal ‘and 'biotechnology companies may, therefore, have a better understanding of the cost required to
complete the development of a drug and the likely economic return on their investment before proceeding to Phase
III and beyond if the use of biomarkers was considered earlier in the development program. In addition, if
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies could use biomarkers to predict a drug response, they might be able to
improve the marketing of their' drugs by identifying those patients for which particular drugs are most likely to be
effective, with the least likelihood of having an adverse reaction and, perhaps, prevent severe adverse reactions from
occurring which might force a drug to be withdrawn from the market. Furthermore, healthcare providers and payers
could benefit economically from predictive information that would enable a physician to prescnbe the most
appropriate and safest medication at the earliest possible time.

In March 2005, the FDA issued final guidance on the submission of genetic data generated during the drug
development process. The guidance, entitled Pharmacogenomic Data Submissions, describes what genomic data
must be submitted to FDA, when it must be submitted, and in what format, and what genomic data may not
necessarily be submitted. The guidance establishes a process for informal review at FDA via Voluntary Genomic
Data Submissions to the Interdisciplinary Pharmacogenomics Review Group (“IPRG”). This document also
describes how such data will be used in the review process.
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The development of biomarkers is not limited to the drug development process but can be applied to drugs that have
already received marketing approval. It has been reported that adverse drug-events account for

+5% of all hospital admissions (1.5 million cases); - Coe .

+106,000 deaths in the U.S. annually, :

+2.2 million patients suffering serious, but not deadly, s1de effects

sincreased length of hospital stays; . ‘ .

sincreased cost per patient of about $2,500; and

stotal assocrated costs to the U.S. healthcare- system of $177 billion.

It has also been shown that the increased costs due to drug-mduced adverse- drug events are dlsproportronately
associated with drugs metabolized by enzymes known to have reduced or non-functional genetic variants (Journal of
the American Medical Association 286: 2270, 2001). . R -

Indrvrdual response to drugs for efﬁcacy also has Very poor predictability. ‘For example, response to-beta-blockers
for hypertension may vary from 60% to 85% and response to selective-serotonin reuptake inhibitors for depression
is less than 50%. The ability to'use a biomarker to predict with higher confidence which patient will respond well to
a particular drug may impact total cost of care by increasing the probability of response, which could lead to less
morbrdrty, higher product1v1ty, and less moriality.

Numerous drugs that are. efﬁcacxous, safe and in some instances less costly than others prescrrbed in a therapeutic
area have been relegated to second: and third-line therapy behind more expensive and in some instances less safe
and effective therapies. This often occurs due to lack of efficacy or safety in small parts of the population and,
thereby, the economic and medical value of using that drug is diminished or lost. By understanding genetic variation
and its relationship to drug response, it is possible to determine which individuals may benefit more from such a
drug, thus re- estabhshmg its posmon as a useful and perhaps less expensrve alternative. »

Brornarker drscover and analysrs and other genom1c research conducted by govemments academla, and the
agricultural industry is a growing area as well. The benefits of this research are increasingly becoming known and. .’
the interest in DNA and RNA services to these sectors may be increasing... :

Dlagnostrc and Genetic Testmg Industrles B X :
The worldwide healthcare industry is struggling to keep costs relatrng to medrcatrons and care dehvery in check
The hope . of providing optimal treatment resulting in improved outcomes -and reductions in costs continues to be an
industry focal point. Unfortunately, many of the mechanisms for realizing these goals’have proven to be too costly
or ineffective. In addition, lack of optimal treatment consistent with best practice protocols, adverse drug events, and
inaccurate or incomplete diagnoses are still- experienced by too many:. Scientific advances in genomics and
biomarker identification have set the stage for fundamentally improving healthcare delivery. An individual’s genetic
profile will increasingly play an important role in clinical decision making as it relates to the selection of appropriate
treatment for each patient. Genetic. markers associated with therapeutic use will be,developed into genetic tests.
These genetic tests will be used to assist healthcare providers in determining the most efficacious and.safe
therapeutic and in some instances, an individual’s propensity for a given disease. '

With the introduction of genomic-based tests, choosing which therapeutic agent or intervention to prescribe will be
based on science rather than on pure economics, as is often the case today: By utilizing genetic tests, specific
therapies may no longer be appropriate for use across an unselected population. Specific therapies may be useful
only in populations defined by the presence or absence of a biomarker and therefore, the use of market share drivers
to reduce costs may no longer be viable in thesé cases. The new approach to clinical ‘care that incorporates genetic
tests will focus on lowering unit drug cost where possible, increasing ‘efficacy of treatments provided to specific
individuals, reducing adverse drug events, and getting patients to-therapeutic goals more rapidly.

In 20035, the FDA issued guidance for the pharmaceutical industry on the submission of information about genetic
variability and its effects on drug response. Indicating that most FDA endorsed clinical trials will eventually require
a pharmacogenomics strategy for any new drug coming to market. By pre-screening patients with genetic testing
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during the early phases of a clinical trial, drug companies should be able to shorten the average time it takes to get a
drug approved (presently approximately 12 years with a cost of $1 billion.). Less than 10% of all drugs ever get
approved (Source: Institutional Research Partners, LLC) . It is anticipated that over the next 5-10 years, about 10%
1o 20% of drugs in development are likely to be associated with genetic tests to help identify the patient populations
likely to respond to treatment. As of 2004, the product labels for about 13 FDA-approved drugs contained
information about the possible impact of a patient’s drug-metabolizing enzyme phenotype on drug response (Source:
The Royal Society. Personalized Medicines: Hopes and Realities. London: The Royal Society: 2005).

The genetic test market has been estimated to be at growing 20% annually and is expected to reach $1.2 billion in
revenues in 2006. The majority of assays are in oncology, gene/defects/inherited diseases and infectious diseases.
There are more than 900 labs worldwide performing home-brew assays. Most of these labs (90%) are located in
North America, Western Europe and Japan (Source: SG Cowen —2001).

Healthcare insurers, employers, governments and others are constantly seeking innovative ways to manage the trend
of healthcare costs ‘without compromising care.. Suboptimal care, rising costs and inappropriate utilization of
healthcare services have all led to the need for significant reforms in the current system and new approaches to cost
containment. Unfortunately, many of the programs implemented to reduce costs such as disease management, case
management, and drug formularies, have had only modest impacts on pharmacy and medical cost trends. The
Company believes that advances in biomarker identification, pharmacogenomics, laboratory practices and the clinic
could set the stage for the use of genetic markers to create genetic tests to determine which individuals will
experience optimal benefit from specific therapies. Optimization of therapy for individuals may in turn result in
more desirable clinical outcomes while at the same time possibly leading to reductions in the total cost of care.
Many health plans and employers are beginning to look at genomics and genetic testing as the next step in managing
their increasing cost trends. - We will aggressively work with payers, PBMs, associations, coalitions, providers,
information companies and others to set the stage for market introduction and adoption of genetic testing. There is
an education process for all involved in terms of the value of utilizing genetic tests to optimize the use of therapies
and clinical outcomes. The objective is to facilitate market introduction and adoption of the tests provided by the
Company while also considering these players’ additional participation in the focusing and acceleration of marker
and test development efforts. The company currently provides a test associated with cardiac channelopathies
including Long QT Syndrome and Brugada Syndrome. The company is actively working on additional tests that are
applicable to Central Nervous System (“CNS”), Cardiovascular and Oncology fields. For example, we completed
the first part of a program to discover genetic markers that will identify patients at lower risk for clozapine-induced
agranulocytosis (used for schlzophrenla)

The genetic testing market is rapidly -growing and according to Medco’s 2006 Drug Trend Report: 'There exists a
number of barriers that need to be addressed before genetlc testing will become a widely used and accepted part of
clinical decision-making process: ‘
s the need for education on how and when to use the information;

. the difficulty and expense of performing tests and assays;

the lack of demonstrated cost-effectiveness in comparison to traditional empiric. monitoring;

the rarity of a single-gene cause for drug response variability;

uncertainty about the predictive value of genetic tests to accurately identify patients; and

ethical, legal and social considerations.
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OUR COMPANIES:
IVD TESTING

CDSS

Vital Scientific
Vital Diagnostics
Electa Lab

The worldwide market for human blood testing is estimated at $25 billion per year for diagnostic tests performed in
hospitals, physicians’ offices and commercial laboratories worldwide. The United States continues to be the largest
single market for IVD testing. -

Our Products & Services

We supply a-complete range of products and services to the POL and small and medium sized medical laboratories
in the U.S., including equipment and reagents and lab management and consulting services. Capable of delivering
everything from the spot sale of consumables to total laboratory management, Clinical Data offers an entryway into
over 5,000 POLs currently conducting clinical chemistry testing in the U.S. and to the potential 15,000 physician’s
offices which could justifiably provide such services. Whether a practice is considering establishing a new lab,
consolidating lab resources from multlple sites, or improving the quality and efficiency of an ex1stmg in-office lab,
CDSS can be of assistance.

We currently provide POLs and small laboratories in the United States with a choice of three private labeled blood
chemistry analyzers, two ESR automated analyzers, over twenty different FDA approved diagnostic assays, and
consumables, as well as technical support. Our technology is tailored for the small to medium sized laboratory. The
broad testing menu of our manufactured product line includes lipid, hepatic, electrolyte, and metabolic profiles. In
addition, through licensing and distribution arrangements with third parties, we prov1de a laboratory mformatlon
soﬁware system for efficient management and control of smaller laboratories.

Clinical Chemistry

Clinical chemistry systems use photometric or electrochemical detection principles to quantify substances of
diagnostic interest (referred to as "analytes") in patient blood, urine, and other body fluids. Commonly performed
tests include cholesterol, triglycerides, electrolytes, and glucose. We offer a range of automated and semi-automated
clinical chemistry systems to meet the testing requirements of the smaller laboratory.

Our line of clinical chemistry systems is a family of products which include modular automated diagnostic
instruments and the reagents, standards and other consumable products required to perform commonly requested
diagnostic tests. Each of our products listed below has been cleared for marketing in the United States by the FDA
and complies with European IVD regulations. These include:

o The Vitalab Selectra-XL, a floor model 360 test per hour random-access, "walk-away"” clinical chemistry
analyzer offering a wide range of testing including clinical chemistry, spec1al proteins, drugs of abuse
("DOA™"), therapeutic drug monitoring ("TDM"), and electrolytes.

e The Vitalab Selectra E, (also trade-named Selectra Il and Vitalab Fiexor-E), a "wali(-away"'ISO test per
hour clinical chemistry analyzer, capable of performing over 70 different diagnostic tests using reagents
from almost all manufacturers.

¢ The Vitalab Junior a “walk-away” 90 test per hour clinical chemistry analyzer, also capable of performing
over 70 different diagnostic tests using reagents from a wide range of producers.

s The Viva series of analyzers, dedicated systems designed for TDM and for the detection of DOA, which
are marketed by Dade Behring in over thxrty countries worldwide These analyzers were designed
specifically for use with the Dade Behring Emit® line of diagnostic assays for TDM and DOA.
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e The HY-TEC 288 is a fully automated enzyme immunoassay system that was developed and is
manufactured for Stratagene Corporation (formerly Hycor Biomedical, Inc.) of La Jolla, California. The
. HY-TEC 288 is a reagent system that permits the testing of 8 autoimmune tests and 900 allergens.

e The Vitalab 300 semi-automated clinical'chemistry analyzer, which permits a full range of testing including
endpoints, kinetic and bichromatic measurements.

s The Envoy, a 350 test per hour bench top, "walk-away" clinical chemistry analyzer offering a wide range of
* clinical chemistry and electrolytes : :

¢ A complete menu of over 20 clinical chemistry tests formulated and/or packaged by us for our range of
, clinical chemistry instruments.

Speczallzed Dzagnosttc Assays

In an effort to differentiate our products and to create unique opportunmes for distrlbution in February 2005, we
entered into a distribution agreement with Daiichi Pure Chemicals Co., Ltd. (“Daiichi”) of Tokyo, Japan. Under this
agreement we will serve as the master distributor for a new d1agnost1c assay for the measurement of Prostate
Specific Antigen (“PSA”), a marker for the presence of prostate cancer. Daiichi’s unique and proprietary assay
technology allows PSA to be measured ori our existing line of clinical chemistry analyzers and on most conventional
clinical chemistry systems currently in use around the world.

Product launcli is eXpected‘to follow section 510(k) clearance of the assay by the FDA's Center for Devices and
Radiological Health which will permit marketing in the United States for in virro diagnostic use. The FDA has
requested a resubmission with additional data. IVD registration under European regulations is also being sought.

In April 2005, we entered into a worldwide distribution agreement with Daiichi for a diagnostic assay for the
measurement of an extended range of high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein (“hsCRP"). Daiichi’s proprietary assay can
be used on our ex1st1ng line of clinical chemistry analyzers and on most conventional clinical chemistry systems'
currently in use. ‘ : ‘ ‘

We obtained section 510(k) clearance of the hsCRP assay in February 2006. IVD registration under European
regulations is being sought. ‘

Hematologv
ESR

ESR is a time-honored laboratc')ry:r‘nethod for determining the acute phase response to inflammation. It measures the
rate at which red blood cells in a test tube separate from blood plasma over time to become sediment in the bottom
of the test tube. The sedimentation rate increases in various disease processes. :

We offer ESR analyzers and dispoSables produced for us by our Electra Lab subsidiary.
Hemostasis -

Hemostasis is a biochemical process that protects the body from blood loss caused by vascular damage. Within
seconds of damage, constriction of the vessel and formation of a temporary hemostatic platelet plug occurs. Platelet
aggregation triggers the coagulation cascade that leads to clot formation. Coagulation systems provide detailed
information used to diagnose bleeding and clotting disorders.

We offer the Fibron-1 Coagulometer and related assays for in vitro coagulation testing of citrated human plasma in
the clinical laboratory. This analyzer is designed for the small laboratory.
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Biood Cell Counting

In an effort to diversify our product base, in February 2005 -we obtained exclusive dlstr1but10n nghts for a unique
line of hematology analyzers and reagents developed by Melet Schloesing Laboratoires of Cergy-Pontoise, France.
Under the terms of the agreement, we will be the exclusive distributor of four fully automated differential blood cell
analyzers for the human diagnostics market in the United States and Canada. Reagents for the analyzers will be
manufactured exclusively by us at our Brea, California facility.

leferentlal cell counting is used to dlagnose such condmons as anemia, infections, allergic reactions and platelet
disorders. Millions of such tests are performed daily in hospitals and doctors’ offices worldwide.

The proprietary analyzers and reagents, to be distributed in North America under the Clinical Data brand name, are
fully-automated devices used to count red blood cells, white blood cells, platelets, measure hemoglobin and
calculate or measure several red cell indices, including erythrocyte mean corpuscular volume, mean corpuscular
hemoglobin, and the mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration. The analyzers perform a differential cell count by
classifying the individual white cell components into subpopulations of lymphocytes, granulocytes, eosmophlls
basophils, and monocytes through electronic sizing. The uniqueness of Melet Schloesing’s proprietary technology is
that it allows a S-part differential cell count to be measured for essentlally the same cost as conventional 3-part
differential analyzers in use today.

FDA clearance of the analyzers was obtained in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 and the product has been launched.

Distribution
POL Segment

In the United States, we sell predominantly through a well-established network of national, regional and local
 distributors specializing in the POL market. We support these distributors with a field sales force. In some markets,
and in some geographic areas, we sell certain products directly to the end customer. Our consulting services are
typically sold directly to the POL.

Clinics and Small Hospitals Segment

We market to clinics and small hospltals through a dealer network in Europe, the United States, the Far East, Latm
America, Eastern Europe, and China.

In Australia and New Zealand, we distribute the diagnostic product lines of a number of European, Amencan and
Australian compames to clinics and small hosplta]s

Product Development g o ‘ :

To develop new products, we employ chemists, mechanical, electronic and systems engineers, augmented by
specialized contract vendors, and further supported by a staff of professionals from a central-European contract
software group. Research and development is performed at a number of our companies and may be shared between
companies through licensing agreements when appropriate. We maintain mechanical prototyping and automated
assembly operations in the Netherlands. _ Assay development is accomplished at our California and Rhode Island
facilities.

Research and development spending, including capitalization of ‘certa'in Soﬁwafe development costs, was
approximately $3.0 million during fiscal 2006, $2.9 million during fiscal 2005 and $2.9 million during fiscal 2004.

We intend to develop new products where we perceive a demand and believe that the products may be effectively

marketed. There is no assurance that any developments or enhancements will be successfully completed or that, if
developed, any of the products will be successfully marketed.
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Manufacturing , :

We have been manufacturing instrumentation for the commercial market since 1956 through our subsidiary,Vital
Scientific, which we acquired in 1984. To produce and commercially ship reagent products, our California facility is
licensed and inspected by the State of California, and has approval from the FDA. Our two U.S. facilities and
European operations have all received ISO 9001 and EN13485 certification and are FDA reg1stered and comply
thh European IVD regulations.

GENAISSANCE
Our Strategy

Our market approach and commercialization program consists of: (i) leveraging our extensive technical know-how.
and expertise to establish ourselves as the premier global provider of molecular and pharmacogenomics services; (ii)
developing, validating and commercializing genetic tests to improve the use of therapeutics; and (iil) acquiring
additional assets and intellectual property that complement or extend our capabilities as a service provider or in the
development of genetic tests to guide drug therapy.

Pharmacogenomics and Molecular Services

The constituents for our services business, with facilities in the U.S. and Europe is compnsed of offerings to
pharmaceutical, biotech, diagnostic, academic, government and agricultural companies. Revenue is generated from
these companies by providing comprehensive DNA and RNA services as outlined below:

. isolating and banking DNA and RNA samples; .-
sequencing DNA samples and providing related molecular services (see below);

)

® measuring the genetic variation present in DNA samples;

¢ development and provision of home-brew assays to assist data generation and analysis during
" clinical trials; and

e gene expression profiling and analysis.

Developing and Commercializing Genetic Tests ‘

The constituents for our genetic tests are located primarily in the U.S., Canada and Europe and are comprised of
providers, patients and payers. Revenue is generated from these constituents through the provision of genetic marker
and test development. We contribute to the development of genetic biomarkers for genetic tests that can be offered
directly to' payers and providers for use in clinical decision-making. These tests may be a single nucleotide
polymorphism (“SNP”) or haplotypes of a gene or multiple genes and may be developed in conjunction with a
pharmaceutical product or be a stand-alone product. Intellectual property for such a test may be developed internally
as is the case with clozapine-induced agranulocytosis or may be in-licensed as with the FAMILION Test. These
tests, performed in our Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (“CLIA”)-certified laboratories or
partnered with other test providers, may be used to identify patients most likely to respond to a drug, patients who
may have an unwanted side effect, or patients who may need a certain dose of a drug. The effect of such a test could
be to more rapidly identify the appropriate drug for a given patient, based on the results of the genetic test, resulting
in the prescription of either a more effective or a safer drug. This should result in a reduction in the total cost of care
by avoiding prolonged periods of ineffective therapy and reducing adverse drug events.

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions

We continually evaluate opportunities that may provide us W1th among other things, intellectual property, new
technologies, and key personnel, capabilities that could augment our pharmacogenomics and molecular services
offerings as well as our genetic test franchise development From time to time, Wwe may pursue acquisitions which
we believe will meet these goals.
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Our Offering: Pharmacogenomics and Molecular Biology Services

Our offerings are focused on enabling pharmaceutical, biotechnology, academic, agricultural and other customers to
study associations between genetic and outcomes data. We have a robust know-how, set of services and informatics
capabilities that enable our clients to achieve their objectives in this area.

Pharmacogenomtcs Servtces

Our service offermgs enable the mtegratmn of genomlc blomarkers into the development marketmg and prescribing
of new and existing medicines to our constituents. Furthermore, we use our resources and know-how to identify
genetic variation and specific biomarkers for a wide range of clients. Separately, we use our knowledge of
biomarkers and related capabilities to discover and develop biomarkers with the intent to validate the blomarkers
and commercialize genetic tests which will directly impact the use of therapeutics.

The key components of our offerings are:
e Good Laboratory Practices (“GLP”) compliant laboratory services including DNA and tissue banking,
sequencing, genotypmg, and related molecular biology services, utilized in over 550 clinical trials;
o DNA testing laboratories licensed by the states of Connecticut and North Carolina under Clinical
Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (“CLIA”) and GLP-compliant;
e designs to permit pharmaceutical and blotechnology companies to apply genommics in a variety of ways for
‘drug development and commerc:lahzatlon as well as for our own development purposes primarily in the
area of genetic tests; = -+ - ' : .
e the HAP™ Database, Which contains hlghly informative, proprietary measures of genetic variation, or H4P
. Markers, for more than 8,000 pharmaceutically relevant genes; «

e amethod to deduce haplotypes from a patient’s genetic variation which we call H4P Builder;

e a proprietary informatics system, which we: call DecoGen, including unique algorithms for identifying
. biomarkers of drug response or biomarkers of disease risk ;

e a strong knowledge and ability to research genetxc variation and deduce value of these biomarkers in the
clinical care setting;

¢ RuleFinder, a method for high-throughput statistical ana1y31s of genotype-phenotype assoc1at10ns and

¢ clinical genetics development skilis. . .

Our serv1ces teehnology, and know- how are designed to’ improve the success rate of drugs in clinical trlals by:

|+ assessing efﬁc1ently the genom1c variation among. pat1ents in ‘a clinical trial, thereby permlttmg

pharmaceutical and _biotechnology companies to incorporate genomic variation information in the decision
making process reqmred durmg the course of a clinical trial and/or a drug development program;

¢ creating better informed, or "smarter," clinical trials through the design of protocols that result in enrichment
+ for response via the inclusion of those patients most likely to benefit from the proposed therapeutic product;

"« facilitating earlier ' go/no go" decisions on whether to proceed to the next phase of clinical trial testing, which
should result in more efficient use of clinical resources; and

. reducmg the size and, hence, the cost, of late- -stage clinical trials by enrolling panents who are most likely to
respond to a drug and/or are least likely to suffer an adverse reaction.

Our technology is also designed to help maximize the value of an approved drug by:

« identifying biomarkers that define fhe patient population with the best response and/or with less risk of an
adverse reaction;

* integrating genomic variation information into marketing strategies to sustain and enhance a market leading
posmon or to address’ problems such as poor market penetration, competmve pricing 1ssues, safety, risk of
therapeunc substitution and limited patent life;

» targeting new markets and obtaining approval for new indications; and '

= providing the means via our CLIA laboratories to develop and market a genetic test to 1dent1fy the responder
group of patients.
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We also pursue opportunities to work with third parties that have drugs in clinical development, which have
encountered problems that might be addressed biomarker development or other clinical genetics capabilities.
Customers with whom we work can obtain access to:
» a feasibility assessment for using pharmacogenomics in developing a particular compound;
* assistance in designing an informed consent, developing or modifying a protocol for incorporating the use of
pharmacogenomics and banking DNA;
* guidance in selecting genes and SNPs especially minimal SNPs, choosing proprietary H4P Markers and
determining the number of patients required for a pharmacogenomic study;
-~ design, development and validation of assays and laboratory analysis (genotyping or sequencing) of samples
with these validated assays;
« analysis of data to detect an association between a clinical response and HAP Markers;
« validation of the results under GLP-compliant conditions; and
* development of molecular tests and assays for performance in our CLIA laboratories.

In return, we seek fees for our collaborative contributions to our customers' specific drug development or marketing
projects and for pharmacogenomic support services. We currently have relationships and/or are providing
pharmacogenomic support services to a number of major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. We are in
discussions and negotiations with additional pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to enter into programs
that will utilize our technology, including pharmaceutical companies within both Europe and Japan. We have a sales
force in the U.S. and Europe to primarily sell our service offerings.

In connection with the commercialization of these services and technology, we enter into third-party agreements
from time to time in-the ordinary course of business. These third-party agreements may be with partners in the
agricultural, government, pharmaceutical, or biotechnology industries or academic facilities. For example, we
provide Scrapie Genotyping Services for the Governments of Cyprus and Greece through a third party distributor
located in each country. We may also sign agreements with Contract Research Organizations (CROs), or with
similar companies that service the clinical trial industry, to distribute our products. In June 2005 we announced a
strategic partnership with INC Research, a large, therapeutically- specialized CRO with headquarters in Raleigh,
North Carolina, focused on managing CNS, oncology and pediatric clinical trials. Under terms of the agreement, our
Genaissance subsidiary will provide pharmacogenomic clinical development services to clients of INC Research.

We also entered into an agreement with Organon, a division of Akzo Nobel, to develop improved ways of testing
responses to drugs in the treatment of psychiatric disorders. Organon will use our HAP Technology for
pharmacogenomlc research to discover genetic markers that show individual responses to drugs, with the aim to
create diagnostic tests that will guide therapy, based on the research. Similarly, Genaissance entered into
pharmacogenomic research collaboration with Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Under the terms of the agreement,
Genaissance will apply its HAP Technology with the goal of identifying genetic markers related to drug response.
Genaissance and Otsuka will be co-owners of the intellectual property that results from the collaboration and both
companies will be eligible to receive royaliies on revenues generated from diagnostic products resulting from the
collaboration.

Our technology should also be useful for improving the drug discovery process through the selection and validation
of drug targets. In addition, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies could incorporate data obtained during
clinical trials into the drug discovery process to.develop second-generation drugs. If widely adopted, these
techniques could enable the healthcare system to personalize treatment based upon an individual's unique genome.

In addition to the services described above that relate directly to biomarker development programs for our customers
or for our proprietary products, we offer a wide range of molecular services that complement those already
described. These services may relate to the manufacturing processes for biologic products, construction of libraries,
phage detection for bacterial cell banks, assays for qualitative and quantitative analysis of genetically modified
agricultural products, and many other applications in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, agricultural, and academic
arenas. .
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GLP-Compliant DNA Bankmg Service ‘ : r

We have developed an innovative program for the long-term storage of DNA that combmes purification processes
proven to produce high quality DNA, chain-of-custody documentation through a proprietary LIMS, sample security,
and retrieval efficiency. Our DNA Banking Program supports the receipt, storage, maintenance, standardization,
quality control, and redistribution of DNA  for clients requiring large scale, high quality, controlled archiving.
Genaissance has adopted an interactive project management approach to developing custom DNA archiving. This
flexibility allows us to address technical issues specific to. the systems and progcesses of each client.

In addition, we have addressed chent s needs for sample anonymrzanon and are able to recerve samples with
1dent1fy1ng mformatlon, recode samples durmg the accessioning process, and ultimately anonymize samples upon
request for future analysis. Both .process .and informatics solutions are employed to ensure that sample
anonymization is performed in compllance with regulatory standards. .

GLP-Compliant Genotype Testmg

We develop, validate, and run GLP-compliant genotype testing in support.of global clinical trials (Phase I through
Phase TV) for a wide variety of drug metabolism and drug target genes. Our GLP assays include full chain-of-
custody documentation, QA data aud1ts and comprehensive data review to ensure ‘that results are suitable for
regulatory subm1ssron GLP genotyping methods are developed and vahdated in accordance with SOPs detailing
our formal valrdatron program The reported data format is customlzable to meet a client’s 1nformatron technology

© requirements.

Custom DNA Sequencing Services
We have multiple sequencing’ technologres in our laboratories to ‘accommodate’ both high-throughput and highly
complex prOJects Depending upon the nature of a project, we will develop an optimal sequencing strategy to
generate consistent, high quahty sequence data for use in apphcauons spanmng basic research” to be submltted to the
FDA or other regulatory agendy, including: - , . '
-« FDA submission qiiality sequencing — This sequencing work is designed for presentatlon in a réport that
can be incorporated into an application to be submitted to the FDA or other regulatory agencies;
.+ Express Sequencing — This service is designed to give customers a "quick look” at high.accuracy double or
. single strand sequence data: from one or multiple clones, in which the data'ls retumed to the customer within a
very short period of time after receiving the sample; - ; :
* High throughput sequencing services — This service involves sequencmg many clones from a genomic or
an expressed sequence tag 11brary utlhzmg high- throughput automated systems; and
» Large scale genomic sequencmg Services — In this service, we construct libraries from a varlety of
genomic constructs and assemble them into full- length sequences Wthh can represent hundreds or thousands

ofgenes . , _ . o ‘ .

Ny

Genetic Stability. Testing ( “GS T ”) Servtces : - oo ) t i

GST servrces assist clients i in meetmg the regulatory guldelmes estabhshed for the’ development and mamtenance of
genetically engmeered bacteria or cell lines that’ produce b1otechnology products We' analyzé and provrde a
comprehensive report on the genetic integrity of cell banks used to produce recombinant proteins, monoclonal
antibodies, gene thérapy, and vaccine products, which is essential for creating a reliable process that produces a pure
biologic product in high yield. We-bélieve that the need for these services is increasing rapidly because there-are a
growing number of biotechnology products entering the clinical development pipeline. The FDA requires that this
work be performed according to'GLP guidelines, a key differentiating feature of our services. We believe that true
GLP guidelines are not commonly followed in research and many service laboratories.due to the rigorous demands
of documentation and_adhesion to the quality assurance regulations. Our facility in. Houston, Texas has a quality
system ifi place for studies;designated for regulatory submission. Under this system, we conduct studies under the
requirements of .GLP and cwrent Good Manufacturing Practices (“GMP”) as promulgated by the FDA. Our
compliance with these regulations is defined in our quality policy manual and our standard operating procedures.
Our quality assurance department reviews all project documentation and final reports to insure that they are
compliant with applicable GLP/GMP regulations. Our GST services include:




» DNA sequencing — We offer a number of ‘alternative strategies to circumvent issues associated with having
insufficient DNA and prov1de our clients with complete sequence data.

» Copy number — A service we provide that monitors the number of copies of a-gene contained within a cell.
Demonstrating that cells ‘experience predictable changes in their copy number during production scale-up
assures regulatory authorities that the process is well controlled.

s Insertion number — A service that is similar to copy number but 1t is an additional analysis that-i 1s utilized to
measure the stability of a cell bank.

s Plasmid loss or rearrangement — A plasmid is an art1ﬁ01a1 stretch of DNA used to insert specified genes into
a cell. For plasmid-based gene expression systems, the loss or rearrangement of the plasmid can be a major
practical problem in high yielding strains, affecting the growth of cells, We have assays to detect the
percentage of cells that are missing or have undergone a loss or rearrangement of their plasmid. ‘

*+ Phage detection — Phages afe ‘bacterial viruses, which can kill or alter the bacterium's growth cycle or
expression levels. Our phage detection service is des1gned to detect contammanon of a bacterial cell bank. -

Genetlcally Modtf ed Organism (“GM ) ) Testing Services

We provide services for identifying and characterizing genetlcally modlﬁed crops and. plants We have developed

several effective services for genetic testing of food and agricultural products. We offer a broad range of molecular

genetic-based assays for qualitative and quantitative analysis of genetically modified plants such as corn, soy and

other grain products. Agricultural companies need GMO testing of their ingredients to meet labeling requirements

and to ensure the presence or absence of genencally enhanced characteristics. The GMO services that we offer

include: :

* Polymerase chain reaction ( PCR ) analyszs — PCR can be used to determme the presence of foreign (non-
native) genes. :

» Southern blot analysis-— This analy51s is used to determme the - gene copy number and map the insertion
location..

» Sequence verification of the expression cass sen‘e — This is used to ensure the accuracy of the DNA quality.

Gene Expression and Deletion Services

The Human Genome initiative continues to provide gene sequence information. However, there is little information
regarding the function of the genes on their hiochemical pathways. We continue to introduce services that assist
clients in understanding the biological role of a gene by determining if, when, and at what level a gene is expressed
in different samples of interest. These services can be important for identifying novel genes, confirming the validity
of a gene as a drug target, and monitoring a target gene through the product development process. We currently offer
the quantitative polymerase chain reaction (“QPCR”) service, which provides highly accurate detection of a gene
sequence. This method is a powerful tool for analyzing the dlStrlbuthI’l and expression. of a target DNA sequence or
a RNA molecule in a high-throughput format. :

Custom Core Molecular Biology Services

Many of the custom services that we perform require the application of molecular biology techniques either
upstream or downstream from the main service provided. As a result, we have the ability to perform a number of
molecular biology techniques, which can be offered as a complement to another service, or as a stand-alone service.
Some of the more frequently requested services that we offer are described. below.

* Nucleic acid extraction services — All of our services involve the manipulation of nucleic acids, the starting
material for molecular biology research and development. We offer a variety of extraction procedures to
analyze DNA and/or RNA from blood, tissue, and other fluids, as well as from bacterial, plant and cell culture
samples,

* Subcloning — A procedure used to transfer a DNA region of interest into a vector that is more suitable for
. procedures such as DNA sequencing and gene expression. We can provide a strategy for subcloning a variety
of different sequence fragments, 1nclud1ng PCR products, into standard vector systems.
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» Library screening — During the gene discovery process, customers may find only a portion of a gene of
interest. We can use such a gene fragment to screen a library of clones and 1solate the full-length cDNA of
interest.

* Polymerase chain reaction — PCR can be used to amplify-a spec1ﬁc sequence of interest from plasmid, viral,
or genomic DNA. We also have the expertise to provide reverse transcription PCR for amplification of an
RNA product.

* DNA preparation — Many of our customers need large amounts of DNA for sequencmg or probe generation. -
We have the ablhty to 1solate DNAona large scale bas1s :

|

Our Offering: Genetic Tests

The Company intends to develop, validate and commercialize the intellectual property that we license from others or
develop internally to deliver genetic tests. Although we expect to in-license intellectual property leading to
pharmacogenomic tests, and have opportunities to develop tests in collaboration with our partners as outlined
previously we currently have five programs from which we have or may have intellectual property that will lead to
genetic tests that our company can commercialize. ‘

® The FAMILION Test - a marketed genetlc test for' cardiac ion channel mutations (cardiac
channelopathies). Cardiac channelopathies, including familial Long QT (“LQT”) and Brugada Syndromes,
are conditions that affect the electrical system of the:heart. These conditions are caused by genetic
mutations that result in structural abnormalities in the potassium and sodium- channels of the heart and
predispose affected individuals to an abnormal heart rhythm (arrhythmia). Familial LQT and Brugada
Syndromes are commonly seen in apparently healthy, active adolescent patients. If left undiagnosed and
untreated, these conditions can be fatal. Treatment options include life-style modification, the prescription
or avoidance of specific classes -of drugs and the insertion of an implantable cardioverter/defibrillator. In
May 2004, we launched the FAMILION Test, our genetic test for cardiac ion channel mutations, through
our CLIA licensed laboratory in New Haven, Connecticut, to assist physicians in choosing the most
appropriate course of treatment for each patient. We have intellectual property rights relating to the five
genes that have been identified as explaining the majority of two cardiac channelopathies, familial LQT
and Brugada Syndromes, with each of the genes having multiple causative mutations. Acquired LQT
Syndrome can also result from the administration of a medication or can occur in patients with other
disorders, such as congestive heart failure. More than 50 approved prescription drugs, in various
therapeutic classes, are known to prolong the QT-interval. Drug-induced LQT has led to the withdrawal
from the market of such well-known drugs as the heartburn agent Propulsid® and the antihistamine
Seldane®. In December 2004, we entered into a license agreement with Vanderbilt University, which
grants us exclusive commercial rights to a patent that claims screening patients for susceptibility to drug-
induced cardiac arrhythmias by testing for the presence of a common polymorphism in KCNE1, an
important cardiac ion-channel gene. We have recently begun marketing to pharmaceut1cal companies the
ability to include LQT genetics in drug developmem

In support of our efforts to develop and launch tests with respect to cardiac channelopathies, including
familial LQT and Brugada Syndromes, we have royalty-bearing intellectual property and material transfer
agreements with the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research and the University of
Rochester under which we obtained access to clinical expertise, clinical research samples and associated
- data, from which identities have been removed, and intellectual property related to disease-associated
mutations. ‘ :

o Thiopurine S-methyltransferase (TPMT) genetic test - The TPMT test provides a genetic assessment of a
patient's ability to metabolize the thiopurine class of drugs, which are commonly used in a wide range of
therapeutic areas, including such fields as oncology, rheumatology, organ transplantation and vasculitis
therapy. The activity of the TPMT enzyme varies significantly among individuals who have different




-haplotypes of the TPMT gene. Pursuant to license agreements. that we acquired from DNA Sciences in
May 2003, we receive royalties based on net sales of the home-brew test.

o  CARING Study (Clozapine and Agranulocytosis Relationships Investigated by Genetics (HAP Markers) - In
December 2004, we reported the discovery of genetic markers that we believe predict who is at risk of
developing clozapine-induced agranulocytosis, a life-threatening decrease of white blood cells that requires
frequent blood testing of patients and in 2005 embarked on a study to validate these markers in an
independently collected cohort. We believe that the findings may apply to other drugs that also affect white
blood cell counts. A test for clozapine-induced agranulocytosis might be used as a risk assessment tool by
physicians for patients contemplating beginning treatment with clozapine or for patients whose white blood
cell counts are falling. Clozapine, which is no longer under patent protection, is a highly effective
.therapeutic for treating certain patients with schizophrenia. During the first six months of treatment with
clozapine, a patient must under'go‘ weekly blood monitoring, a requirement that results in poor patient
compliance. We believe that clozapine's third-line therapy status and the requirement for repeated blood
testing are the primary reasons that the market share for all clozapine products is only approximately $135
million in the United States. Sales of antipsychotic drugs in the United States reached an estimated
$9 billion in 2004 with an annual growth rate of 12% (Source: IMS Health, IMS National Sales
Perspectives™, February 2005).

o Vilazodone - In September 2004, through our subsidiary, Genaissance, we acquired an exclusive worldwide
license from Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany, to develop and commercialize a small molecule
compound, vilazodone, which is a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (“SSRI”) and a 5HT!A partial
agonist. Vilazodone has been assessed in 15 Phase I and five Phase II trials involving a total of 369 healthy
subjects and 1,163 depressed patients. It has been found to have an acceptable safety profile for this stage
of development. In previous trials with positive controls, vilazodone failed to demonstrate significant
efficacy against placebo but demonstrated efficacy comparable to that of the positive controls, approved
antidepressants in wide use. After receiving an indication from the FDA that our proposed study was
appropriately designed as a pivotal Phase III study, we initiated enrollment in February 2006 for a Phase I1I
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of vilazodone that includes pharmacogenomic
characterization of patients, with anticipated enrollment of approximately 400 patients diagnosed with
Major Depressive Disorder at eight to ten centers in the United States. We will apply our HAP Technology
and clinical genetics experience and leverage the existing knowledge of the genetics of depression and
response to antidepressants, especially to SSRIs, to find genetic markers that can be used to identify a
population of patients who will respond to vilazodone. The genetic analysis will be performed in-house by
Clinical Data’s GLP- and CLIA-approved facilities. We anticipate having initial results from this study

.. available in mid-calendar 2007. At least one long-term safety study and one additional pivotal study will be
required prior to filing a New Drug Application (NDA) which could be accomplished by the first half of
calendar 2009. We have also presented the vilazodone biomarker development plan to the FDA’s IPRG.

Our Offering: HAP Technology

While geneticists have historically studied genetic variation by analyzing inheritance within an extended family, the
power of the genome can now be used to study genetic variation between populations, such as patients who respond
well to a therapeutic compared to those who do not. Studying DNA measures the directly inherited differences
among individuals; it is also beneficial to study the molecular products of interactions between DNA and the
environment, justifying the study of gene expression, proteomics, and metabolomics. Genaissance has traditionally
focused on SNPs and haplotypes in the development of its HAP Technology.

In October 2002, an international consortium composed of non-profit biomedical research groups and private
companies initiated an effort to create the HapMap, a genome-wide haplotype map derived from diverse ethnic
populations and aimed at identifying genes-related to health, disease, and pharmacogenomics. Compared to the
HapMap, Genaissance’s H4P Database, containing genomic variation for more than 8,000 genes, is highly enriched
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for known varidnts within genes, including those which result in amino acid changes in the resultant protein. Our
HAP Database remains a superior, validated source of known genetic variation for direct application in
pharmaceutical and other research. We are able to incorporate genetic variation from publrc databases such as the
HapMap into our HAP Database.

To ident_ify biomarkers of drug response, data derived from clinical trials must be analyzed for correlations between
the genetic variation and the chosen outcome, whether it is an efficacy or a safety endpoint. Our DecoGen
Informatics System contains a proprietary collection of haplotype-building algorithms and other tools to correlate
these HAP Markers with drug response. For high throughput statistical analyses, RuleFinder™ allows us to identify
associations between clinical endpoints and genetic variation. We have discovered and validated commercially
useful 'associations between HAP Markers and drug response in populations of the size seen in clinical trials in a
wide variety of therapeutic areas. These analyses are performed for our collaborations and our own proprietary
programs such as CARING (our study of genetic markers for clozapine-induced agranulocytosis) and STRENGTH
(our studies of genetrc markers for response to statins, a class of drugs used to treat hypercholesterolemia).

ICORIA

Our Strategy

Icoria is a biotechnology company that uses its ability to analyze biological function at the level of gene expression
and biochemical pathways to discover and validate novel biomarkers for the research community. The business
model provides opportunities to work with pharmaceutical, brotechnology, government, and academic laboratories
on a fee for service or collaboratrve basis.

Over the past several years, the company has gradually transformed itself from a functional genomics company
focused exclusrvely on agricultural biotechnology to a company positioned to provide research services and support
to a broad spectrum of companies engaged in life sciences research, including drug development. This
transformation is built upon the utilization of commercially-available and proprietary technologies and. expertise
developed over the past four years. We continue to work in collaboration with large agricultural companies under
existing contracts to deliver, top quality services and products. .

Biomarkers are biological signals, such as genes, proteins or biochemicals, which can be objectively measured and
evaluated as indicators of normal biologic processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacologic responses to a
therapeutic intervention. Our suite of technologies can facilitate the discovery of novel biomarkers that can be
integrated into the drug discovery and development process to reduce the cost, risk and time of product development
by improving the measurement of drug response and patient susceptibility, and allowing the right drug to be given to
the right patient for the right disease. We believe that our approach to biomarker discovery, which combines strong
computational, analytical and data mining skills with the ability to generate large, multi-dimensional data sets on
commercially available and proprietary platforms, can provide compelling and cost-effective solutions. for our
clients and partners.

Icoria continuously evolved its business focué'to target emerging high value markets and the most ‘favorable
opportunities for our efforts. This is ev1denced by the present emphasis on broader market coverage of varrous
sectors in the life'science community

Healthcare Markets

The pharmaceutical industry continues to face increasing challenges and complexities in bringing new drugs to
market. Despite the ongoing “—omics” revolution and the hope it has generated for discovering new ways of
preventing, treating and curing disease; the path to successful drug development remains uncertain, with cost and
risk both increasing, rather than decreasing in the post-genomics era. In discovery, pharmaceutical companies must
deal with increasingly large and complex data streams. In clinical development and post-marketing, patient safety
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rerains a major concern, and drugs still fail or are withdrawn from market for reasons of toxicity or limited efficacy
that were not seen or anticipated in earlier trials. The current cost of bringing a new therapeutic to market has been
estimated to be as high as $800 million to $1.7 billion (Source: Tuft Center for Study of Drug Development, May
2003). A new medicine entering Phase I clinical trials is estimated to have only an 8% chance of gaining regulatory
approval and reaching the market. As a result, there is concern that larger companies might seek less risky, higher
return projects, leaving preclinical and.clinical breakthrough innovation to smaller companies. In the last two years,
the National Institutes of Health and the FDA both issued position papers that recommended a series of research
initiatives designed to add efficiencies to the drug research and development process. Both these agencies have
embraced biomarkers and better predictive tools as important components of the toolkit needed to improve the
quantity and quality of new therapeutics coming through the pharmaceutical pipeline to the market.

Our Offerings

Icoria’s technology foundation includes gene expression profiling and biochemical profiling coupled with a
powerful analysis infrastructure. We use these technologies to discover biomarkers as well as.to discover
inaccessible targets- for small molecule discovery, and to prov1de services to our partners and clients. Qur
technology foundation includes: :

o  Gene Expression Profiling - Gene expression profiling prov1des a snapshot of the genes expressed in an
_organism, tissue or cell at a specific time. By comparing the expression of genes in a normal organism to a
mutant organism, for example, we can ascertain information about the. function of those genes with
modified expression patterns, as well as gain insight into the effect of such genes. By determining how a
modified gene, exposed to a chemical agent, or other biological perturbations affect the expression patterns
of large complement of genes, we gain-insight into biochemical and bxologlcal pathways that may be
relevant to the development of therapeutics and dnagnostlcs ‘ \

. Metabolomics - Biochemical proﬁling provides a way of -measuring the net change in the abundance of
small molecules, and therefore addresses systemic changes at the biochemical level. Metabolomics
provides a functional readout of biochemical changes which, when combined with gene expression results,
enable us to construct a more comprehensive picture of the mechanisms that are altered within biological
systems. We utilize proprietary methods to separate the thousands of components present in a biological
sample according to both their physicochemical characteristics and their. mass. The complex data from
these analyses is deconvoluted using proprietary methods developed by Icoria.

e Quantitative Tissue Analysis - We use our proprietary quantitative tissue analysis software for the precise
identification and quantification of changes in tissue structure. This process involves digitally imaging
. pathology slides to capture the entire. tissue image in a computer file. We then apply our software to
analyze the tissue image in terms of color, shape and textures, so that we can locate and quantify all of the

. important physical components of the tissue in relative space. ‘ :

e Pathway Informatic - Despite the wealth of genomics and other “—omic” data now available (e.g. proteomic
and metabolomic), life science researchers are challenged to translate that information into clear measures
of safety and efficacy of lead compounds. We believe the key lies in integrating these various data types in
such-a way that scientists can simultaneously see all the data, identify relationships between them and draw
meaningful conclusions. We believe we are one of the first companies developing such data integration and
data coherence tools. Additionally, we have developed an extensive informatics system to intelligently
store, retrieve, analyze and mine the data we collect.

Icoria’s pathway informatics strengths are in three key areas. First, Icoria possesses a broad knowledge of
human/mammalian metabolites, enzyme-catalyzed reactions, and pathways called the Metabolome Dictionary which
we believe is of greater utility than what is available as a commercial product or in the public domain. Second,
Icoria utilizes novel algorithms to discover networks from metabolomic data, transcriptional data and reference




knowledge. Third, Icoria has developed the ability to integrate metabolomics, transcriptional and phenotypic data
(e:g. tissue features, histopathology, and clinical endpoints) with biological pathways. We have neither designed nor
organized our technologies for use as a commercial software package. Instead they are utilized in our proprletary
internal discovery and partnered research efforts. = !

Altogether, these technologies make up our proprietary systems biology discovery approach. Our unique ability to
correlate gene expression with metabolomics data enables us to identify targets that would not otherwise be found
using’a single platform. It is this proprietary approach that currently enables us to provide rich biological
information to our chents and partners.

We ant1c1pate several areas in which our research and development capabilities impact the critical path of drug
dlscovery and development

Computational Biology
The advent of high-throughput biology has created demand for computational 'tools and expertise that enable
discovery in living systems. Scope forecasts the bioinformatics market to become more dominant in the future and
increase to around $1.82 billion by 2007. The pharmaceutical market has been a dominant consumer. The market for
computational biology software and expertise is large but fragmented, with many tools available.to address customer
or problem-specific needs. We believe Icoria has a strong position in the following areas of computational biology:
- & processing and analyzing metabolomic data generated using mass spectrometry;
. processing and analyzing transcript profiling data generated using microarrays;
. processing and analyzing tissue feature data using computer vision histomorphometry;
mining high-dimensional data sets for the discovery of biomarkers and drug targets;
constructing networks of biological regulation and biochemical reaction networks and inferring pathway
based mechanisms for disease, drug action and patient response; and
e transforming, mérging, mining and performing concurrent analysis:of multiple data streams mcludmg, for
‘example, metabolomic, ‘quantitative tissue feature and gene expression data, coupled with clinical end-
points and pathway analysis for biomarker, target and drug discovery.

Biomarker Discovery : :
The past several years have seen rapid growth in the commiercial application of b1otechnology to biomarker
discovery. The primary driver for biomarker research is the conviction that using biomarkers will favorably impact
the economics of drug research and development by improving productivity. Market research has projected that
within five years, pharmaceutical companies will be able to reduce their R&D expenditures by nearly 25% through
the aggressive use of biomarkers at different stages of the drug development pipeline. The market for biomarker
related products and services is projected to grow from total revenues of $120 million in 2003 to just under $3
billion in 2008. In the biomarker services area, metabolomics is considered the most rapidly growing segment, with
a compound average annual growth rate of 62%. The analysis of gene expression.(transcript profiling) is currently
the single largest segment within the biomarker products and services market, commanding a 43% share in 2003
with a projected compound average annual growth rate -of 10%. We believe Icona has a strong position in the
following areas of biomarker discovery:
e  Transcript profiling - Icoria has adopted a mult1-platform approach to the analysis of transcrlpt proﬁles
using Agilent, Affymetrix and Arcturus systems to generate high quality gene expression data.
e . Metabolomics - Icoria has been a pioneer in the development of mass spectrometry methods for the
detection and analysis of the body’s endogenous biochemicals, and the mining of these data to construct
diagnostic panels of classifiers of disease and drug action.

Microarray Services ‘ o .
Paradigm Array Labs™, which provides GLP-compliant RNA preparation, transcript profiling and data analysis and
microarray services using Affymetrix Genechip® Gene Expression Analysis Arrays, Agilent Oligo Microarrays and
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proprietary' MirChip™ technology Icoria developed with Rosetta Genomics, -as well as Laser Capture
Microdissection and the .ability to process paraffin-embedded tissues. Paradigm Array Labs is primarily a service
organlzatlon providing array processmg on a fee- for -service ba51s .

Partnersths _ e

Icoria’s earlier commercial activities included the signing of two major partnerships, one with Bayer CropScience
and one with Monsanto Company. These revenue-generating partnerships were built on a foundation of close
scientific collaboration, with the potential for downstream royalties to Icoria. This partnership model has enabled us
to “learn as we grow.” While providing the highest quality biological information to our partners and clients, we’ve
been able to increase our own expertise and proprietary knowledge base as well as increase Icoria’s revenue
foundation. We believe there is potential for major partnerships with healthcare companies. By contrast, we believe
that large agricultural contracts. 51m11ar to the Bayer and Monsanto agreements have become rare. o

Healthcare - Many industry. analysts foresee a future in which the successful development and use of new
therapeutlcs will be increasingly dependent on the identification of biomarkers that can stage disease, monitor
drug action and select the right patients for treatment. Through our systems biology approach, we hope to
identify novel biomarkers that reduce the cost, risk and time it takes for our partners to develop new
therapeutics. These biomarkers may also provide causal evidence of pharmacologic activity to and in the drug
development and approval process. We are using this approach to help our partners and clients discover novel
drug targets that may otherwise be hidden in “biological noise” as well as to predict toxicity of drug
candidates that may otherwise fail due to unanticipated or poorly characterized safety concerns. Icoria is
continuing to work on an $11.7 million contract with the National Institute of Standards and Technology
(“NIST”) Advanced Technology Program (“ATP”) and has two Small Business Innovation Research
contracts from the National Institutes of Health.

' Aggiculture - The Worldwide’; chronic shortage of food and the drive to improve human health through food
continue to prompt the need for-innovative products. We have built a history of proven performance with
market leaders like Monsanto Company, Bayer CropScience, DuPont and Pioneer Hi-Bred International and
developed market recognition for our deep understanding of agricultural systems. We will complete our
remaining projects with agricultural leaders to provide new technology and cost-effective solutions designed
to enable them to bring new products to market, but we will not enter into néw collaborative contracts in'the
agriculture sector. New work with these and other clients may occur through the agricultural work being
conducted at Genaissance although the content of those projects may be different than those historically
provided by Icoria. We foresee that the agncultural sector w111 contlnue to utilize our fee for services
business as detalled below.

Our Partnerships glnd Collaborations

Icoria has entered into a number of collaborative research agreements to further the growth of its technology
platforms and, potentially, the creation of proprietary products. These include:

e a research collaboration with the University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute to 1dent1fy biomarkers to
improve the diagnosis of non-small cell carcinoma;

e  aresearch collaboration with the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (“UNC-CH”} and the NIEHS
to study the mechanism of acetaminophen toxicity in the liver. The research is focused on identifying better
diagnostics for assessing liver damage and individual patient response to therapeutic treatment;

¢ aresearch collaboration with the Bowles Center for Alcohol Studies (UNC-CH) to identify markers for
alcohol-induced liver and brain damage and dependence, using Icoria’s systems biology platform; and

e 2 master research agreement with Duke University Medical Center in the area of metabolomics and
biomarker discovery. ‘
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Advanced Technology Program - - " '

In June 2002, we were awarded a five-year, $11 7 million grant from NIST to develop innovative tools for drug
target discovery through the analysis of complex coherent data sets, with LION biosciences, Inc. initially, in 2004
with Agilent Technologies, and most recently with IO Informatics, Inc. as a joint venture partner. This grant, the
largest bioinformatics grant ever awarded by NIST’s ATP history at that time, supports the development of methods
and tools for the creation, evaluation and analysis of coherent data sets.

Systems biology treats gene expression, protein expression, and biochemical processes as meéasurable components
that can be engineered to accomphsh specific therapeutic tasks. Assessing how these components ‘influence each
other to determine the response of a system, however, requires software that can discern and manage disparate data
types. The ATP partnership leverages IO Informatics’ revolutionary intelligent multidimensional obje¢t (“IMO”), a
mobile, extensible database record that transforms specific pieces or even parts of data into objects that scientists
can describe, utilize, share, and relate to across application and database boundaries. The IMO will be applied to
data accumulated through our proprietary Gene to Cell System™ approach to pharmaceutical and life science
discovery. This suite of technologies is intended to increase the number and success rate of vahdated targets for
product development by the pharmaceutical and other life- sc1ences 1ndustr1es

We have already successfully -completed three techmcal milestones in this ATP grant. These consisted of the
development, validation and analysis of two increasingly complex coherent data sets, and the ‘production of
prototype data coherence tools. -The data sets were ‘based’ on our investigation of liver injury in rats mduced by
acetammophen a‘common pain rehever We are.now in the final phase of this grant.

National Institute of Envtronmental Health Sczences a

In September 2002, Icoria was awarded a five-year contract. from the NIEHS for $23.8 rmlllon to provide
microarray processing services and to participate in toxicology research with NIEHS and five university-based labs
- (Cooperative Research Members, or “CRM?”s). Collectively, this is referred to as the Toxicogenomics Research
Consortium (“TRC”). In April 2003, the NIEHS exercised an option in its existing contract with Icoria, providing
for up to an additional $8.4 million for toxicogenomics studies specifically earmarked for Icoria to perform research
for the National Toxicology, Program (“NTP”). Data generated from this toxicogenomics research will be included
in the NTP’s program to better understand the effects of short and long-term exposures to chemicals. The data will
become part of the Chemical Effects.in B1010g1ca1 Systems (“CEBS”) database, a publicly accessible relational
database that will contain information on the biological effects of chemicals and other agents and their mechanism
of action.

As a Cost Reimbursement Plus Fee Contract, our abrhty 1o recogmze revenues from the NIEHS contract has been
wholly dependent upon the pace of work provided to us by the NIEHS. Our past revenue performance was reflective
of a brisk pace of research by the NIEHS and the Toxicogenomics Research Consortium (TRC). During the third
quarter of fiscal year 2006 we experienced a slowdown in the pace of work, in part due to leadership changes at the
NIEHS. We anticipate that this slowdown will persist until research pnormes within the NIEHS are fully
implemented. We further anticipate that the full value of this contract will be recognized as revenue.

Pioneer Hi-Bred "~ -

In December 2003, we signed a three-year $9 mrlhon contract Wlth Pioneer Hi-Bred Intematxonal Inc. (“Pioneer”),
a subsidiary of E. I. DuPont de Nemours and Company, to identify plant genes that 1nﬂuence important crop traits
for use in Pioneer’s crop variety development program. We have realized $7.8 million in revenue from the contract
as of March 31, 2006. For this collaboration, Icoria will use its high throughput GeneFunction Factorjy platform
(licensed back to Icoria under the asset sale agreement with Monsanto) to analyze genes in Arabidopsis thaliana, a
model organism, and identify those genes that will enable Pioneer to accelerate the product breakthroughs and
improvements it brings to its customers worldwide. We intend to satisfy the contract, reahze 1ts full value and
allocate revenues generated towards our new goals.
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COMPETITION - o
IVD Testing’

In the sale of clinical laboratory technology, we are subject to intense competition in the worldwide marketplace.
Blood analysis is a well-established field in which there are a number of competitors, which have substantially
greater financial resources and larger, more established marketing, sales and service organizations. We believe that
we compete favorably on, our capabilities, the quality of our products, and our ability to manufacture and produce
our products in a timely fashion.

In offering products and services to smaller laboratories, we compete with numerous other companies. These include
much larger and well-financed companies such as Bayer, Roche Diagnostics, Alfa Wasserman and with companies
such as Polestar Labs, Polymedco, and many other smaller American and European companies who distribute in this
field.

With respect to domestic sales to the POL market, our competition includes hospitals and independent laboratories
since most medical testing is performed in these settings. Clinical laboratories have traditionally been effective at
processing large numbers of tests using highly trained technicians and complex equipment. Our products compete
with clinical laboratories with respect to range of tests offered, the immediacy of results and cost effectiveness.

In developing instruments for private-label sales by third parties, and in marketing directly to distributors, we
compete with numerous other companies. These include much larger and well-financed Companies such as Bayer,
Roche Diagnostics, and Thermo Electron who are direct marketers in this field, and with companies such as
Integrated Technologies Ltd., Medical Innovations, Inc. and many other smaller European and American companies,
which are OEM marketers in this field. We believe that we compete favorably on our capabilities, the quality of our
products, and our ability to manufacture and produce our products in a timely fashion.

Genaissance

There is significant competition among entities attempting to use ‘genomic variation ‘data and informatics tools to
develop and market new and existing medicines as well as provide pharmacogenomics and molecular services. We
expect the intensity of the competition to increase. We face; and will continue to face, competition from numerous
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic companies, both in the U.S. and abroad. Entities such as Perlegen
Sciences, deCODE genetics, and the International HapMap Project have developed or plan to develop databases
containing gene sequence, genomic variation or other genomic information and are marketing or plan to market their
data to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies or plan to make their databases freely available. In addition,
numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, such as GlaxoSmithKline plc, either alone or in
collaboration with our competitors, are developing genomic research programs that involve the use of information
that can be found in these databases. Furthermore, companies, such as deCODE genetics, Inc., have technologies for
using genetic variation in diagnostics and in the drug development process and have collaborations with companies
employing these technologies. In order to compete successfully against existing and future entities, we must
demonstrate the value of our HAP Technology and that our informatics technologies and capabilities are superior to
those of our competitors. Some of our competitors have greater resources and informatics development capabilities
than do we. Therefore, our competltors may succeed in identifying an assoc1at10n between a phenotype and gene
variation and applying for patent protection more rapidly than we do.

We also face competition in our GLP compliant and/or research sequencing, genotyping and associated
pharmacogenomics and molecular services from individual researchers at laboratories within institutions such as the
National Institutes of Health, who are capable of performing the work themselves, to core laboratories inside
companies such as Amgen Inc., GlaxoSmithKline and Pfizer, Inc. Core laboratories can exist either in an academic
or government setting or within a medium to large company, which can provide services at a much-reduced rate due
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to subsidizing of overhead expenses. We also face competition from several companies and new entrants in the
genomics services market attempting to copy our footprint by offering DNA sequencing, genotyping and/or related
molecular biology services. Some of these companies include SeqWright, Agencourt, GeneSeek, GeneService,
Sequenom, core laboratories, pharmaceutical companies and others.

Additional companies we compete with in the genetic testing arena include full service laboratories (Quest,
LabCorp), reference labs (such as Spec1alty, Kimball and Athena) and ivD Manufacturers (Roche ThrrdWave and
others). ,

We expect that our ability to compete will be based on a number of factors, 1nc1ud1ng
e our ability to attract and retain customers;
o our ability to commercialize our 1ntellectual property and the 1ntellectual property we in-license including
vilazodone;
e our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel,
"o the ability of our customers to develop and commerc1ahze genetlc testlng products based upon our HAP
‘ Technology, ‘
‘e our ability to secure and protect our HAP Technology for commercralrzanon programs and internal use
¢ our ability to lower our - direct cost for the provision of pharmacogenomrcs and molecular servrces and brrng
new higher margin products to market
* our ability to protect against unauthorized use of our H4P Technology under various intellectual property
laws and contractual obhgatrons ) . ‘
our abrhty to grow our business in agrlcultural and other genotypmg, - o N

'

.
e the wide breadth of custom molecular and pharmacogenomics services we offer through our four fac1ht1es
¢ our ability to expand into new territories; and : . e S
s our ability to invest in new technologles and information technology and services.
Icoria

We faced intense competition in the different market segments we were pursuing and we continue to face such
competrtton to the extent we are pursuing efforts in the growing healthcare industry. Our potentlal compeutors
include specialized brotechnology companies, internal research and development efforts of pharmaceutical
companies, diagnostic companies, academic and private research rnstrtutrons and government agencies. Many of our
competitors have significantly larger financial, technrcal and personnel resources than we do, which may allow them
to have a competitive advantage.

A number of ¢ our competitors are developrng technologres and products to 1mprove research and development
productivity. If these competitors partner or commercialize their technologies or products before we do, they could
render our technologres and products obsolete or noncompetmve In addition, many of our. competitors have
significantly greater experience than we do in their respectwe fields. We expect that competition will increase as
technical advances in genomics, metabolomics and data mtegratron/coherence are made and become more wrdely
known. :

In biomarker and drug target discovery, our competitors include SurroMed, Inc., Metabolon, Inc. and BG Medicine,
Inc., among others. In quantitative tissue analysis, our competitors include LlfeSpan Biosciences. In microarray
services, our competitors include Gene Logic, Inc., Expression Analysis, Ambion, In¢., among others. While we will
not expand our agriculture business beyond our existing contracts, our current compet1tors 1nclude Exelixis, Inc.,
Ceres, Inc., Mendel B1otechnology, Inc., and Crop Desrgn
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OTHER BUSINESS MATTERS

Government Regulation

1VD Testing

Where necessary, we obtain government approval to market our products and may have to obtain prior approval
from certain European regulatory bodies or the FDA to market products that we develop. In the U.S., certain of our
products are classified as medical devices under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act. As such, when these
products are offered for sale in the United States, these products are subject to regulation by the FDA. In Europe, we
are subject to EN13485 and CE (Conformrte Européne) marking and IVD registration requirements. The cost of
obtaining approvals for new products may be high and the process lengthy, w1th no assurance that new product
approvals will be obtained.

To date, neither the FDA nor the European medical regulatory bodies have developed industry-wide performance
standards with respect to the safety and effectiveness of the products presently marketed by us. Although we intend
to use our best efforts to comply with domestic and intetnational standards, when and if developed, there can be no
assurance that all of our products will be compliant. Any failure to receive approvals for our future products or
noncompliance with any international performance standards promulgated in the future could have a material
adverse effect on us and our results of operations. Furthermore, any material change in the ex1stmg rules and
regulations or any new regulations developed might adversely affect us and our results of operations.

Genaissance and Icoria

Regulation by governmental entities in the United States and other countries will be a significant factor in the
development, manufacturing and marketing of any product that our customers or we develop. Various federal and, in
some cases, state statutes and tegulations govern or influence the manufacturing, safety, labeling, storage, record
keeping, performance and marketing of human therapeutic and diagnostic products or services. The extent to which
these regulations may apply to our customers or to us will vary depending on the nature of the product or service.

In March 2005, the FDA issued guidance that encourages pharmaceuttcal and blotechnology compames to use
pharmacogenomics during the drug development process and clarifies how the data should be submitted to FDA and
how FDA will evaluate it. Virtually all of the pharmaceutical products being developed by our customers will
require regulatory approval by governmental agencies prior to commercialization. In particular, the FDA and similar
health authorities in foreign countries will impose on these products an extensive regulatory review process before
they can be marketed. This regulatory process typically involves, among other requirements, preclinical studies,
clinical trials and often post-marketing surveillance of each compound. This process can. take many years and
requires the expenditure of substantial resources. Delays in obtaining marketing clearance could delay the
commercialization of any therapeutic or diagnostic products developed by our customers, impose costly procedures
on our custorers' activities, diminish any competitive advantages that our customers may attain and lessen our
potential royalties. Any products our customers develop may. not receive regulatory approval in a timely fashion or
at all

The FDA régulates human therapeutic and diagnostic products in three broad categories: drugs, biologics and
medical devices. Products developed using our technologies could potentially fall into any of these three categorles
or into a category combining two or more of these product types.

The FDA generally requires the following steps for pre- market approval of a new drug or brologlc product
» preclinical laboratory and animal tests;
+ submission to the FDA of an investigational new drug application, which must become effective before
clinical trials may begin; ’
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» adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product for its
intended indication;

+ submission to the FDA of a new drug application (“NDA”) if the FDA classifies the product as a new drug, or
a biologic license application (“BLA”) if the FDA classifies the product as a biologic; and

* FDA review of the NDA or BLA in order to determine, among other things, whether the product is safe and
effectrve for its intended uses. ,

The FDA classifies medical devrces which include dragnostlc products as class I, class IT or class III dependrng on
the nature of the medical device and the existence in the market of any similar devices. Class I medical devices are
subject to general controls, including labeling, pre-market notlﬁcanon and good manufacturmg practice
requrrements Class II medical devices are subject to general and special controls, including performance standards
post-market surveillance, patient registries and FDA guidelines. Class III medical devices are those which must
receive pre-market approval, (“PMA™) by the FDA to ensure their safety and effectiveness, typically including life-
sustaining, life-supporting, or implantable devices or new devices, which have been found not to be substantially
equivalent to currently marketed medical devices. It is 1mp0351ble to say at this time thch of these categories wrll
apply to any diagnostic product incorporating our technolog1es

Before a new device can be 1ntroduced into the U S. market it rnust in most cases, receive either pre- -market
notification clearance under section 510(k) of the Food Drug, and Cosmetic Act or approval pursuant to the more
costly and time-consuming PMA process. A PMA applrcatron must be supported by valid scientific evidence to
demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of the devrce typically including the results of clinical trials, bench tests,

laboratory and animal studies. A section 510(k) clearance will be granted if the submitted information establishes
that the proposed device is "substantially equivalent” to a legally marketed classI or class I medical device or a
class 111 medical device for Wthl’l the FDA has not called for PMAs. While less expensive and time-consuming than
obtaining PMA clearance, securing section SJO(k) clearance may involve the submrssron of a substantial volume of
data lncludrng clinical data, and may requ1re a lengthy substantlve revrew : ,
Even if regulatory cleara’nce is obtained, a marketed product and its manufacturer are both subject to continuing
review. Discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in withdrawal of the product from the
market, which could reduce our Tevenue sources and hurt our financial results, in addition to exposing us to product
liability claims, Vlolatrons of regulatory reqmrements at any stage during the process, 1ncludmg prechmcal studies
and clinical trials, the review process, post-marketing approval orin manufacturing practrces or manufacturmg
requirements may result in various adverse- consequences to us, including:

"+ the FDA's delay in granting marketing clearance or refusal to grant marketmg clearance of a product
T w1thdrawal of a product from the market; or '
. the 1mposrtron of civil or criminal penaltles agamst the manufacturer and holder of the marketing clearance

Generally, similar regulatory rec{uirements apply_torpr_oducts intended for marketing outside the United States.

We use DNA isolated from cligical samples from individuals in developing our intellectual property consisting of
HAP Markers and HAP Marker associations. In some cases, a CRO with which we have a contract collects these
blood samples with accompanying personal and medical information about each individual. In other cases, we
contract directly with clinical sites to collect the samples plus personal and medical information without. the
assistance of a CRO. Our CRO may prepare, subject to gur approval, the sample collection protocol and the patient
informed consent form, and may identify the clinical sifes which collect the samples. The individual clinical sites
recruit the patients for each clinical study and, following the study protocol, explain and obtain the. signed and
witnessed informed consent documents from each patient. The informed consent form includes the patient's
authorization to use the patient's sample and data derived from it for developing commercial products. Our contract
with the CRO and contracts with individual clinical sites require an independent institutional review board to
approve the study protocol, the patient informed consent form and the transmission of the samples to us. Either we
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do not know the identity or we have in place procedures to maintain the confidentiality of any of the individuals
from whom we receive clinical samples. 'We believe that these procedures comply with all apphcable federal, state
and institutional regulatlons . ‘

While the FDA does not currently regulate our genotypmg facrhty, CLIA defines standards that constitute good
clinical laboratory practice. Although this is a federal law, each state is responsible for administering the statute. The
state of Connecticut issued.a CLIA license for our facility in New Haven and the state of North Carolina issued a
CLIA license for our facility in Research Triangle Park. Both of these facilities can provide clinical genetic test
results in support of therapeutic or medical interventions. A CLIA-licensed clinical laboratory can be mspected by
the state at any time to insure that we are in comphance wrth CLIA regulatlons :

In addition, in June 2004 APHIS, a division of the US Department of Agrrculture (“USDA”) approved our high-
throughput genotyping facility in New Haven, Connecticut, to genotype sheep to determine their susceptibility to
scrapie under National Scrapie Eradrcatron Program (“NSEP”) We subsequently began processing samples under 2
contract that the USDA awarded to us as part of NSEP

Due to the home-brew genetic testmg component of our busmess, such as our FAMILION Test, we routinely receive
protected health information (“PHI”). PHI is health information that can be used to identify an individual, such as a
person’s name, Social Security Number, telephone number, and address. We are required under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountabrhty Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) to maintain the privacy of PHI, and we are
committed to doing so. : o _

Intellectual Property

IVD Testing ‘
We do not believe that our IVD testmg business, as a Whole is or will be mater1ally dependent upon the protection
afforded by patents, and a substantial majority of our revenues in this segment is attributable to products without
patent protection. ,
Genaissance

We rely on patents, trade secrets, non- disclosure agreements and copyrlghts to protect our proprretary technologies
and information. In addition, our goal is to license to third parties certain components of our intellectual property
that is peripheral to our core products and services.

As of March 31, 2006, we have a patent estate consrstmg of nine 1ssued U. S patents, 25 pending U.S. patent
apphcatrons nine pendmg international. patent appljcations filed under the Patent Cooperation Treaty, and 13
pending foreign patent applications. Two of the issued U.S. patents are co- owned one by Duke University and
another by the University of Cincinnati. We have also exclusrvely in-licensed rights under a variety of issued
patents and pending patent applications, 1nc1ud1ng one 1ssued USs. patent owned by Yale University; one issued U.S.
patent owned by St. Jude Children’s Research Hospital; one issued U.S. patent owned by Vanderbilt University; 12
issued U.S. patents, six pending U.S. patent applications, five issued foreign patents, and 12 pending foreign patent
apphcatlons owned by the University of Utah; six issued U.S. patents, four pending U.S. patent applications, 46
issued foreign patents, and 185 pending foreign patent apphcatlons owned by Merck KGaA

The patents and patent apphcatrons that we own or under whrch we have exclusively licensed rights, are directed
generally to: -

e ' vilazodone, our lead therapeutic product;

e  detection of familial Long QT Syndrome;

»  detection of drug-induced Long QT Syndrome; B
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¢ associations between genetic markers and drug response (efficacy and safety) and disease endpoints,
specifically including clozapine-induced agranulocytosis, thiopurine metabolism, statin response, and -
progression and onset of Alzheimer’s disease; and '

e - components of our DecoGen Informatics System, including the processes for assembling gene'uc markers
and for determining clinical associations

We also rely upon unpatented trade secrets and improvements; unpatented know-how and continuing technological
innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We generally.protect this information with reasonable
security measures, including confidentiality agreements that provide that all confidential information developed or
made known to others during the course of the employment, consulting or business relationship shall be kept
confidential except in specified circumstances. Agreements with employees provide that all inventions conceived by
the individual while employed by us are our exclusive property.

Icoria .

We seek U.S. and forelgn patent protection for major components of our technology platforms. We also re]y on
trade secret protection for certain of our confidential and proprietary information, and we use license agreements
both to access external technologies and assets and to convey certain intellectual property rights to others. Our
commercial success will be dependent in part on our ability to obtain commercially valuable patent claims and to
protect our intellectual property portfolio. As of March 31, 2006, we have a patent estate consisting of 23 issued
U.S. patents, 31 pending U.S. patent applications, three pending international patent applications filed under the
Patent Cooperation Treaty, and nine pending foreign patent applications, some of which are subject to rights that we
have granted to various collaborators and development partners. We have also exclusively in- hcensed from Remes
Biomedical Ltd. rights under each of a U.S. patent, a European patent, and a U.K. patent.

We have applied, and intend to make additional applications, for patent protection for:
»  key elements, processes and supporting technologies in our biochemical profiling platform;
¢ methods relating to phenotype analysis, gene expression profiling, metabolic profiling and other methods
for biomarker discovery and pathway analysis;
bioinformatic technologies;
¢ function specific patterns of gene expression we 1dent1fy and.

e individual genes and targets we discover.

In addition, patent law relating to the scope of claims in the technology field in which we operate is still evolving,
The extent of future patent protection is uncertain. In particular, we are aware of several groups that are attempting
to identify and patent biomarkers and related methods. There is substantial uncertainty regarding the possible patent
protection for biomarkers. Furthermore, others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies,
duplicate any of our technologles, and if patents are licensed or issued to us, design around the patented technologies
licensed to or developed by us. In addition, we could i incur substantial costs in lmgatlon if we are required to defend
ourselves i in patent suits brought by third parties or if we initiate such suits.

i

We are aware of a humber of U.S. patents and patent apphcatlons and related £ foreign patents and patent apphcatlons
owned by third parties relating to biomarkers and related methods These other technologies may provide third
parties with competitive advantages over us and if successfully ‘commercialized by these third parties may hurt our
business. In addition, some third party patent applications contain broad claims, and it is not possible to determine
whether or not applicants will narrow such claims during prosecution or whether patent offices will allow and issue
patents on such claims, even if such claims appear to cover prior art or have other defects. An owner or licensee of a
patent in the field may threaten or file an infringement action and we may or may not prevail in any such action. The
cost of defending an infringement action may be substantial, which could 51gn1ﬁcantly increase our expenses and
increase our losses. Furthermore, other patent holders may not grant us required licénses on commercially viable
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terms, if at all. Failure to obtain any required license could prevent us from utilizing or commercializing one or more
of our technologies or related products.

Such patents may include claims relating to novel biomarkers and related methods identified or developed through
our discovery programs. We may not be able to obtain meaningful patent protection for our discoveries; even if
patents are issued, the scope of the coverage or protection they would afford is uncertain. Failure to secure such
meaningful patent protection would endanger our competitive position.

Warranty and Product Liability

Substantrally all of our instrumentation products in our IVD businesses are covered by a warranty for workmansh1p
which is generally for a period of 12 months from installation. Reagents, electrodes and other consumables have
varying length warranties depending upon the expected life of the product. - ‘

We maintain product liability insurance for sales of our laboratory instrumentation in amounts we believe are
adequate, given.our past sales levels and our anticipated sales levels. We reevaluate the adequacy of this coverage
when and if our sales levels change substantially. To date, no product liability claims have been brought against us.
However, there can be no assurance that product liability.insurance will continue to be available to us on acceptable
terms, or that product l1ab1l1ty claims in excess of our insurance coverage, if any, will not be successfully asserted
againstus. . . - : : : ;

Production and Availability of Raw Materials

Our manufacturing operations require a variety of purchased components and supplies. We purchase these items in
sufficient quantities to take advantage of price discounts and currently have an adequate inventory. Most of the
components and supplies are available from multiple sources and we anticipate that they will continue to be readily
available. Certain components and supplies are available from single sources only. If such suppliers should fail in
deliveries, delays in production could result. However, these components and supplies are .generally not
manufactured to our specifications, but are produced for other applications, and we believe that they w1ll continue to
be avallable in the foreseeable future. ‘Where appropriate, we place a sufficient number of such components in
mventory or provrde vendors with greater lead time for ﬁlhng orders for such components

Backlog

At March 31, 2006, our instrumentation backlog (or order book) in the Clinics and Small Hospitals segment totaled
approximately $6.3 million as compared to $3.6 million at March 31, 2005, We expect the backlog to be fiilfilled by
shipmerits during the first half of fiscal 2007. The _backlog at March 31, 2005 was primarily related to one large
order which was fulfilled by the second quarter of fiscal 2006. Backlog in our POL segment is limited because
products are shrpped shortly after orders are received. Backlog in our molecular services segment totaled
approx1mately $7.3 mrlhon at March 31, 2006; it is expected to be fulﬁlled by second quarter of ﬁscal 2008

Seasonality

Our second fiscal quarter mcludes the months of July, August and September Our European facility normally
closes its operations for two weeks during this period and medical practices in the U.S. also experience a decline in
voluntary procedures such as examinations, which results in a decline in testing. Consequently, we may experience
a decline in revenue and net income from first fiscal quarter levels during our fiscal second quarter, reflecting this
slowdown in business activity. This seasonality is expected to effect only the second fiscal quarter.
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Employees

The Company had 472 full-time and equivalent employees as of March 31, 2006. Of this total, approximately 314
employees are employed in the Umted States, 134 are employed in Europe and 24 are employed in Australia and
New Zealand.

Environmental Matters

We do not believe that compliance with Federal, staté or local regulations relating to the protection_ of the
environment has any material effect on our financial or competitive position.

Slgmﬁcant Customers

During fiscal 2006, sales of scientific and blood analy31s equipment and reagents to one 51gn1ﬁcant customer
amounted to approx1mate1y 13% of consolidated revenues. Approximately 6% of accounts receivable at March 31,
2006 were receivable from this customer.

During fiscal 2005, sales of scientific and blood analysis equipment to two significant customers amounted to
approximately 16% and 11%, respectively, of consolidated revenues. Approxrmately 22% of accounts receivable at
March 31, 2005 were receivable from these two customers.

During ﬁscal 2004, sales of scientific and blood analysis equipment to two significant customers amounted to
approximately 14% and 13%, respectively, of consolidated revenues.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investment 'in our securities involves a h1gh degree of rrsk Investors should carefully consxder the fo]lowrng factors
among others relating to Chmcal Data: . : : :

Rtsk factors relating to our business and operatlons

We do not have sufficient cash resources available to fund our current level of actrvntles through the end of
the third quarter of fiscal 2007 and beyond, including our Phase III clinical trial program for our .lead
product candidate, vilazodone. Over the near-term, we will need to satisfy substantial capital requirements to
pursue our development and commercialization strategies and to further optimize operations.

At currently projected rates of expenditure, we believe that additional funding will be required to operate the
Company and its new subsidiaries through the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2007, including the funding of Phase
111 clinical trials for our lead drug candidate, vilazodone. Although we completed a private placement of our
common stock of approximately $17.0 million in June 2006, there can be no assurance that any future equity or
other ﬁ.mdralsmg would be -successful. A general lack of market interest in providing further financing to life
sciences companies could have a material adverse effect on our ability. to raise funds. If we do’ secure additional
capital through a public or private equity offering, dilution to our then existing shareholders may result.

If we are unable to secure additional funds when we need them, we may be required to delay, reduce or eliminate
some or all of our programs. We may also be forced to license compounds .or technology to others that we would
prefer to develop internally until a later, and potentially more lucrative, stage. If we are required to raise additional
funds through collaborations and other licensing arrangements, we may have to relinquish our rights to some of our
technologies or grant licenses on unfavorable terms. : :

Over the near-term, our future capita] requirements to continue the development and enhancement of our
technologies, capture market share, in license and develop genetic tests and to seek to complete the




commercialization of our drug candidates will be substantial and will be influenced by many factors. Such factors
include the amount of milestone payments which we may receive under collaboration, licensing or other agreements,
the progress and cost of research and development projects, especially the Phase III program for vilazodone, our
lead product candidate, and expenses which may be required for the filing, defense and enforcement of patent rights.
If we are unable to secure adequate financing. over.the near-term, we will not be able to pursue our product
development and commercialization strategies as currently planned.

We are currently seeking a partner with which to design and conduct a Phase III clinical program for
vilazodone, as we have neither the experience necessary nor sufficient cash to complete such a clinical
program: - :

We have hmlted experlence in de51gn1ng and conductmg cllmcal trials, especially Phase IIT clinical trials.. We also
do not have sufficient cash with which to complete Phase-III clinical trails for vilazodone. As a result, with respect
to our Phase IlI program for our lead product candidate, vilazodone, we are currently seeking a partner with which
to design, fund and conduct clinical trials. We may not be successful in finding a collaboration partner or in
designing, funding and conducting the clinical trials. Any delay or failure on our or our partner’s part could have a
material adverse effect on our prospects for completing the. trial and eventually developing a commercial product
and, accordingly, on our prospects generally.

Our biopharmaceutical or diagnostic preduct candidates must undergo rigorous clinical trials and regulatory
approvals, which could substantially delay or prevent their development or marketing.

. Any biopharmaceutical and some of oqur diagnostic products that we develop will be subject to rigorous clinical
trials and an extensive regulatory approval process implemented by the FDA and analogous foreign regulatory
agencies. This approval process is typically lengthy and expensive, and approval is never certain. Positive results
from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials do not ensure positive results in.late stage clinical trials designed to
permit application for regulatory approval. We do not know when, or if, our current clinical trials for vilazodone will
be completed. Many factors affect patient enrollment, including the size of the patient population, the proximity of
patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial, alternative therapies, competing clinical trials and new
drugs approved for the conditions we are investigating. As a result of all of these factors, our trials may take longer
to enroll patients than we anticipate. Such delays may increase our costs and slow down our product development
and the regulatory approval process. Our product development costs will also increase if we need to perform more or
larger clinical trials than planned. The occurrence of any of these events will delay our ability to generate revenue
from product sales and impair our ability to become profitable, which may cause us to have insufficient capital
resources to support our operations. -

Because of the risks and uncertainties in biopharmaceutical development, products that we or our collaborators
develop could take a significantly longer time to:gain regulatory approval than we expect or may never gain
approval. If we or our collaborators do not receive these necessary approvals, we will not be able to generate
substantial product or royalty revenues and may not become profitable. We and our collaborators may encounter
significant delays or excessive costs in our efforts to secure regulatory approvals. Factors that raise uncertainty in
obtaining these regulatory approvals include the following: -
¢ we must demonstrate through clinical trials that the proposed product is safe and effective for its mtended
use; : ‘
¢ we have limited experience in conducting the clinical trlals necessary to obtain regulatory approval and
¢ data obtained from pre-clinical and clinical activities are susceptrble to varying 1nterpretat10ns which could
delay, limit or prevent regulatory approvals.

Regulatory authorities may delay, suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time if they believe that the patients
participating in trials are being exposed to unacceptable health risks or if they find deficiencies in the clinical trial
procedures. In addition, our or our collaborators’ failure to cemply with applicable regulatory requirements may
result in criminal prosecution, civil penalties and other actions that could impair our ability to conduct our business.

31-




We initiated a pivotal Phase IlI clinical trial of vilazodone for the treatment of depression in February 2006. We will
need to complete this Phase III trial before filing an NDA for marketing approval of this product in this indication;
we believe the NDA could be filed by the first half of calendar 2009..This clinical trial may be delayed for any of
the reasons described above, and may take longer than anticipated to initiate and/or to complete

We recently acquired both Genalssance Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 1coria, Inc., each of which has hlstorlcally
mcurred sngmﬁcant net Josses, and we expect to incur net losses for some time.

On December 20, 2005, we completed the acquisition of Icoria, which has a history of incurring net losses; and had
an accumulated deficit of approximately $106.3 million as of December 20, 2005. Genaissance, which we acquired
on October 6, 2005, had an accumulated deficit of approximately $244.0 million as of October 6, 2005. We expect
that as-a result of combining our operations:with those of ‘our recéntly acquired subsidiaries, we will continue to
incur net losses, that it is possible that we may never generate- sufﬁment revenue to become profitable and that we
may not sustain profitability if we do become profitable.

We are entermg into new business areas and may not have the expertlse, experlence and resources to pursue
all of our businesses at once.

Individually, each of Clinical Data, Genaissance, Genome:Express and Icoria has had éxperience in their respective
areas of expertise, but we have never pursued all of the facets of thee businesses at once. As a result, we may not
have the experience, the appropriate expertise, or the resources to pursue all businesses in our combined company
and we'may discover that some of the new facets of the comblned busihess are not what ‘we prev1ously believed and
are not financially v1able Coe .

Due to recent merger activity, it may be more difficult to obtdin additional financmg at favorable terms, if at
all.

Because we have not been tested as an integrated enterprise, and as a combined company we have a significant
history of losses, it may be more difficult to encourage investment in our company through public and additional
private stock offerings, arrangements with corporate parthers, credit facilities or from other sources. We may never
realize enhanced liquidity in the public' markets because the overhang in the pubhc markets as a result of recent
merger transactions may dissuade new investors. '

We may be unable to integrate successfully the businesses of Genaissance, Genome Express and Icoria.

During fiscal year 2006, we consummated mergers with Genaissance, Genome Express and Icoria. This integration
ofall these businesses with our own will require significant efforts from each company, ‘including the coordination
of product development, sales and'marketing efforts and adiministrative operations. We may find it difficult to
integrate simultaneously the operations of Genaissance, Genome Express and Icoria. We have employees widely
dispersed across our operationis in Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Connecticut, California, Texas, North Carolina,
Pennsylvania and other domestic and foreign locations, which will increase the difficulty of integrating operations.
Genaissance, Genome Express and Icoria personnel may leave their respective companies or our combined company
because of the acquisitions. Genaissance, Genome Express and Icoria customers, distributors or suppliers may delay
or defer purchasing decisions, terminate their arrangements with the respective company or our combined company
or demand amended terms to these arrangements. Any of these actions by customers, distributors or suppliers could
adversely affect our business. The challenges involved in this mtegratlon include, but are not limited to, the
following:

e retaining existing customers and strategic partners of each company;

e Tetainiing and integrating management and other key employees; :

¢ coordinating research and development activities to enhance introduction of new products and technologles

especially in light of rapidly evolving markets for those products and technologies;
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e preserving the value of various research and development collaboration, distribution, manufacturmg and
other important relationships;

e coordinating the -headquarter operations of Genome Express in France; as well as its research and
development facilities in France, which are geographically distant from the operations of our corporate
headquarters and most of our subsidiaries in the United States;

o effectively managing the diversion of management attention from business matters to integration issues;

e combining product offerings and incorporating acquired technology and rights into product offerings
effectively and quickly;

o integrating sales efforts so that customers can do business easily with us;

e coordinating and combining international operations, relationships and fac1l1t1es wh1ch may be subject to
additional constraints imposed by local laws and regulations;

¢ persuading employees that the business cultures of Clinical Data, Genaissance, Genome, Express and Icor1a
are compatible;

. » effectively offering products of Clinical Data, Genalssance Genome Express and Icoria to. each other’s
customers;

e anticipating the market needs and achieving market acceptance of Clinical Data, Genaissance, Genome
Express and Icoria products;

¢ bringing together the companies’ marketing efforts so that the mdustry receives useful mformatmn about the
acqulsltlons and customers petceive value in our products; and

e developing and maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures, and pollc1es

Our acquisition of Genome Express, and our mergers with Genaissance and Icoria ‘may fail to achieve
expected beneficial synergies. ‘

Cllmcal Data acquired Genome Express with the _expectation that the acquisition will result in beneﬁc1al synergles
such as cost reductions and a broader suite of products and services to offer to our current and targeted customers.
We also expect to achieve similar beneficial synergies in our recently completed mergers with Genaissance and
Icoria. Achieving these anticipated synergies and the potential benefits underlymg our reasons for entering into the
acquisitions will depend on the success of integrating all four compames businesses. It is not certain that we can
successfully integrate Genaissance, Genome Express and Icoria. in a timely manner or at all, or that any of the
anticipated benefits will be reahzed Risks from unsuccessful integration of all the companies include:
o the potential disruption of ongoing business and distraction of our management;
e the risk that it may be more difficult to retain key management, marketing, and technical personnel after the
acquisitions; : »
¢ the risk that costs and expendltures for retaining personnel, ehmmatmg unnecessary resources and integrating
the businesses are greater than anticipated;
_  the risk that we cannot increase sales of our products; and
'+ o the risk that integrating and changing our businesses will i 1mpa1r our relationships with our ex1st1ng customers
- and business partners. . ‘ ,

Even if we are able to integrate operations, there can be no assurance that the synergies we hope for will be achieved
or that integration of Genaissance, Genome Express or Icoria will not disrupt or eliminate such synergies. The
failure to achieve such synergies could adversely affect our business and results of operations, including use of cash
in operations. . ‘ ‘
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Because a significant portion-of our total assets will be represented by goodwill and other intangible assets
that are subject to mandatery annual impairment evaluations, we could be required to write-off some or all
of this goodwill and other mtanglbles, which may adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations. . .

We accounted for the acquisitions of Genaissance, Genome Express and Icoria using the purchase method of
accounting. The purchase prices for these businesses were allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets and
assumed liabilities based on estimated fair values at the date of consummation of the respective mergers. The
unallocated portions of the purchase prices were allocated to goodwill. Approximately 47.9% of our total assets at
March 31, 2006 are goodwill and other intangibles, of which approximately $27.5 million are goodwill. In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed annually or more frequently if
impairment indicators arise. The unamortized values of other 1ntang1bles are reviewed if certain conditions exist.
When we perform future impairment tests, it is possible that the carrying value of goodwill or other mtanglble assets
could exceed their implied fair value and therefore would require adjustment. Such adjustment would result in a
charge to operating income in that period. Once adjusted, there can be no assurance that there will not be further
adjustments for 1mpa1rment in future periods. :

The uncertainty of patent and proprietary technology protection may adversely affect us.

Our success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining meaningful patent protection on our inventions,
technologies and discoveries. Although a substantial majority of our POL and Clinics and Small Hospitals revenues
are attributable to products without patent protection, our Genaissance and Icoria businesses and related
technologies are more heavily reliant on such patent protection and we will have to address such issues. Qur ability
to compete effectively will depend on our ability to develop and maintain proprietary aspects of our technology, and
to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others, or to obtain rights from third parties, if necessary. Our
pending patent applications may not result in the issuance of patents. Our patent applications may not have priority
over others’ applications, and even if issued, our patents may not offer protection against competitors with similar
technologies. Any patents ‘issued to us may be challenged, mvahdated or’ cxrcumvented and the rights created
thereunder may not afford ‘Us a competitive advantage

We also rely upon trade secrets, technical know-how and continuing inventions to develop and maintain our
competitive position. Others may independently develop ‘substantially equivalent proprietary information and
techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or disclose our technology and we may not be able to protect
meaningfuilly our trade secrets, or.be capable of protecting our rights to our trade secrets. We seek to protect our
technology and patents, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees and contractors. Our employees
may breach their confidentiality agreements and these agreements may not protect our intellectual property. This
could have a material adverse effect on us. .

If we are unable to protect effectively our intellectual property, we may.not be able to operate our business
and third parties may use our technology, both of which would impair our ability to compete in our markets.

Our success will depend in significant part on our ability to obtain and maintain meaningful patent protection for
certain of .our technologies and products throughout the world. Patent law relating to the scope of claims in the
technology fields in which we will operate is still evolving. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights
is uncertain. We will rely on patents to protect a significant part of our intellectual property and to enhance.our
competitive position. However, our presently pending or future patent applications may not issue as patents, and any
patent previously issued to us or our subsidiaries may be challenged, invalidated, held unenforceable or
circumvented. Furthermore, the claims in patents which have been issued to us or our subsidiaries or which may be
issued to us in the future may not be sufficiently broad to prevent third parties from producing competing products
similar to our products. In addition, the laws of various foreign countries in which we plan to compete may not
protect our intellectual property to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. If we fail to obtain adequate
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patent protectlon for .our proprletary technology, our ability to be commerc1a11y competmve will be materially
impaired. . ‘ ‘
The patent positions of life science companies are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual
questions. Our business could be hurt by any of the following:

e our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents;

o' the claims of any issued patents may not provide meaningful protection;

e we may be unsuccessful in developing additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

e ‘our patents may not provide a basis for commercially viable products or prov1de us W1th any competmve

advantages and may be challenged by third parties; and

e others may have patents that relate to our technology or business.
Third parties have filed, and in the future are likely to file, patent applications covering biomarkers and related
methods that our Icoria subsidiary has developed or may develop or technology upon which our technology platform
depends. If patent offices issue patents on these patent applications and we wish to use the biomarkers or
technology, we would need to obtain licenses from third parties. However, we might not be able to obtain any such
license on commercially favorable terms, if at all, and if we do not obtain these hcenses we might be prevented .
from usmg certain technologles or takmg certam products to market.

In addltlon to patent protection, we will also rely on protection of trade secrets, know-how and conﬁdennal and
proprietary information. To maintain the confidentiality of trade-secrets and proprietary information, we generally
seek to enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants and strategic partners upon the
commencement of a relationship. However, we may not obtain these agreements in all circurnstances. In the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure of this information, these agreements, even if obtained, may not provide meaningful
protection for our trade secrets or other confidential information. In addition, adequate remedies may not exist in the
event of unauthorized 'use or disclosure of this' information. The loss or exposure of our trade secrets and other
proprietary information would impair its competitive advantages and could have a material adverse effect on our
operating results, financial condition and future growth prospects.

If third parties make or file claims of intellectual property infringement against us, or otherwise seek to
establish their intellectual property rights, we may have to spend tlme and money in response and cease some
of our operations.

Third parties may claim that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization or that we are
infringing on their patents. We could incur substantial costs and diversion of management and technical personnel in
defending against any of these claims. Furthermore, parties making claims against us may be able to obtain
injunctive or other equitable relief which could effectively block our ability to further develop, commercialize and
sell products. In the event of a successful claim of infringement, courts may order us to pay'damages and obtain one
or more licenses from third parties. We may not'be able to obtain these licenses at a reasonable cost, if at all.
Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any of these licenses could prevent us from commercializing available
products. :

If we were sued for product liability, we could face substantial liabilities that may exceed our resources.

We may be held liable if any product we develop, or any product which is made using our technologies, causes
injury or is found unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing, sale or use. These risks are inherent
in the development of chemical, agricultural, pharmaceutical, and other such healthcare products and related
methodologies: If we choose to obtain product liability insurance but cannot obtain sufficient insurance coverage at
an acceptable cost or otherwise protect against potential product liability claims, the commercialization of products
that we or our commercial partners develop may be prevented or inhibited. If we are sued for any injury caused by
our products, such liability could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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Any product that we, or our commercial partners may develop using the gene function, metabolomics, or
biomarker information we provide, may be subject to a lengthy and uncertain government regulatory process
that may not result in the necessary approvals, may delay the commercialization of these products or may be
costly, any of which could seriously reduce our revenues or exceed our financial ability to meet such

obligations.

Many of our new products that we or our commercial partners develop will likely undergo an extensive regulatory
review process in the United States by.the Food and Drug Administration or USDA, and by regulators in other
countries before it can be marketed or sold. For example, the FDA must approve any drug, diagnostic or biologic
product before it can be marketed in the United States. Genetic tests offered by the company may not be subject to
this review. This review process can take many years and require substantial expense. In the future, we and our
commercial partners may also be required to submit pre-market information to the FDA about food developed
through biotechnology. Adverse publicity could lead to greater regulation and trade restrictions on imports and
exports of genetically modified products. Changes in the policies of U.S. and foreign regulatory bodres could
increase the time required to obtain regulatory approval for each new product

Our efforts to date have been primarily ] limited to identifying targets. If regulators approve any products that we or
our commercial partners develop, the approval may impose limitations on the uses for which a product may be
marketed. Regulators may require the submission of post-market launch information about a product after approving
it, and may impose restrictions, including banning the continued sale of the product, if they discover problems with
the product or its manufacturer. - : _

If we are unable to develop new and enhanced products that achieve widespread market acceptance, we may
be. unable to recoup product development costs, and our revenues and earnings may decline. ‘

Our. future success depends on our ablhty to broadly market existing technologles products, and services, and to
develop and introduce new product and service offerings and grow our business in each of the POLs, blood analysis
instrumentation, diagnostic assays DNA-based diagnostic, and therapeutic products, and human biomarkers and
. agriculture genomics markets. We expect to commit substantial resources to developing new products and services,
as well as to continue marketing the existing products and services. If the market for these products and services
does not develop as anticipated, or demand for our current product and service offerings does not grow or grows
more slowly than we expect, we will have expended substantial resources and capital without realizing sufficient
revenue, and our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

We operate in a very competitive environment.

We expect .to encounter intense competrtlon from a number of compames that offer products in our targeted
applrcatron areas .We anticipate that our competitors in these areas will include:

health care and other companies that manufacture laboratory- -based tests and analyzers;

s diagnostic and pharmaceutical companies;

¢ molecular services business;

s companies developing drug discovery technologies;

L ]

[ 4

companies developing molecular diagnostic and genetic tests; and
companies developing point-of-care diagnostic and genetic tests.

If we are successful in developing products in these areas, we will face competition from established companies and
numerous development-stage companies that continually enter these markets. In many instances, competitors have
substantially. greater financial, technical, research and other resources and larger, more established marketing, sales,
distribution and service organizations than us. Moreover, these competitors may offer broader product lines and
have greater name recognition than us and may offer discounts as a competitive tactic. ‘
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In addition, several development-stage companies are currently making or developing products that compete with or
will compete with our potential products. Competitors may succeed in developing, obtaining approval from the
FDA, or marketing technologies or products that are more effective or commercially attractive than our current or
potential products or that render our technologies and current or potential products obsolete. Competitors may also
develop proprietary positions that may prevent us from successfully commercializing products.

We may not be able to successfully integrate companies that we acquire in the future.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to continually enhance and broaden our product offerings in response
to changing technologies, customer demands and competitive pressures. From time to time we may pursue

acquisitions of businesses that complement or expand our existing business, including acquisitions that could be
material in size and scope.

. Any future acquisitions involve various risks, including:
o difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies and products of the acquired company;
e the risk of diverting management’s attention from normal daily operations of the business;
¢ potential difficulties in completing projects associated with in-process research and development;
L]

risks of entering markets in which we have no or limited direct prior experience and where competitors in
such markets have stronger market positions;

initial dependence on unfamiliar supply chains or relatively small supply partners;
+ insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with the acquisition; and
¢ the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company.

Our ownership is concentrated among a small number of stockholders.

Our ownership is concentrated among a small number of stockholders, including Randal J. Kirk, our Chairman,
Mr. Kirk’s affiliates, and Israel M. Stein, M.D., our Executive Vice Chairman and Acting Chief Financial Officer.
Together with Dr. Stein, Mr. Kirk and Mr. Kirk’s affiliates hold approximately 43.7% of our outstanding common
stock as of June 16, 2006, after giving effect to the recently completed private equity placement transaction.
Dr. Stein, Mr. Kirk and Mr. Kirk’s affiliates have a controlling block of our outstanding stock and are able to exert
substantial control over various corporate matters. Notwithstanding such control, Mr. Kirk and Dr. Stein, as
directors of Clinical Data, have fiduciary duties under Delaware law to all our stockholders. Delaware law also
imposes certain additional fiduciary duties on Dr. Stein by virtue of his status as an officer of Clinical Data.

We will continue to shift our Icoria subsidiary’s traditional business model away from agriculture-based
research and areas of historical revenue. ‘

Icoria recently shified towards the healthcare industry and the therapeutic fields of obesity, liver disease and
diabetes, which is a fundamental shift away from known and historical areas of revenue generation. There has not
been sufficient time to discover whether Icoria has been or will be successful in this effort. We will assume this shift
in business plan. Our Icoria subsidiary’s belief that the potential market for healthcare products and services is better
for its long-term business prospects, rather than the strategy of using agriculture-based contracts to generate
revenues, may be based on data and assumptions that are flawed, we may not have the financial ability or expertise
to effectuate this shift, and the costs of the transition may be prohibitive. Our belief that it can obtain material
revenues from any healthcare partnerships, agreements, discoveries or contracts may be incorrect. If our Icoria

subsidiary is unable to accomplish the evolution to a healthcare-focused company, we might not have sufficient
resources to refocus this business again.
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Our Icoria business exposes us to risks of environmental llabllitles. . ) -

Qur Icoria subsldlary $ research and development activities 1nvolve the controlled use of hazardous materials,
chemicals and toxic compounds which could expose us to risks of accidental contamination, events of non-
compliance with environmental laws, regulatory énforcement and claims related to personal injury and property
damage. If an accident occurred or if we were to discover contamination caused by prior operations, we could be
liable for cleanup obligations, damages or ﬁnes and any liability could exceed our resources.

The - environmental- laws .of many’ jurisdictions impose actual and potential obligations on us to remediate
contaminated sites. These environmental - remediation” obligations could exceed our resources. Stricter
environmental, safety and health laws and enforcement policies also could result in substantial costs and liabilities to
us, and could subject our handling, manufacture, use, reuse or disposal of substances or pollutants to more rigorous
scrutiny than is currently the case. Consequently, ongoing compliance with these laws could result in significant
capital expendltures as well as other costs and liabilities, which could materlally adversely affect our Company

If we choose to acqulre new. and complementary businesses, products-or technologies, we may be unable to
complete such acquisition(s) or.to integrate an acquired business or technology in a cost-effective manner.

Our success depends on our ability to continually enhance and broaden our product offerings in response to
changing technologies, customer demands and competitive pressures. To this end, instead of developing them, from
time to time we have acquired and may yet acquire additional complementary businesses, products, or technologies
or may enter into cooperative ventures. We do-not. know if we will be able to complete such acquisitions, or
whether we will be able to successfully integrate an acquired business, operate it profitably, or retain its key
employees. Integrating any acquired business, product or technology, or any venture into which we may enter, could
be expensive and time-consuming and could disrupt our ongoing business, distract our management and materially
and adversely affect our cash ﬂows and results of operanons :

If we are required to seek financing for an acquisition or other venture, or to enhance our working capltal
we may not be able to obtain such addltmnal fmancmg on acceptable terms.

In order to finance any acquisitions or other ventures, or to enhance our working'capital we may need to raise
additional funds through public or private equity or debt financings. In that event, we could be required to obtain
financing on terms that are unfavorable to us and, in the case of equity or equity-linked ﬁnancmg, on terms that may
result in dilution to our existing stockholders. If we cannot sell our securities or obtain additional financing on
acceptable terms, we may not be able to:

¢ expand our product line and service offerings;

o hire and train new staff;

e increase our sales and marketing presence in existing and new markets; or

e respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements.

Our failure to do any of these things could seriously harm our financial condition by preventing us from Being able
to effectively grow our business or to take advantage of new business opportunities.

We are dependent upon an asset-based line of credit for certam of our working capital. That loan imposes
Condmons that could adversely affect us,

We used an asset-based line of credit to finance a portion of the assets we purchased from- Elan As of March 31,
2006, we had outstanding borrowings of $4.0 million under that line. This debt may adversely affect our future
operations in several important ways, including the following:

» our ability to obtain additional financing may be impaired,
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« if we do not satisfy the financial covenants in the loan agreement, we would be in default under our loan -
agreement and be required to immediately repay outstanding loan balances; and S ‘

& because we do not have a fixed rate of interest for our loans, rising interest rates will increase our interest
costs and reduce our earnings.

Our international operatlons and sales expose us to forelgn currency exchange rate ﬂuctuatlon I'lSkS

The costs of 1mportat10n of 1nstruments and other products -are subject to foreign currency ﬂuctuatlons In fiseal
2006, sales to customers outside the United States accounted .for approximately. 49.2% of our revenues. We
anticipate that international sales will continue to account for a significant portion of our revenues. - Most of our
sales to international distributors are denominated in Euros. To the extent that our sales and operating expenses are
denominated in foreign currencies, our operating results may be affected by changes in exchange rates. We cannot
predict whether such gains and losses will be material, nor can-we predict the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on
our future operating results. We. sometimes engage in,limited, transaction specific, foreign currency hedging
transactions to reduce our risk, but we cannot assure you that any such hedging transaction w111 allow us to avoid
any currency exchange rate fluctuation risks. : .

A !

Our international operations and sales expose us to political and economic risks.

Our mternanonal operatlons and reliance on international sales expose us to forelgn pohncal and economic nsks
including: - o Ly
* regulatory approvals o ‘ - !
e import;and export license requirements and restrictions; . s
¢ disruptions in international transport or delivery; N R PR ot
o difficulties in collecting receivables; and
s potentially adverse tax consequences. ‘ L

If any of these risks mateﬁalizes, our international sales could decrease and our foreign operations could suffer.

We are dependent upon certain key personnel.

We are highly dependent upon the principal members of our management, engineering and scientific staff, including
Andrew J. Fromkin, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Israe! M. Stein, M.D., our Executive Vice
Chairman and Acting Chief Fihancial Officer. The loss of the service of any of these persons could seriously harrn
our product development and commerc1ahzat10n efforts : e

Qur products require government approval to be marketed.

We have obtained or are in the process of obtaining all necessary government apprévals t6 market our current
products in the United States and the European Union. However, we will likely need to obtain approval of certain
European regulatory bodies and the FDA to market many of the new products that we may develop-or obtain the
rights to distribute.: Domestically, certain of our products are classified as medical devices under the Food, Drug and
Cosmetics Act. ‘As such, if and when these products are offered for sale'in the United States, these products will-be:
subject to continuing regulation and oversight by the-FDA.: The-cost of obtaining such approvals may be hlgh and
the process lengthy, with no assurance that such approvals will be obtained. -

~ To date, neither the FDA nor the European medical regulatory bodiés have developed’ lndustry -wide performance
standards with respect to the safety and effectiveness of the products that we presently market. Although we intend
to use reasonable efforts to comply with international standards, when and if developed, there can be no assurance
that our products as currently configured will be in compliance. Any failure to receive and maintain approvals for
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our products, or noncompliance with any international performance standards promulgated in the future, could have
a material adverse effect on our business. Furthermore, any material change in the existing rules and regulations or
the adoption of any new regulations could adversely affect us. o

Physician’s office laboratories must comply with government regulations.

Clinical laboratories, including POLs, are subject to significant governmental regulation at the Federal, state and
sometimes local levels. These regulations govern licensure and opetation of clinical laboratories, payment for
laboratory services, health care fraud and -abuse, securlty and conﬁdentlahty of health information, and
environmental and occupational safety . N

CLIA extended Federal -oversight to virtually all clinical laboratories by requiring that they be certified by the
Federal government or by a Federally-approved accreditation agency. Pursuant toCLIA, clinical' laboratories must
meet quality assurance, quality ‘control and personnel standards. Laboratories also must undergo proficiency testing
and are subject to inspections. Standards for testing under CLIA are based on the complexity of the tests performed
by the laboratory, with all tests classified as either high complexity, moderate complexity, or waived. We specialize
in providing moderate complexity test products and consulting services for such testing, and POLs which purchase
such products and services also require CLIA certificates to perform such testing. Any material change in the
existing rules and regulations or the adoption of any new regulations could adversely affect us by making our
customers less willing or able to remain in the business. The sanction for failure to comply with CLIA requirements
may be suspension, revocation or limitation of a laboratory's CLIA certificate, which is necessary to conduct
business, as well as significant fines and/or criminal penalties. The loss or suspension of a license, imposition of a
fine or other penalties, or future changes in the CLIA law or regulations (or interpretation of the law or regulanons)
related to smaller labs could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are further regulated by the HIPAA, as amended. HIPAA includes standards of practice for the protection of the
privacy of individually identifiable health information. Failure to comply with HIPAA could result in significant
fines and criminal liability. In addition, future changes in Federal, state or local regulations or policies (or in the
interpretation of current regulations) could adversely affect our ability to sell products and services to POLs.

Physician’s office laboratories are dependent on third-party payers.

Future changes in Federal, state and local regulations (or .in the interpretation of current regulations) affecting
government payment for clinical laboratory testing could have a material adverse effect on the profitability of POLs
and would adversely affect the sale of our products and services. We are unable to predict what type of legislation, if
any, will be enacted into law. In addition, changes in rates of reimbursement made by private insurers and other
third-party payers may have a similar detrimental effect on our-business. ,

Manufacturing problems or delays could result in lost revenue.

We manufacture most of our instruments in Dieren, The Netherlands and most of our reagents in Brea, California.
Other products are manufactured in Italy and France on an OEM basis. These manufacturing processes are complex
and, as a result, any prolonged disruption in-our manufacturing operations or the manufacturing operations of our
third party manufacturers could seriously. harm our ability to satisfy our customer order deadlines. If we cannot
deliver our systems in a timely manner, our revenues will likely suffer.

As we develop new products, we must trangition the manufacture of each new product from the development stage
to commercial production. We cannot predict whether we will be able to complete such transitions on a timely basis
and with commercially reasonable costs. . We also cannot assure that manufacturing or quality control problems will
not arise as we attempt to scale-up our production for any future new products or that we can scale-up
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manufacturing and. quality control in-a timely manner or at commercially reasonable costs. If we are unable to
consistently manufacture our products on a timely basis due to these or other factors, our product sales will decline,

Intense competition could reduce our market share or limit our ability to increase market share, which could
harm our financial performance :

The medlcal products industry is rapidly evolvmg and developments are expected to contmue at a rapld pace
Competmon in this industry, which includes our medical instrumentation, reagent and consulting services
busmesses is intense and expected to increase as new products, technologles and services become available and new
competitors enter the market. Our competitors in the United States, Europe and Pacific-Asia are numerous and
include, among others, large, multi-national diagnostic testing and medical products companies. Our future success
depends upon maintaining a competitive position in the development of products, technologies and services in our
areas of focus in POLs and smaller clinical laboratorles Our competitors may: .

e develop technologies, products and services that are more effective than-our products or services, or that
render our technologies, products or services obsolete or noncompetitive;

* obtain patent protection or other intellectual property rights that would prevenf us from developing our .
potential products; or

¢ obtain regulatory approval for the commercialization of their products more rap1d1y or effectwely than we do.

Also, the possibility of intellectual property rights disputes with competitors holding domestic and foreign patent
and other intellectual property rights may limit or delay expansion possibilities for our businesses. In addition, many
of our existing or potential competitors have or may have substantially greater financial and managerial resources,
research and development capabilities, and clinical, manufacturing, regulatory and ‘marketing experience.

We rely on distributors for, product sales and support.
Our sales are primarily made through distributors. We often rely upon distributors to provide customer support to
the ultimate end users of our products. As a result, our success depends on the continued sales and customer support
efforts of our network of distributors. The use of distributors involves certain risks, mcludmg risks that distributors
will not effectively sell or support our products, or will be unable to satisfy financial obligations to us ‘and cease their
operations. Any reduction, delay or loss of orders from our significant distributors could harm our busmess There
can be no assurance that we will continue to engage qualified distributors, and the failure to do so could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our distributor agreements provide for the distributor to purchase products from us at standard prices that are
updated periodically. We have no obligations to the distributors after the product is shipped. We occasionally offer
distributors special pricing on selected products to promote sales. Such discounts and special pricing provisions are
recognized as reductions of revenue as we ship our product to the distributor. We occasignally offer incentive
programs directly to our distributors’ salespeople. : '

Our results of operations will be adversely affected if we fail to realize the full value of our intangible asséts., :

As of March 31, 2006, our total assets included approximately $51.8 million of net intangible assets. Net intangible
assets consist principally of (i) goedwill associated with acquisitions; (ii) costs associated with capitalized software;
and (iii) purchased intangibles consisting of customer relationships, net of accumulated amortization. Goodwill"is
. not being amortized while the purchased intangibles are being amortized over their estimated useful lives.
Amortization of capitalized software is provided over the estimated useful life of the product, which is genérally
four years. Goodwill is tested, at a minimum, on an annual basis using December 31* as the annual measurement
date for potential impairment by comparing the carrying value to the fair market value of the reporting unit to which
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the goodwill is assigned; as of March 31, 2006, approximately $6.3 million of the goodwill is assigned to the POL
segment, $1.2 million to the clinics and small hospitals segment and the remainder is assigned to the molecular
services segment. Amortizable intangibles, including capitalized software, are subject to impairment reviews when
there are indications of impairment. .

The fair value of our recorded intangibles can be impacted by economic conditions, market risks, and the volatility
in the markets in which Clinical Data and its customers operate. Changes in fair value could result in future
impairment charges if the fair value of the reporting units or asset groups 10 which these long-lived assets are
associated are determined to be less than the carrying value of such assets. The annual assessment of goodwill or the
periodic impairment testing considerations may result in'impairment charges or additional intangible asset write-
offs, respectively, which could adversely affect our results of operations. As of December 31, 2005, the most recent
evaluation date, there was no impairment of goodwill. Additionally, there were no indicators of impairment that
would require an assessment of the impairment of our other intangible assets.

Risk factors relating to Clinical Data’s common stock

The price of our common stock is volatile and could cause investors to lose a substantlal part of their
investment.

The stock market in general and the stock prices of technology companies in particular, experience volatility, which
has often been unrelated to the operating performance of any particular company or companies. Our common stock
is lightly traded and its price could decline regardless of our company’s actual operating performance. Investors
also could lose a substantial part of their investment as a result of industry or market-based fluctuations. If a more
active public market for our common stock is not created, it may be difficult for stockholders to resell their shares. A
number of additional factors also ¢ould cause the prevailing market prices of our common stock to fluctuate
significantly and could adversély impact such prices and the ability of our company to raise additional equity
capital. Such factors include but are not limited to the following:
o the timing of our announcements or of our compentors announcements regarding significant products,
contracts or acquisitions;
‘e variations in results of operations;
e changes in earnings estimates by securities analysts,
o general economic and market conditions; and
e sales of substantial amounts of our common stock into the public market, or the perception that such salés
might occur. ‘
If the average closing price of our common stock were to decline significantly, we may be required to issue in
excess of 20% of our outstanding capital stock upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock we issued to
the preferred stockholder of Genaissance in our recent merger with that company.

In our recent merger with Genaissance, we issued 484,070 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock to the holder of all
of the preferred stock of Genaissance. As of March 31, 2006, the holder of our Series A Preferred Stock has
converted 250,000 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock, leaving 234,070 shares
of our Series A Preferred Stock outstanding. Our outstanding preferred stock is initially convertible into 234,070
shares of our common stock, or approximately 2.7% of our outstanding capital stock as of March 31, 2006.
However, if our preferred stock remains outstanding until October 6, 2008, then and thereafter, the conversion price
of the preferred stock will begin to float based on the public: market price of our common stock, subject to a
minimum conversion factor of one share of preferred stock for one share of common stock. According to the terms
of our Series A Preferred Stock, after the third anniversary of the closing date of the Genaissance merger, on any
given date of conversion, the conversion price will be equal to the average closing bid price of our common stock
for:the 10 consecutive trading days prior to such date of conversion. As a result, if the average closing bid price of
the our common stock were to decline, the number of shares of our common stock into which our Series A Preferred
Stock is then convertible would increase. If the average closing bid price of our common stock declines enough, it is
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possible that we would have to issue a number of shares of our common stock upon conversion of our series A
preferred stock that would be greater than 20% of our then-outstanding capital stock. Such an event does not require
additional stockholder approval, would have the effect of diluting your ownership of the Company and could result
in the preferred stockholder exercising control over certain corporate decisions of the Company, which it prevnously
did not have the ability to control or influence. .

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of March 31, 2006, we leased or - subleased a total of approxmately 262 000 square feet of ofﬁce and ]aboratory
space. The leased and subleased properties are described below:

New South Wales, Australia
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and warehousing

Approximate S
Square Expiration
Location’ Footage Use . Date
One Gateway Center 6,700 Corporate office 7/31/2011
Newton, Massachusetts . v ‘
Two Thurber Bivd. 30,000 Ofﬁéé, research and -+ 6/30/2007
Smithfield, Rhode Island development, ware-
" housing and distribution
1075 W. Lambert Rd. | 33,000 Manufacturing and 5/31/2010
Brea, California _ distribution ‘
5 Scnence Park 29,000 Office and laboratory 1/31/2010
New Haven, Connecticut
100 Perimeter Park Drive, 37,000 Office and laboratory 2/28/2015
Morrisville, North Carolina -
100 Alexander Drive 50,000 Laboratory 11/18/2010
Research Triangle Park,
North Carolina
9441 West Sam Houston 15,000 Office and laboratory 12/31/2009
Parkway, Houston, Texas
Van Rensselaerweg 4 35,000 Office, manufacturing ©2/1// 2008
Dieren, The Netherlands ‘ and research and
‘ development

11 chemin des Pres 1,100 Office and laboratory 7/31/2009
Meylan, France o
12 chemin des Pres 160 Laboratory 3/31/2011
Meylan, France
via Balzilla 41/G/4 4,800 Office and 10/7/2011
Forli, Italy manufacturing .
Hope End, Takeley 10,000 Office and laboratory 6/30/2014
United Kingdom _ . - N
38/5 Anella Way, Castle Hill 10,000 Office, manufacturing. . 8/31/2007




We believe that these facilitis are adequate to meet our current and planned needs. We believe that if additional -
Aspace 1s needed m the future such _space w111 be’ avallable on commerc1a11y reasonable terms as needed

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are, from time to time, subject to disputes arising in the normal course of our business. While the ultimate results
of any such disputes cannot be predicted with certainty, at March 31, 2006, there were no asserted claims against us
which, in the opinion of management; if adversely decided, would have a material adverse effeet on our ﬁnancxal

position and cash flows.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of our stockholders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this

report.
PARTII -

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol CLDA. The
followmg table sets forth the range of high and low sale prices per share of our common stock for each quarter
in fiscal 2006 and 2005 as reported by NASDAQ and the cash dividends paid with respect to the common stock.

Sales Prices Dividends
High Low Paid ’
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2006
First Quarter S $22.00  $13.50  $0.04 -
Second Quarter $24.71 $17.45 $0.00
Third Quarter $23.73 $16.64 $0.00
Fourth Quarter . $25.87 $17.17 - $0.00
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2005 _ ‘
First Quarter : $19.00 $11.00 - -'$0.01
Second Quarter ' - : $20.98 $13.50 $0.01
Third Quarter - ’ $16.82 $12.50  $0.03
Fourth Quarter o $17.85 $11.41 $0.03

" Holders of Common Stock
As of Mareb 3 1,, 2006, there were approximately 550 holders of record of our common stock. ‘
Dividends |
We have peid a quarterly di\.li.dendv"or‘l eaeh sﬁare of common seock during the period from March 2001 du'ough

June 2005. The payment of future dividends will be dependent upon financial results and other relevant factors
to be considered by the Board of Directors.
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Securities 'Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

We have authorized common stock for issuance under equity compensation plans as follows as of March 31,
2006:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities to Weighted average Number

be issued upon exercise exercise price of of securities

of outstanding options, outstanding options,  remaining available -
Plan Category " warrants and rights warrants and rights for future issuance
Equity compensation plans : ’
approved by security holders ‘ 612,000 $30.17 813,000
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders : - N/A N/A N/A
Total 612,000 $30.17 813,000

The authorized plans are more fully described in Note 13 in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. |

ITEM 6. SELECTED CON SOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data have been derived from the Company’s audited historical
consolidated financial statements, certain of which hare included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
This data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes which
are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in Item 7 below. Historical results are not necessarily
indicative of operating results to be expected in the future.
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Year Ended March 31,

-46-

20086 2005 2004 2003 - - . 2002
{In thousands, except per share amounts)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data: ‘ i
Revenues: ‘
Products ‘ $ 50,625 § 49808 $ 48994 $ 15870 $ 13,324
Services ‘ N 18,123 6,592 3,526 - -
Total revenues 68,748 56,400 52,520 15,870 13,324
Cost of revenues:
Products 33,289 32,901 34,160 10,929 8,936
Services . ‘ 12,714 3,146 1,835 - -
Total cost of revenues 46,003 36,047 35,995 10,929 8,936
Gross profit - 22,745 20,353 16,525 4,941 4,388
Operating expenses: .
Sales and marketing 7,696 5,455 5,321 1,618 1,362
Research and development 6,167 2,687 2,391 1,074 1,292
General and administrative 17,315 6,647 6,195 1,862 1,416
Purchased research and development 39,700 - - - -
Total operating expenses 70,878 14,789 13,907 4,554 4,070
(Loss) income from operations (48,133) 5,564 2,618 387 318
Interest expense - (667) (208) (240) G0 an
Interest income 211 76 T2 " 49 - 61
Other income (expense), net (40) 97 25 (33) 48
(Loss) income before provision for taxes and e
mindﬁty interest (48,629) 5,529 2,475 - 373 410
APb'rovis'i‘on for income taxes 1 (2,232) (2,118) (287) (243) S (141)
Minority interest o (20) (16) ) (14 L1
Net (loss) income (50,881) 3,395 2,171 116 258
Preferred stock dividends 97 - - - -
Preferred stock deemed dividend - - (523) - -
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders $ (50,978) § 3,395 % 1,646 § 116 § 258
Basic net (loss) income per share 3 8.54) § 0.77 § 0.60 % 0.06 § 0.14
Diluted net (loss) income per share $ (8.54) § 0.75 0.51 006 § 0.14
Cash dividends paid per share $ 0.04 § 0.07 § 0.04 % 0.04 § 0.04
Weighted average shares:
Basic 5,969 4,389 2,746 1,847 1,818
Diluted 5,969 4,507 4,266 1,913 1,892




2006 - 2005 - - 2004 2003 2002
_ (In thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: :
Cash and cash equivalents : o 8§ 7225 § 4,171 §° 1,800 $ 798§ 1,776
Working capital T 4849 12,735 9,522 13,340 3,299
‘Total assets - 108,227 © 39,146 38,318 11,198 8,812
Revolving credit facility ‘ 13,980 798 1,818 - - -
Notes payable and current portion of long-term ‘
‘debt and capital leases - ©3929 0 Y501 . 54 29 7
Long-term debt and capital leases, net of current portion 7,063 1,929 1‘76' 24 15
Total stockholders' equity 59,789 23;809 © 20,264 ‘ 5,346 4,313

As described in above in Item 1 (see Company History), the Company has acquired several businesses which affect
the comparability of the selected consolidated financial data. The following is a summary of the acquisitions
affecting the comparability of the selected consolidated financial data:

Acquiree Date of Acquisition . Corporate Location
Genome Express, S.A. : March 7, 2006 ‘ Meylan France-.
Icoria, Inc. ~ , December 20, 2005 Research Trlangle Park NC
Electa Lab s.r.] ‘ October 7, 2005 Forli, Italy
Genaissance Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ‘ " Qctober 6, 2005 ~ New Haven, CT ’
Elan Diagnostics, Inc. April 29, 2003 Smithfield, RI
Landmark Scientific, Inc. . April 29, 2003 Greensboro, NC.
Group Practice Services Incorporated April 29,2003 Greensboro, NC

All of the ‘acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordmgly, the results of
operations and balance sheet data of each acquiree listed above have been included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements from the date of acquisition only. These transactxons are described i in further deta11 in Note 3 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements. :

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operanons together with
the “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” included in Item 6 above and our consolidated financial statements and
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical financial
information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private -
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1993, as amended, and within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include
those discussed below and elsewhere in this document, particularly in the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

Readers are cautioned that any forward-looking statements involve known: and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any
future results, performance or achievements ‘expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. The
Jorward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are sub]ect to rzsks uncertainties and assumptions
mcludmg, among other thzngs :
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e our ability to raise the necessary. capital to fund our operations and to develop and commercialize our
products;
our ability to successfully design and conduct our planned clinical trials;
our ability to achieve expected synergies and operating efficiencies in our acquisitions, and to successfully
integrate the operations, business and technology obtained in our acquisitions,
general economic and business conditions in our markets;
the impact of current, pending or future legislation and regulation of our businesses in the U.S. and
abroad; »

»  our expectations and estimates concerning future financial performance, financing plans and the impact of
competition; and '

» the impact of technological developments and competition.

In light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K might not occur. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any
© forward-looking statements made herein because of new information, future events or otherwise.

Overview

Our business activities are reported in four operating segments: (i) molecular services, which is comprised of the
recently acquired operations of Genaissance, Icoria and Genome Express (pharmacogenomic and molecular services
segment); (ii) sales of diagnostic equipment, consumables and services to POLs (POL segment); (iii) sales of
diagnostic equipment, consumables and services to small-to-medium-sized clinics, hospitals and laboratories (clinics
and small hospitals segment); and (iv) all other activities, which includes corporate-related items, results of
insignificant operations and i income and expense not allocated to reportable segments. ‘

As a result of the acquisitions of Genaissance on October 6, 2005 and Icoria on December 20, 2005, we believe we
are now a worldwide leader in providing molecular services, pharmacogenomics, genetic testing and clinical
diagnostics to improve patient care. Our molecular services segment is among the largest independent providers of
pharmacogenomics and metabolomics services globally. Our genomic services are marketed to the pharmaceutical,
biotech, clinical, academic, government_and agricultural marketplaces. We are utilizing pharmacogenomics to
develop genetic based tests and diagnostics and more efficacious therapeutics by, finding genetic markers to guide
drug development and utilization. Our therapeutic product, vilazodone for depression, is in Phase III clinical
development. :

Our future success in molecular services will depend in large part on maintaining a competitive position in the
genomics field, a field that has undergone, and is expected to continue to undergo, rapid and significant change. In
addition, the competition in the pharmacogenomic and molecular services market is intense and includes
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic companies, academic and research institutions and government and
other publicly funded agencies, both in the U.S. and abroad. Our future success in this highly competitive market
depends on our ability to demonstrate that our recently acquired technology platforms, know how, and informatics
technologies and capabilities are superior to those of such competitors and. our ability to advance technologies and
genetic testing franchises. In addition, we must continue to contain costs and move toward profitability while
growing revenues wherever possible.

Funding the continued development of vilazodone is another challenge that we face in our molecular services
business. We currently do not have the cash reserves or the revenue from other sources to fund such development.
In order to successfully commercialize this drug candidate, we will be required to either partner with a third party
that has sufficient resources or raise capital through the sale of our debt or equity securities. Establishing a
partnership with another company could have an impact on the future revenues we can expect to receive from
vilazodone if we have to share some portion of such revenues with a development partner. Additionally, fund
raising could serve to dilute our stockholders’ ownership of us.
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We also face challenges with: respect to.our recent acquisitions. Integrating the operations. and personnel of
Genaissance and Icoria will require-significant efforts from each company, including. the coordination of product,
development, sales and marketing efforts and administrative operations and will be a time-consuming and complex
process. Given that both -Genaissance and Icoria have a history of incurring srgmﬁcant net losses, we face the
challenge of successfully integrating Genaissance and Icoria into businesses that will generate sufficient revenue to
become proﬁtable and will sustain proﬁtablhty if they do become proﬁtable and allevratrng the need for ongoing
capital raises. - \ i » .

With. respect to our diagnostic instrumentation operations, revenues from clinical laboratory testing are anticipated
to grow as a result of the aging of the population, increased healthcare awareness and expanding insurance coverage.
The present focus, however, on greater efficiency in disease management and on reducing health care costs exposes
our customers to a-constant pressure to contain costs. Consequently, in order to remain.competitive and gain market
share in these growing markets, it is essential for us to continue to provide cost-effective technologies and services.
Competition in the medical products industry, which includes our diagnosti¢ instrumentation, reagent and corisulting
services businesses, is intense and expected to increase as new products, technologies and services become available
and new competitors enter the market. Our competitors in the United States, Europe and Asia-Pacific are numerous
and include, among others, large, multi-national diagnostic testing and rhedical products companies. Our future
success depends upon marntarnmg a competitive position in the development and’ distribution of products,
technologies and services in its areas of focus in POLs and smaller clinical laboratories. In order to grow, gain
market share and remain competitive, we must continue to introduce new products, technologies ‘and services, and
invest in research and development.

Financial Operatrons Overvrew N

P Revenues. Our: product revenues are. generated primarily from the sale of. dragnostrc equlpment reagents
and other consumables to POLs and small-to-medium sized clinics, hospitals and laboratories. - -

Our service revenues are generated primarily from (i) service fees, milestone achievements and deliveries of
molecular services data and assays; (ii) maintenance services provided on diagnostic equipment sold by us; and (iii)
laboratory management fees and consulting services provided to POLs and to small-to-medium size clinics,
hogpitals and laboratories.

Cost .of Revenues. Cost of product revenues primarily represent costs to purchase or manufacture the
dragnostlc equipment, reagents and consumables, including equipment, parts and other materials, salaries and related
expenses for personnel, including stock-based compensation expenses, and manufacturlng overhead costs, such as
deprecratlon rent, ut1ht1es and other facilities costs. ’
Cost of service revenues consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for personnel, including stock-based
compensation expenses, laboratory expenses, deprecratron travel and facrhtres expenses, [including rent, utilities and
other fac1l1t1es costs.

Sales and Marketl'ng Expense. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries, commissions and
other related personnel costs, including stock-based compensation expenses, in our sales and marketmg functions.
Other costs primarily include advertising and promotion expenses, direct mailings, trade shows, facility costs and
travel and related expenses. In the POL segnient, sales and marketing expenses include the general sales and
marketing expenses as discussed above as well as costs for technical support and customer service.

-49-




Research and Development Expense. Research and development expense consists primarily of expenses
incurred in developing and testing products and product candidates, including salaries and related expenses for
personnel,-including stock-based compensation expenses, costs of materials, depreciation, rent, utilities and other
facilities costs, fees paid to professional service providers in conjunction with independently monitoring our clinical
trials and acquiring and evaluating data in conjunction with our clinical trials and costs of.contract manufacturing
services. We expense research and development costs as incurred. - ’

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and
other related costs for personnel, including stock-based compensation expenses, in our executive, finance,
accounting, information technology and human resource functions. Other costs primarily include facility costs and
professmnal fees for accounting, consulting and legal services, mcludmg patent-related expenses

Purchased Research and Development Expense Purchased research and development expense represents
the value of the in-process research and development projects at-Genaissance and Icoria that had not yet. reached
technological feasibility and had no alternative use at their dates of acquisition. Such costs were expensed in
accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations - see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for the
method and assumptions used to value the in-process research and development.. c :

Interest and Other Income (Expense) Net Interest expense consists of i mterest incurred under the revolvmg
credlt facility, notes payable and other debt financings. and capital lease obligations. Interest income. consists of
interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. Other income (expense), net conmsts
primarily of foreign currency gains (losses)

Preferred Stock Dividends. Preferred stock dividends consists of dividends accrued on the outstanding
shares of Series A Voting Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) issued in connection with
the acqhulsmon of Genaissance on October 6, 2005. Dividends on outstanding shares are payable on January 5" and
July-5" of each year, when and if declared by the Board of Directors. As of March 31, 2006, the cumulative
dividends accrued on the Series A Preferred ‘Stock totaled-$42,000. The dividends are not payable until each
dividend payment date.

Changes in Foreign Currency Rates

A portion of our balance sheet is denominated in Euros, the functional currency of our Dutch operations, and a
minor portion of our balance sheet is denominated in Australian dolars. The effect of translation of these local
currencies into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes is reflected a$ a separate component of stockholders' equity. The
gains or losses from foreign currency transactions are included in other income (expensé) and have not been material
to the financial statements. The Euro strengthened against the U.S. dollar by 5.9% during fiscal 2006 and 18.2%
during fiscal 2005 from the respective prior fiscal year’s closing rates. The results of our European operations can
be significantly impacted by changes in these foreign exchange rates.

Periodically we enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce the exposure to currency fluctuations on
customer accounts receivable denominated in foreign currency. The objective of these contracts is to minimize the
impact of forelgn currency exchange rate fluctuations on operating results. Derivative financial instruments are not
used for speculative or trading purposes. There were foreign exchange forward contracts with a notional value of
$900,000 outstanding at March 31, 2006. The fair value of these instruments at March 31, 2006 was de minimis.
Gains and losses related to these derivative instruments for fiscal 2006 and 2005 were not 51gmﬁcant We do not
anticipate any material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows
resulting from the use of these instruments. However, ‘there can be no assurance that these strategies will be effective
or that transaction losses can be minimized or forecasted accurately.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolldated
financial statements and notes, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and-judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates and judgments, including those .related to revenue, allowances for doubtful accounts, inventory,
intangibles, goodwill, accrued expenses and income taxes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. A summary of our
significant accounting policies is contained in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition — Theé Company’s revenues from the sale of diagnostic equipment and consumables
are recognized at the time when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price to the
buyer is fixed or determinable and -collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue from maintenance services on
equipment is recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance agreement. Revenue from maintenance services
performed for customers who do not have a maintenance agreement is recognized using the completed contract
method. Revenues from consulting services provided to POLs are generally fixed fee arrangements and such
revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the consulting contract as services are delivered. Along with the
sale of products, training and installation services are provided to the end-user customer, and such revenues are
recognized as the products are delivered or as service are provided, with all revenue measured using objective fair
value.

Revenues from the molecular services segment are derived from licenses of intellectual property, commercial
partnerships and government contracts and grants. Payments from commercial contracts are generally related to
service fees, milestone achievements and deliveries of molecular services data or assays. Payments for service fees
and milestone achievements are recognized as revenues on a progress-to-completion basis over the term of the
respective. contract, except with respect to refundable fees for which revenue recognition does not commence until
the refund right expires. Revenues recognized under the progress-to-completion method are calculated based on
applicable output measures, such as a comparison of the number of genes analyzed to the total number of genes to
be analyzed, assessed on a contract-by-contract basis. To the extent payments received exceed revenue recognized
for each contract or grant, the excess portion of such payments is recorded as deferred revenues. To the extent
revenues recognized exceed payments received for each contract or grant -the excess revenues are recorded as
accounts receivable.

Revenue related to molecular services deliveries are recognized upon the later of delivery or, if applicable, customer
acceptance. Payments received under the Company’s commercial contracts and government contracts and grants are
generally non-refundable regardless of the outcome of the future research and development activities to be
performed by the Company. Payments from government contracts and grants, which are typically cost plus
arrangements, are recognized as revenues as related expenses are incurred over the term of each contract or grant.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — Allowances for doubtful accounts are maintained for estimated losses
resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. These estimated allowances of $1.2
million, $536,000 and $371,000 at March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are periodically reviewed,
analyzing the.customers’ payment history and information known to us regarding customers’ credit worthiness. If the
financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, addmonal allowances may be required. ‘

Inventory Valuation — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Inventory
quantities are periodically reviewed and, when necessary, provisions for excess and obsolete inventories are
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provided. On an ongoing basis, we review the.carrying value of the inventory-and record an inventory impairment
charge at such time as it is believed that the carrying value exceeds the inventory’s net realizable value. Such
assessments are based upon historical sales,.forecasted sales, market condmons and information derrved from our
sales and marketmg professronals C ‘ : ‘ S

In addltlon certain of our products are perishable, and in the event that the product is not sold before the expiration
date; a full valuation reserve against such inventory is provided as soon as it is determined that the product is no
longer marketable due to the expiration date: The product is then dlsposed and written off :

V.aluarion of Intangibles —As drscussed in Note 3 to the consohdated financial statements, we completed
four.business combinations during fiscal 2006 and three business combinations during fiscal 2004. In accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”™) No. 141, Business Combinations, the transactions have
been accounted for based on fair. value. As a result of the purchase price allocations, we recorded purchased total
intangibles of $63.6 million and goodwill totaling $20.0 million in the molecular services segment, goodwil} of $1.2
million in clinics and small hospitals segment. and purchased-intangibles of $1.5 million and goodwill totaling $6.3
million in the POL segment.. The fair value of the purchased intangibles was determined by independent third-party
appraisal based on.either discounted probable cash flows or replacement costs. The interest rates used to discount
the net-cash flows to their present’value were based on the Company’s weighted-average cost of capital ranging
between 16% and 27%. For-a description of the purchased intangibles and their respective fair values, please see.
Note 3 to the consolidated fi nancral statements.

In accordance ‘with the requirements of SFAS No. 142, Goodwzll and Intangible Assets, we perform an annual
impairment test of the carrying value of goodwill using December 31 as our selected annual evaluation date. The
fair value of our recorded intangibles can be impacted by economic conditions, market risks, and the volatility in the
markets in which we and our customers operate. Changes in fair value could result in future impairment charges if
the fair value of the reporting units or asset groups to which these long-lived assets are associated are determined to
be less-than' the carrying value of such assets. As of December 31, 2005 the most recent. evaluation date, there was
no. 1mpa1rment of such goodwrll ‘ ;

In- .accordance with the requirements of SFAS No.. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, when facts and circumstances suggest that there may be an impairment, we will assess the carrying value of
amortizing intangibles, including purchased intangibles and capitalized software. When a potential impairment has
been identified, forecasted undiscounted net cash. flows of the operations to which the asset relates are compared to
the current carrying value of the assets present in that operations. If such cash flows are less than such carrying
amounts, such intangibles are written down to their respective fair values. The results of these periodic impairment
tests can be impacted by our future expected operating results and cash flows, economic conditions, market risks,
and the volatility in the markets in which Clinical Data and its customers operate No 1mpa1rment charges have been
recognized for the periods presented in this annual report. : -

Accrued Expenses — As part of the process of preparing consolidated financial statements we are required
to estimate accrued expenses. This process involves identifying services which have been performed on our behalf
and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost. incurred for such service as of each balance
sheet date in our consolidated financial statements. Examples of estimated expenses for which we accrue include
contract service fees, such as amounts paid to clinical monitors, data management organizations, clinical sites and
investigators in conjunction with clinical trials, and fees paid to contract manufacturers in conjunction with the
production of materials for clinical and non-clinical trials, and professional service fees. In connection with these
service fees, our estimates are. most affected by our understanding of the status and timing of services provided
relative to the actual levels of services incurred by such service providers. In the event-that we do not identify costs
which have begun to be incurred or we under- or over-estimate the level of services performed or the costs of such
services, our reported expenses for such period would be too low or too high, and revenue may be overstated or
understated to the extent such expenses relate to collaborations accountéd for. using the progress-to-completion’
method. The date on which specified services commence, the level of services performed on or before a given date.
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and the cost of such services is often judgmental: We attempt to mitigate the risk of inaccurate estimates, in part, by
communicating with our service providers when other evidence of costs incurred is unavailable. '

Income Taxes — As part of the process of preparing our.consolidated financial statements, we are required
to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our
actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatments of
items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities. As of March 31,
2006, we had federal tax net operating loss carryforwards, after limitation for the change in ownership, of $74.5
million, which expire starting in 2011, federal research and development credit carryforwards of $6.5 million and
net deferred tax assets of $140.8 million. We have recorded a valuation allowance of $141.1 million as an offset
against these otherwise recognizable net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding the timing of the
realization of the tax benefit. In the event that we determine in the future that we will be able to realize all or a
portion of our net deferred tax asset, an adjustment to the deferred tax valuation allowance would increase net
income in the period in which such a determination is made. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains provisions that
may limit the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and credits available to be used in any given year in the
event of a change in ownership; this occurred when we purchased Genaissance and Icoria.

Results of Opérations

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2006 Con_igared to Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2005

Revenues Consolidated revenues increased $12.3 million, or 22%, from $56.4 million in fiscal 2005 to
$68.7 million in fiscal 2006, of which approximately $12.1 million of the increase was generated by Genalssance
and Icoria since their dates of acquisition.

Product revenues increased $817,000, or 2%, from $49.8 million in fiscal 2005 to $50.6 million in fiscal 2006. The
increase was due primarily to increased sales in clinics and small hospitals.

Services revenue increased $11.5 million, or 175%, from $6.6 million in fiscal 2005 to $18.1 million in fiscal 2006.
Revenues include $12.1 million for molecular services due to inclusion of the Genaissance and Icoria operations.

Service revenues in the POL segment decreased approximately $600, 000 due prlmarlly to a change in the market for
such services. _

Gross Prof t Gross profit on product sales increased from 33% in ﬁscal 2005 to 34% in fiscal 2006. The
increase was primarily due to improved pricing and cost control.

Gross profit from services revenues decreased from 52% in fiscal 2005 to 30% in fiscal 2006. The decrease was
primarily due to the inclusion of Genaissance’s and Icoria’s services operations since acquisition. Service activities

at Genaissance and Icoria generate lower gross margms than those in POLs and Clinics and Small Hospitals and
Clinics.

Sales and Marketing Expense Sales and marketing expenses increased $2.2 million, or 41%, from $5.5
million in fiscal 2005 to $7.7 million in fiscal 2006. The increase was due primarily to (i) the inclusion of
approximately $1.3 million of sales and marketing expenses incurred by Genaissance and Icoria since their dates of
acquisition and (ii) higher personnel costs and sales commissions related to increased sales in the Clinics and Small
Hospitals segment and the promotion of new products in the POL segment. We expect the sales and marketing
expenses to increase significantly over the next 12 months as we integrate and build our sales and marketing
function for molecular services.

Research and Development Expense Research and development expenses increased $3.5 million, or 129%,
from $2.7 million in fiscal 2005 to $6.2 million in fiscal 2006. The increase was due primarily to the inclusion of
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approximately $3.4 rnrlhon of research and’ develcpment expenses incurred by Genarssance and Icoria since thelr
" dates of acquisition. * - o o ; .

General and Adwinistrative Expense General and administrative expenses increased $10.7 million, or
161%, from- $6.6 million in fiscal 2005 to $17.3 million-in fiscal 2006. The increase was due primarily.to the
inclusion of approximately $8.6 million of general and:administrative expenses-incurred by Genaissance and Icoria
since-their dates of acquisition and to increased professional fees incurred primarily as a result of the recent mergers
and :other financing activities. We expect the general and administrative expenses to decrease over the: next 12
months as 'we continueto integrate Genaissance and Icoria and increase operational efficiencies. C

Purchased Research and Development Expense Purchased research and development expenses of $39.7
million in fiscal 2006 represents the fair value of the in-process research and development projects at Genaissance of
$36.3. million and atTcoria of $3.4 million-at their dates of acquisition. Since the costs relate to projects that have not
yet reached technological’ feasrbrhty and have no alternative use at their dates of . acqursrtron the costs were
expensed in fiscal 2006. : ‘

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net Interest expense increased $459,000 from $208,000 in fiscal
2005 to $667,000 in fiscal 2006 due primarily to increased borrowings under the revolving credit facility, additional
capital leases to fund fixed asset purchases debt assumed in the acquisition of Genaissance and Icoria and to hrgher
average interest rates. ‘ {

Interest income increased $135,000: from $76,000 in fiscal 2005 to $211,000 in fiscal 2006 due primarily to net
proceeds of $11.9 million received from: the private equity placement in November 2005 and to hrgher average
interest rates.

Other income (expense), net of ($40,000) rn ﬁscal 2006 and $97 000 in ﬁscal 2005 prunarrly represents foreign
currency (losses) and gains. .

Provision For Income Taxes The effective tax rate was (4.6)%. in fiscal 2006 compared to 38.3% in fiscal
2005. Although we incurred a loss in fiscal 2006, the' in-process research and development expense is. not tax
deductible in the United States.and no tax benefit was recorded on the operating losses in the United States as the
deferred tax asset may not be realized. In addition, we recorded a tax provision for the income from our foreign
operations. The fiscal 2005 effective rate represents the federal statutory rate with adjustments for the foreign tax
rate differentials and state taxes payable in the United' States. We expect that for the foreseeable future that we will
not be able to benefit from our losses in the U.S. :

Preferred Stock Dividends Preferred stock dividends of $97,000 represent dividends accrued and / or. paid
durmg fiscal 2006 on the Serres A Preferred Stock 1ssued in connection with the acqulsmon of Genaissance.

Frscal Year Ended March 31,2005 Compared to Flscal Year Ended March 31, 2004

Revenues Consolidated révenues rncreased $3.9 million, or 7%, from $52 5 million in fiscal 2004 to $56.4
million in ﬁscal 2005. Ce “on ‘

Product revenues increased $800 000, or 2%, from $49.0 million in fiscal 2004 to $49. 8 million in fiscal 2005 The
increase, was due primarily to a sales mix' more heavily weighted to higher priced equipment and to favorable
changes in foreign.exchange rates.. o . ‘

Service revenues increased $3.1 million, or 87%, from $3.5 million in fiscal 2004 to $6.6 million in fiscal 2005V due

primarily to-offering in-house field-services to customers versus customers contractmg with a thrrd-party for those
services, and to favorable changes.in foreign exchange rates. : c ‘
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Gross Profit Gross profit on product sales increased from 30% in fiscal 2004 to 33% in fiscal 2005: The
increase was primarily due to a favorable sales mix of higher-margin instruments and to an unusually low margin in
fiscal 2004, The low margin in fiscal 2004 was primarily due to a $1.7 million charge to cost of sales relating to the
write-up of the inventory acquired in the April 2003 mergers to fair value. In accordance with purchase accountmg,
this charge was due to the elimination of the manufacturing profit on the acquired inventories.

Gross profit from services revenues increased from 48%.in fiscal 2004 to 52% in fiscal 2005 due primarily to the
absorption of certain fixed expenses,: 1nc1ud1ng the costs of quality control, service and associated overhead costs
over a larger revenue base. o ‘
o Research and Development Expense Research and development expenses increased approx1mately
$296,000, or 12:4%, from $2.4 million in fiscal 2004 to $2.7 million in fiscal 2005. The increase in research and
development expense was due primarily to (i) the amortization of prior years’ costs on certain projects in the Clinics
and Small Hospitals segment previously capitalized per SFAS 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
to Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise. Marketed”, as the level of activity decreased in ﬁscal 2005 and (i) an increase in
activity associated with the development of new POL products. .
Sales and Marketzng Expense Salés and marketing expenses ‘increased $134 000, or 2.5%, from $5.3
‘million in fiscal 2004 to $5.4 million in fiscal 2005. The sales and marketing éxpenses in the Clinics and Small
Hospitals segment increased approximately $508,000 in fiscal 2005 due primarily to the retention of a sales agent in
China and to increased marketing activities such as advertising. Sales and marketing costs decreased approximately
$3 74,000 in ﬁscal 2005 »in the POL segment due to lower advertising costs and fewer marketing programs,

‘General and Admmzstratlve Expense General and administrative expenses increased approx1mately
$452, 000, or 7.3%, from $6. 2 milliot in fiscal 2004 to $6.6 million in 2005. The general and administrative
expenses in the Clinics and Small Hospitals segment increased approximately $380, 000 primarily due to changes'in
foreign currency exchange rates and an increase in bad debt expense as the allowance for doubtful accounts was
increased to cover one customer whose financial condition was deteriorating. Sales and marketing costs increased
approximately $72,000 in the POL segment in fiscal 2005 due to an increase in finance personnel and related
employee benefit expenses and expenses incurred in preparation for Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 compliance.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net Interest expense decreased $32,000, or 13%, in fiscal 2005 due
to a lower outstanding balance under the revolving credit facility, partially offset by an increase in the levels of long
term debt and the capital lease obligations. Interest income in fiscal 2005 approximated the prior year’s amount.

Other income (expense), net of $97,000 in fiscal 2005 and $25,000 in fiscal 2004 primarily represents foreign
currency (losses) and gains.

Provision for Income Taxes The effective rate was 38.3% in fiscal 2005 versus 11.6% in fiscal 2004. The
effective rate in fiscal 2005 represents the federal statutory rate with adjustments for the foreign tax rate differentials
and state taxes payable in the United States. The effective rate in fiscal 2004 was favorably impacted by the reversal
of previously established valuation allowances on domestic net operating loss carryforwards as such net operating
losses were deemed to be realizable beginning in 2004.

As a result of the factors described above, net income increased from $2.2 million in fiscal 2004 to $3.4 million in
fiscal 2005.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources . ;

We had cash and cash equivalents of $7.2 million at March 31, 2006. We generated net cash flow of $3.0 million
during 2006 as compared to $2.4 million in fiscal 2005. The increased net cash flow in fiscal 2006 was primarily
due to the issuance of common stock and other equity -instruments and to borrowings under debt financing

arrangements.

Our acquisitions in fiscal 2006 were completed by the issuance of an aggregate of 3,039,698 shares of common
stock, 484,070 shares of preferred stock, the assumption of 428,331 common stock warrants, the assumption of
391,965 common stock options and approximately $2.1 million in cash and loans. In addition, on November 17,
2005, we sold 614,405 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase an additional 307,203 shares of
common stock, for' $11.9 million, net of associated costs of $83,000, to certain qualified institutional buyers and
accredited ‘investors, including certain members of our board of directors. The unit price was $19.5625, which
equaled-the closing bid price of our common stock on NASDAQ on the Closing Date, plus $0.0625 per share. The
exercise price of the warrants is $23.40, equaling a twenty percent premium on the closing bid price of the common
stock on NASDAQ on the Closing Date. The warrants are exercisable beginning May 17, 2006 through the close of
business on May 17, 2011, On February 6, 2006, we provided notice to the holders of the warrants that we' were
accelerating the initial exercise date of the warrants for aperiod limited to five days beginning at 12:00PM
on February 6, 2006, and endmg at 5:00PM on February 10, 2006. During this period, certain warrant holders
exercised their right to purchase 153,355 shares of dur common stock, resulting in additional gross proceeds to us of
approx1mate1y $3. 6 million.

During 2006, we . borrowed approximately $3.9 million under our revolving credit facility and other debt
arrangements, including capital leases. During fiscal 2005, we began to acquire certain fixed assets using capitalized
leases. During fiscal 2006 and 2005, we financed approximately $13,000 and $1.3 million of fixed asset purchases
pursuant to capital lease arrangements.
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Our debt obligations at March 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

March 31, March 31,
(In thousands) 2006 2005
» Notes payable, bearing interest at 4.0%-10.4%, with maturities ‘ $301. . $284
between April 2008 and December 2009 and secured by related
equipment :
o  Note payable, bearing interest at 4. 0%, with maturity on J anuary
2010 and monthly payments of $17 and secured by related software 724 894
.o -+ Euro note payable, bearing interest at 5.5%, with maturity on
. September 2007 and quarterly payments of $76 and secured by a :
bank guarantee ' ‘ 452 -
Icoria Acquired Debt i
e  Convertible note payable bearmg interest at 10.0%, with maturity on o
October 2007 and secured by certaln of Icoria’s fixed assets ‘ 3,227 -
Genaissance Acquired Debt
e Notes payable, bearing interest at 6.5%, with maturities between
February 2009 and May 2011 and secured by Genaissance’s
leasehold improvements 3,520 -
Genome Express Acquired Debt '
e Interest-free advance from lending institution with respect to research
© tax credits, with maturity‘in May 2006 340 -
o Interest-free advance from French government under a program to ‘
stimulate national innovations, with maturities between September -
2007 and September 2008 1,134 -
‘ | 19,698 1,178
Less: current portion (3,425) (249)
$6,273 $ 929

During fiscal 2006 and 2005, we financed equipment purchases totaling approximately $136,000 and $116,000,
respectlvely, through the issuance of notes maturlng between April 2008 and December 2009.

During ﬁscal 2005 we entered into a $923,000 five year note payable to finance the purchase and
implementation of our new Enterprise Resource Planning System.

The purchase of Electa Lab .in fiscal 2006 was financed, in part, by the issuance of a note payable with principal
totaling €500,000 (approximately $607 000) The note bears interest at 5.5%, matures in September 2007 and is
secured by a bank guarantee.

At the time of its_acquisition in fiscal 2006, Icoria had (i) an outstanding convertible note payable with a principal
value of approximately $3.3 million; (ii) a secured bank loan with a principal value of approximately $2.2 million;
and (iii) capital lease obligations of approximately $63,000. In connection with the acquisition, we assumed these
obligations. The convertible note payable was payable in cash or convertible into our common stock at a fixed
conversion price of $34.15 per share subject to certain conditions relating to increases in the price of our common
stock above $38.02 per share and the actual trading volume of our common stock. The note holder could elect to



have interest paid in stock at a fixed conversion price of $34.15 per share. The debt could be prepaid with a penalty
of 115% if the payment was made before October 19, 2006 and 110% if paid between October 20, 2006 and October
19, 2007.

The secured bank loan assumed in the Icoria acquisition was scheduled to be repaid monthly through July 2007.
Under the terms of the loan, Icoria was obligated to maintain a deposit account of restricted cash and investments
equal to at least 1.5 times the outstanding principal balance of the debt. In January 2006, we repaid-the remaining
outstanding balance due on this loan with a prepayment premlum of approxxmately $10,000.

At the time of its acquisition in fiscal 2006, Genalssance had approx1mately $8.5 million of notes payable and other
debt outstanding, including approximately $188,000 related to capital leases. In connection with the acquisition, we
assumed these obligations. In December 2005, we repaid approximately $4.5 million in notes payable held by three
funds affiliated with XMark Fund Ltd. that were assumed in the acquisition. There was no pre-payment penalty and
all accrued interest was paid through the retirement date. Genaissance’s other debt primarily represents borrowings
to finance certain leasehold improvements and other costs associated with its facility. The financing agreements
provide for monthly payments of principal and interest with final balloon payments due in March 2009 through June
2011. Borrowings are collateralized by the related leasehold improvements. The financing agreements require us to
comply with certain terms, and we believe that we are in compliance with such terms of March 31, 2006,

In connection with our acquisition of Genome Express in fiscal 2006, we assumed approx1mately £1.5 mllhon of
debt obligations as described above. :

Line of Credit Agreements

At March 31, 2006, we maintained a $10.0 million revolving credit facility at one of our subsidiaries. The line of
credit bears interest at the rate of either 0.25% in excess of prime or 300 basis points above the LIBOR rate (4.34%
at March 31, 2006). Approximately $4.0 million of principal was outstanding at March 31, 2006. The borrowings
under the credit facility are secured by certain trade receivables and inventories. Approximately $1.7 million of
additional borrowing capacity was available to us as of March 31, 2006. On December 2, 2005, we amended the
terms of the credit facility to permit the use of up to $1.5 million of available credit under the revolver for business
operations other than those engaged in by that subsidiary. The credit facility requires us to comply with certain
financial covenants, including tangible net worth, capital expenditure limitations, and fixed charge coverage. As of
March 31, 2006, we did net meet the fixed charge coverage covenant and were granted a waiver of the non-
compliance. There is uncertainty that we will be able to maintain compliance in the future. The revolvmg credlt
fac111ty was automatically’ renewed for one year in March 2006.

We maintain a line of credit agreement with a financial institution which provides for €1.8 million (approximately
$2.2 million) of available credit. The line of credit bears interest at 1.25% above the base rate as reported by the
Netherlands Central Bank with a minimum base rate.of 3.25% (6.25% at March 31, 2006). The line of credit is
collateralized by certain trade receivables and inventories, and contains certain financial covenants relating to
solvency, which are not considered restrictive to our operations. As of March 31, 2006, no amounts were
outstanding under the agreement. '

We maintain a line -of credit agreement with a financial institution which provides for A$300,000 (approximately -
$215,000) of available credit. The line of credit bears interest at 2.98% above the base rate as reported by the
Australian bank’s Business Mortgage Index (8.40% at March 31, 2006). Borrowings under the line are secured by
the assets of our Australian subsidiary. The line of credit requires us to comply with certain financial covenants
There are no amounts outstandmg on this line of credit.




The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at March 31, 2006 and the effects such obligations are.
expected to have on our quuidlty and cash ﬂows in future periods: v ‘ L e

Payments Due by Period
. . . . ‘:"\
Fiscal 2008 ..  Fiscal 2010

. . - . . ‘ . U Through Through After
(In thousands) Total Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2011
Contractual Obligations: '
Short and long-term debt (1) $ 12,109 . § 4560 $. --4733 § 2,777 $ . 39
. -Capital lease obligations (1) . - - 1,544 - 606 739 199 B
Operating lease obligations .o 14,910 4,182 . 5,671 .. 2,881 2,176
Government funded development - Co ‘ . ; : .
credits . ) 256 82 174 . .- -

vTotalcontractualcashobllgations $ 28,819 $ 9430 $ 11317 $ 5,857 % 2,215"

(1) Includes interest expense

During 1996, we entered into a financing arrangement with a Netherlands governmental agency.in connection with
the development of a new product. The grant is to be repaid as a percentage (13. 6%) of the product's gross revenues
as long as the product is a commercial success. We began to ship this product during fiscal year 1998, evidencing its
commercial success. We have deferred all funding received and reported those amounts as development credits
included in accrued expenses ($256,000 at March 31, 2006). When we make a payment to the Netherlands
government, the recorded liability is reduced There is no obligatlon to repay any remaining amounts after 2008.

In _conneetion with the acquisitions of Genaissance, Icoria and Genome Express we recorded resfructliring and
integration reserves totaling approximately $4.6 million, representing. severance of $3.1 million, and lease
termination of $1.5 million.. During fiscal 2006, we paid approximately $748,000 and $405,000, relating to the
severance and lease termination costs, respectively. At March 31, 2006, the restructuring and integration reserves
totaled approximately $3.4 million. We expect the severance costs will be fully paid during the third quarter of fiscal
2007 and the lease termination fee will be fully paid during fiscal 2010.

During fiscal 2007, we'expect to make capital expenditures of approximately $1.5 million primarily to introduce
new products, and improve production of existing products We expect to use our available cash, credit lines and
capital leases to fund these expenditures ‘ : - > ‘

On June 9, 2006, we issued convertible promissory notes to two affiliates of Randal J. Kirk, our Chairman of the
Board. The lenders provided us with $2.0 million to fund working capital needs until such time as we could
complete a new private offering, structured as a private placement to certain institutional and.accredited investors
exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933. The notes, which are payable at thirty
days from the date of issuance, accrue intérest at a'rate of 12% per annumand are convertible at the option of the
- holders into the same type of security sold by us to investors in the first financing following issuance, at a price per
share equal to the last reported closing bid price of the our Common Stock as reported on NASDAQ on the date of
issuance. Our repayment obligations under the notes accelerate upon any material breach by us of our obligations
under the notes, th¢ initiation of any insolvency proceeding by or against us, or the entry of an order for the general
as91gnment for the benefit of creditors, each relating to our assets, or any default by us on ‘any other material
indebtedness which is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our ability to repay the notes. On June
14, 2006, we repaid the notes plus accrued interest of approxrmately $4,000 using a portion of the proceeds from the
private placement of common stock discussed below.
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On June:13, 2006, we closed a private placement of common stock in which we sold 1,039,783 shares of common
stock and warrants to purchase an additional 519,889 shares of common stock for net proceeds of approximately
$17.0 million, after transaction expenses of approximately $50,000, to certain institutional investors, including
certain members of our board of directors. The unit price was $16.2723, which equaled the closing bid price of our
common stock on NASDAQ on the Closing Date, plus $0.0625 per share. The exercise price of the warrants is
$19.45, equaling a twenty percent premium on the closing bid price of the common stock on NASDAQ on the
Closing Date. The warrants are exercisable beginning December 14, 2006 through the close of business on June 13
2011, :

Our sources of cash as of June' 16, 2006, include our cash and cash equivalents balance of approximately $20.8
million, existing lines of credit, cash flows from certain operations of certain divisions, and possible future equity
and/or debt financings. Our projected uses of cash include cash used in operations of certain operating divisions,
capital expenditures, existing debt service costs and continued development of potential products through internal
research, collaborations and, possibly. through strategic acquisitions. As described in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, we have completed four business combinations since October 6, 2005. As part of our stratégy,
we continually evaluate possible mergers, acquisitions and investments. The financing of such activities is
evaluated as part of our review of any opportunity. -

At currently projected rates of expenditure, we believe that additional funding will be required to operate the
Compariy through the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2007, including the funding of Phase III clinical trials for our
lead drug candidate, vilazodone. To reduce our cash utivlization, we'are working to accelerate the integration of
Genaissance and Icoria into our operations. We are considering several options for raising additional funds such as
public or private offerings of equity or debt, or other financing arrangements. The sale of any equity or’ debt
securities may result in additional dilution to our stockholders, and we cannot be certain that additional financing
will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain any required additional
financing, we may be required to reduce the scope of our’planned research, development and commercialization
activities, including our efforts related to vilazodone, HAP and other new technologies, which could harm our
financial condition and operating results. Additional equity financing may be dilutive to the holders of our common
stock and debt financing, if available, may involve significant cash payment obhgatlons and covenants that restrlct
our ability to operate our business. : .

'

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks, which mclude changes in interest rates, as well as changes in forelgn cutrency
exchange rates as measured against the U.S. dollar and each other. We attempt to minimize some of these risks by
using foreign currency forward and swap contracts. These hedging activities provide only limited protection against
interest rate and currency exchange risks. Factors that could influence the effectiveness of our programs include
volatility of the interest rate and currency markets and availability of hedging instruments. All interest rate swap and
currency contracts that we enter into are components of hedging programs and are entered into for the sole purpose
of hedging an existing or anticipated interest rate and currency exposure, not for speculation. ‘

Interest Rate Risk’

We use a combmatlon of fixed rate term loans, variable rate lmes of credlt and fixed rate leases to finance our
activities. Our term loans and leases are all at fixed rates over their lives and carry no interest rate risk. Asa result
of our existing variable rate credit lines and loan agreements, we are exposed to risk from changes in interest rates.
As of March 31, 2006, we had $4.0 million outstariding on our domestic line of credit carrying an interest rate of
0.25% over Prime (8.0%) ahd a convertible note with an outstanding balance of $3.3 million carrying an interest rate
of 2.5% over Prime (10.25%). A hypothetlcal 10% change in interest rates would not materially lmpact our annual
interest expense.




Foreign Exchange

The value of certain foreign currencies as compared to the U.S. dollar may affect our financial results. Fluctuations
in exchange rates may positively or negatively affect our revenues, gross margins, operating expenses, and retained
earnings, all of which are expressed in U.S. dollars. Where we deem it prudent, we engage in hedging programs,
using primarily foreign currency forward and swap contracts, aimed at limiting the impact of foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations on earnings. We purchase short-term foreign currency forward and swap contracts to
protect against currency exchange risks associated with long-term intercompany loans due to our international
subsidiaries and the payment of merchandise purchases to foreign vendors. We do not hedge the translation of
foreign currency profits into U.S. dollars, as we regard this as an accounting and not an economic exposure. ‘

As of March 31, 2006, we had outstanding foreign currency forward and swap contracts aggregating $900,000, all of
which related to intercompany debt. The fair value of the forward contracts and the related gains and losses were not
material as of and for the year ended March 31, 2006.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by this item is attached to this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on Page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer, or CEQ, and Chief Financial Officer, or
CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(b) under the
Securities and Exchange Act) as of March 31, 2006. Based on its evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that, as
of March 31, 2006, our disclosure controls and procedures were (1) designed to ensure that material information
relating to us is made known to our CEO and CFO by others within the Company, particularly during the period in
which this report was being prepared and (2) effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Securities and Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported with in the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms.

On May 12, 2006, Andrew J. Fromkin, previously Executive Vice President of Clinical Data and President of its
PGxHealth operations, was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Clinical Data, while Israel M. Stein,
M.D., previously Clinical Data’s President and Chief Executive Officer, was appointed Executive Vice Chairman.
Effective May 30, 2006, Mark Shooman, our then-Chief Financial Officer and principal accounting officer,
resigned. As a result, our Board of Directors appointed Israel M. Stein as Acting Chief Financial Officer and
principal accounting officer for purposes of evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, as described above,
and for signing the Section 302 and 906 certifications included with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls
No change in our internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the

Securities and Exchange Act) occurred during the period covered by this report that materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

» " PARTIIIL
ITEM 10, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE ‘OFFI>CERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The mformatlon requlred by thls 1tem w111 be contamed in. our_definitive Proxy Statement to be ﬁled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in connection with our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Proxy Statement”) under the headings “Election of Directors”, “Board of Directors Meetings and Committees of
the Board” and “Executwe Ofﬁcers” and is mcorporated herein by reference. |

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all our directors, officers and e‘r’nployeeé This eode is publicly
available on our website at www.clda.com. Amendments.to the code of ethics and any: grant of a waiver from a
provision of the code requiring disclosure under applicable SEC and NASDAQ rules will be disclosed on our
website. . . : :

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading
“Executive Compensation and Other Information.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heé{ding
“Security Ownership of. Certain. Beneficial Owners .and Management” and. “Equity Compensation Plan
Informatjon.” | ' ' '

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this ltem ‘to the extent apphcable, is mcorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement
under the heading “Certain Relatlonshlps and Related Transactlons .

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNT'I'NG FEES AND SERVICES

The. information required by this item is mcorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading
“Relanonshlp with Independent Accountants : .

t
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- PARTIV.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part of this report.

2. Consolidated Financial Statenieht,Schedules‘

All schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or
because the required inforimation is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes
thereto.

3. Exhibits




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchiange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on June 24, 2006.

CLINICAL DATA, INC.

/s/ Andrew J. Fromkin
Dated: June 28, 2006 Andrew J. Fromkin.
. President and Chief Executive Officer
Principal Executive Officer

/s/ Israel M. Stein, M.D.
Dated: June 28, 2006 Israel M. Stein, M.D.
Executive Vice Chairman
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Dated: June 28, 2006 s/ Randal J. Kirk
Randal J. Kirk
Chairman of the Board

Dated: June 28, 2006 /s/ Israel M. Stein, M.D.
Israel M. Stein, M.D.
Executive Vice Chairman of the Board, Director

Dated: June 28, 2006 {s/ Larry D. Horner
Larry D. Horner
Director

Dated: June 28, 2006 : /s/ Arthur B. Malman
Arthur B. Malman
Director

Dated: June 28, 2006 {s/ Joseph Klein, III
Joseph Klein, III

Director

Dated: June 28, 2006 /s/ Burton E. Sobel
Burton E. Sobel
Director

Dated: June 28, 2006 /s/ Kevin Rakin

Kevin Rakin
Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Clinical Data, Inc.
Newton, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Clinical Data, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders'
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2006. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our respons1b111ty is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. . . N

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were
we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in . the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended March 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

The accompanying financial statements for the year ended march 31, 2006 have been prepared assuming that the
Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company’s
accumulated deficit, negative cash flows from operations and the expectation that the Company will continue to
incur losses in the future raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s
plans concerning these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Boston, Massachusetts
June 27, 2006




CLINICAL DATA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
March 31,
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2006 2005
ASSETS |
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ' $°7,225° $ 4,171
Accounts receivable, net . 17,291 9,883
Inventories, het : . ) 14,090 9,451
Deferred income taxes ‘ 54 727
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ) 5,135 1,176
Total current assets © 43,795 25,408
Property, plant and equipment, net 10,904 3,648
Goodwill - 27,547 6,350
Intangible assets, net - . 24,268 2,782
Other assets, net : 1,713 958
TOTAL ASSETS $108,227 $ 39,146
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities: : :
Revolving credit facility : ‘ $ 3,980 $ 798
Current portion of long-term debt . 3,425 249
Current portion of capital leases , . . ~ 504 - 252
Accounts payable ‘ : . 10,838 4,322
Accrued expenses ‘ 14,678 4,633
Customer advances and deferred revenue : : 3,813 1,761
Other current liabilities o 1,708 658
Total current liabilities . ‘ . 38,946 12,673
Long-Term Liabilities: «
Long-term debt, net of current portion ‘ 6.273 929
Capital leases, net of current portion o ‘ 790 1,000
Deferred income taxes L 350 366
Other long-term liabilities v 1,964 274
Total long-term liabilities _ E , 9,377 2,569
Minority Interest I 15 95

Commitments arid Contingencies (Note 9)

Stockholders® Equity: - - ‘
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 1,500,000 shares authorized Series A voting, convertible preferred stock,

234,000 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2006, liquidation preference of $5,337 . 2 N
Common stock, $.01 par value, 14,000,000 and 12,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2006 and

2005, respectively; 8,520,000 shares issued and’ 8,510,000 shares outstanding at March 31, 2006;

4,405,000 shares issued and 4,395,000 shares outstanding at March 31, 2005 8 44
Additional paid-in capital ‘ 105,145 16,995
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings - (45,810) : 5,344
Treasury stock, 10,000 shares at cost o “émn 47
Deferred compensation ‘ (318) -
Accumulated other comprehensive income = ‘ 732 1,473

Total stockholders' equity . ) . . N 59,789 23,809
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ‘ ' $108,227 $39,146

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CLINICAL DATA, INC."AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended March 31, .
(in thousands, except per share amounts) ' ' 2006 . 2005 2004
REVENUES .
Products $50,625 $ 49,808 $ 48,994
Services 18,123 6,592 3,526
Total _ 68,748 56,400 52,520
COST OF REVENUES
Products 33,289 32,901 34,160
Servicgs 12,714 '3,146 1,835
Total 46,003 36,047 35,995
Gross profit 22,745 20,353 16,525
OPERATING EXPENSES: . , , o
Sales and marketing 7,696 5,455 5,321
Research and development 6,167 2,687 2,391
General and administrative 17,315 6,647 6,195
Purchased research and development 39,700 - -
Total operating expenses _ 70,878 14,789 13,907
(Loss) income from operations ‘ ' (48,133) 5,564 2,618
Interest expense (667) (208) (240)
Interest income 211 76 72
Other income (expense), net . (40) 97 25
(Loss) income before provision for income taxes and
minority interest (48,629) 5,529 © 2,475
Provision for income taxes (2,232) (2,118) T (287 !
Minority interest ' (20) (16) (7)
Net (loss) income (50,881) 3,395 2,171
Preferred stock dividend 7 - (525)
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders $(50,978) $3,395 $1,646
Basic net (loss) income per share - $(8.54) $0.77 $0.60
Diluted net (loss) income per share ‘ ’ $(8.54) $0.75 $0.51
Weighted average shares: .
Basic 5,969 4,389 2,746

Diluted 5,969 4,507 - 4,266

‘See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CLINICAL DATA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

~ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended March 31,
{(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ‘
Net (loss) income ‘ $(50,881) $3,395 $2,171
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income . . - :
to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities: - :
Depreciation and amortization L 6,292 1,343 ot 1,317
Purchased research and development costs ‘ 39,700 - 2 .
Stock based compensation - ' 540 - -
Loss (gain) on sale of equipment 17 |S SN )
Deferred income taxes 4 L ‘ N N 967 - 730 : (763)
Minority interest : : 20 16 , 17
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of acquired busmesses ' ‘ o
Accounts receivable : (61) 2,638 (1 933)
Inventories , \ (3,911 70 3,181
Prepaid expenses and other current assets =~ ' ‘ 1954 511 942
Accounts payable . , : \ 2,935 (2,680) 1,707
Accrued expenses (3,483) (1,048) (408)
" Customer advances and deferred revenue : 440 (572) . (428)
Other current liabilities - - : - 289 (26) 313
Net cash (used 1n) prov1ded by operatmg activities (6,182) 4,388 6,109
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of companies, net of cash- acqu1red (322) - (6,050)
- Purchase of equipment S (1,074) (751 (643)
Proceeds from sales of equipment . — 127 68 103
Capitalization of software development costs {175 (247) (459)
Net cash used in investing activities =~ : (1,444) - (930) © (7,049

(Continued)




CLINICAL DATA, INC.-AND SUBSIDIARIES

-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF €CASH FLOWS

(Continued)
' Years ended March 31,
(in thousands)  ~ ' o ' T -2006 ' 2005 T 2004
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net proceeds from (payments on) revolving credit facility - § 3182 $(1,020) $ 1,818

Proceeds from long-term debt = 121 173 . 242

Payments on debt and capital lease obligations (7,331 (194) (70)

Stockholder dividends ' (23D (354) (173)

Proceeds from the sale of common stock and warrants 11,936 ‘ .

Proceeds from the exercise of warrants 3,589

Exercise of stock options 331 9 58
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 11,597 (1,386) 1,875

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON .

-CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ' T (917) 299 66
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,054 2,371 1,001
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR v 4,171 1,800 799
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR .. . .S 7',225:  $4,171 $ 1,800
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for: ‘
Interest $ 666 $° 200 $ 219
Income taxes - $ 1,331 $2,028 $ 610

. Non-cash transactions: _ _
Accruéd acquisition costs ’ ’ T $ 60 3$ . $ . 407
Equity issued in business acquisitions - $71,479 $ - $12,024
Debt issued in business acquisitions , $ 607 $ - $ -
Equipment acquired through capital leases and long-term debt $ 149 $1,355 $ -
Intangible assets acquired through long-term debt $ - $ 923 $ -

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

(Concluded)
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CLINICAL DATA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
- NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004
(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Clinical Data, Inc. (the “Company”) is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Newton, Massachusetts.
Traditionally, the Company’s primary business activities were focused on serving the needs of physician’s office
laboratories (“POLs”) and scientific instrumentation used in clinical and analytical laboratories. Substantially all
traditional operations were conducted through three operating subsidiaries located in the United States, Netherlands
and Australia. The Company’s United States subsidiary, Clinical Data Sales & Service, Inc. (“CDSS”), supplies a
range of products and services, from equipment and reagents to lab management and consulting services to POLs
and small and medium sized medical laboratories in the United States. The Company's Dutch subsidiary, Vital
Scientific NV (“Vital Scientific™), designs and manufactures scientific instrumentation. The Company's Australian
subsidiary, Vital Diagnostics Pty Ltd. (“V1tal D1agnost1cs”), distributes d1agnost1c mstruments and assays in the
South Pacific.

As described in Note 3, the Company completed four business combinations during fiscal 2006. Genaissance
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Genaissance”) was acquired on October 6, 2005; Electa Lab s.r.l. (“Electa Lab™) was
acquired on October 7, 2005 ; Icoria, Inc. (“Icoria”) was acquired on December 20, 2005 and Genome Express
S.A. (“Genome Express”) was acquired on March 7, 2006. Genaissance and Icoria are headquartered in the United
States; Electa Lab in Italy and Genome Express in France. The acquired businesses had a significant impact on the
reported results of operations and financial position for fiscal 2006 and will have a significant impact on future
operations and cash flows. Prior to the acquisitions, Genaissance, Icoria and Genome Express reported significant
operating losses and used significant cash in operations. These operating losses are expected to continue for the
next twelve months or longer depending upon the business developments and research and development eﬁ”orts of
" the acquired businesses.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a basis which assumes that the Company will
continue as a going concern and which contemplates the reahzatlon of assets and the satisfaction of hablhnes and
commitments in the normal course of business. :

The Company’s sources -of cash as of March 31, 2006, include cash balances, existing lines of credit, cash flows
from operations of .certain divisions, and possible future equity and/or debt financings The. Company’s projected
uses of cash include cash to be used in operations of certain operating divisions, capital expenditures, debt service
costs and continued development of potential products through internal research, collaborations and, possibly
through strategic acquisitions. Subsequent to March 31, 2006, the Company has undertaken several steps to improve
liquidity and reduce its projected uses of cash, including completion of a private placement of common stock for net
proceeds of approximately $17.0 million and the restructuring of certain long-term debt and lease obligations — see
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. At currently projected rates of expenditure, management believes
that additional funding will be required to operate the Company through the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2007,
including the funding of Phase III clinical trials for the Company’s lead drug candidate, vilazodone, which was
acquired in the Genaissance transaction. To reduce its cash utilization, the Company is workmg to accelerate the
integration of Genaissance and Icoria into the Company’s operations. The Company will seek such financing from
public or private issuances of equity or debt securities, or from collaborations with third parties or government
grants. If the Company is unable to obtain any required additional financing, it may be required to reduce the scope
of its planned research, development and commercialization activities, including those efforts related to vilazodone,
which could harm the Company’s financial condition and operating results,

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.




(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America necessarily requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Accounting estimates are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents v ‘
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and hlghly hqu1d instruments wrth remaining maturities of 90 days or less

when purchased and consist of operatmg and savmgs accounts.

Accounts Receivable -+ :
The Company carries its accounts recervable net of an allowance for. doubtful accounts Accounts receivable
balances are evaluated on a continual basis and allowances are provided for potentially uncollectible accounts based
on management's estimate of the collectibility of customer.accounts. If the financial condition of a customer weére to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, an additional ailowance may be required.
Allowance adjustments are charged to operations in the period in which the facts that give rise to the ad)ustments
become known. The Company does not record interest income on past due accounts.

A summary of the act1v1ty in the allowance for uncollectible accounts for the years ended March 31 is as follows

(in thousands) . S : 2006 2005 : 2004
Allowance for uncollect1ble accounts - begmmng of year ' $ 536 ‘ $371 $ 97
Provisions - 1,124 252 272
' Less: deductions %' S ' ' (444) - ©(87) - (98)
Allowance for uncollectible accounts — end of year ' $1,216 $ 536 . $371
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ﬁrst-m ﬁrst-out) or market Inventory quantities are periodically
reviewed and, when necessary, provisions for excess and obsolete inventories are provided. On an ongoing basis,
the Company reviews the carrying value of its inventory and records an inventory impairment charge at such time as
it is believed that the carrying value exceeds the inventory’s net realizable value. Such assessments are based upon
historical sales, forecasted sales, market conditions and mformanon derrved from the Company’s sales and
marketing professionals.

In addition, certain of the Company’s products are perishable and carry expiration dates. Customers require a
minimum useful life béfore expiration of these products In the event that the product will not be sold before this
minimum useful life, a full valuation reserve against such inventory is provided as soon as it is deterrmned that the
product is no longer marketable The product is then drsposed and written off.

No srgmﬁcant inventory charges have been recorded in the years presented.




(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Inventories consist of the following at March 31:

(in thousands) S 2006 . 2005

Raw materials™ - ‘ - $6,425 $3,896
Work-in-process . - BER Cow : 1,643 \ 746
Finished goods ‘ ‘ Lo 6,022 4, 809

- ‘ ' ‘ $ 4,090 $ 9,451

Depreciation and Amortization

The Company provides for depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method: by charges to operatlons in
amounts that depreciate the cost of equipment over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful hves by asset
classification, are as follows

Asset Classification L _ _ . - Useful Lives
Manufacturmg and computer equlpment , . o "3-7 years
Laboratory equipment . L 5-7 years
Leasehold improvements ' ‘ Lesser of useful life or life of lease
Furniture and fixtures : - 2-7 years
Vehicles 3-5 years'

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of thése assets is determined by comparing
the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relate to their carrying amount. If an
impairment is indicated, the assets are written down to fair value. Fair value is determined based on discounted cash

flows or appraised values, depending on the nature of the assets. No such impairments have been recorded in the
years presented.

During fiscal 2006 and 2005, the' Company capitalized leases with a principal value of $13,000 and $1.35 million,
respectively. In connection with the acquisitions during fiscal 2006, the Company assumed $397,000 of capital lease
obligations. Amortization of assets under capital leases totaled $234,000 and $29,000 during fiscal 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The assets recorded under capitalized leases are included ‘within manufacturing and computer
equipment. There were no capitalized leases in fiscal 2004.

Goodwill and Intanglble «
The Company’s intangible assets consist of (i) goodwill which is not being amortized, (ii) purchased amortlzmg
intangibles which primarily include customer relationships and completed technology which are being amortized

over their useful lives, and (iii) capitalized software development costs which are also being amortized over their
useful lives. ' ' ' o

The Company completed its annual impairment test of goodwill, as required by Statement of Financial Standards
(“SFAS™) No. 142, Goodwill and other Intangible Assets, as of December 31, 2005. The Company, assisted by an
independent valuation specialist, concluded that as of December 31, 2005, there was no impairment of goodwill.
This same impairment. test will be performed at other times dunng the course of the year. should an event occur
which suggests that the goodwﬂl should be evaluated.




(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Software Development Costs

The Company has capitalized certain software development costs incurred in connection with the software
embedded in an analysis product in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed. SFAS No. 86 requires the Company to capitalize
those costs incurred for the software development once technological feasibility has been established. Capitalization
ends and amortization begins when the product is available for sale to the customer. During fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, the Company capitalized approximately $175,000, $247,000 and $459,000, respectively which is included as
a component of intangible assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Amortization has been recognized based on the greater of the ratio that current gross revenues for a producf line bear
to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenues for that product, or the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the product. The estimated useful life for the straight-line method is generally over 4 years,
Unamortized capitalized software development costs determined to be in excess of net realizable value of the
product are expensed immediately. Of the total amortization of intangible assets, amortization related to capitalized
software recorded during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 was approximately $160,000, $105,000 and $64,000,
respectively, and is included in the cost of revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Amortization is expected to total $337,000 in 2007, $337,000 in 2008, $299,000 in 2009 and $194,000 in 2010.

Warranties
The Company provides for warranties based on historical claims experience. The Company provides a one-year
product warranty for the sale of certain of its products. A provision is made at the time the related revenue is
recognized for the estimated costs of product warranties. Extended warranties are available to customers at an
additional cost. Revenues from the sale of extended warranties are deferred -and recognized over the term of the

extended warranty period.

A summary of warranty reserve activity for the years ended March 31 is as follows:

(in thousands) ‘ 2006 2005 2004
Accrued warranty ~ beginning of year , ‘ ~ $605 $1,018 $123°
Assumed during the purchase of assets of Elan Dlagnostlcs L | » - - 1,354
Assumed during the purchase assets of Electa Lab . .25 - -
Provisions ~ 451 . 379 619
Less: warranty claims (591) (792) (1,078)
Accrued warranty — end of year ©$ 490 . - $ 605 $ 1,018

Minority Interest
The minority interest as shown in the financial statements reflects the 7.5% of Vital Diagnostics owned by an officer

of Vital Diagnostics.

- Derivatives . =

The Company records its foreign currency. exchange contracts at fair value in its consolidated balance sheets. The
Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce the exposure to-currency fluctuations. on
customer accounts receivable denominated in foreign currency. The objective.of these contracts is to minimize the
impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on operating results. Derivative financial instruments are not
used for speculative or trading purposes. There were foreign exchange forward contracts with a notional amount of
$900,000 outstanding at March 31, 2006. The fair value of derivative instruments and the related gains and losses on
derivative instruments were not material as of and for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.




(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):

- Revenue Recognition ‘ o

The Company’s revenues are recogmzed at the time when persuaswe eV1dence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred, the price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Product
revenues are generally recognized upon shipments. Revenue from maintenance services on equipment is recognized
ratably over the term of the maintenance agreement. Revenue from services performed for.customers who do not
have a maintenance agreement is recognized using the completed contract method. Consulting revenues from
services provided to POLs are generally fixed fee arrangements and such revenues are recognized ratably over the
term of the consulting contract as services are delivered. Along with the sale of products, training and installation
services are provided to the end-user customer, and such revenues are recognized as the product is delivered or as
service is provided, with all revenue measured using objective fair value.

Revenues from the newly created Molecular Services segment are derived from licenses of iintellectual property,
commercial partnerships and government contracts and grants. Payments from commercial contracts are generally
related to service fees, milestone achievements and deliveries of molecular services, data or assays. Payments for
service fees and milestone achievements are recognized as revenues on a progress-to-completion basis over the term
of the respective contract, except with respect to refundable fees for which revenue recognition does not commence
until the refund right expires. Revenue related to Molecular Services deliveries are recognized upon the later of
delivery or, if applicable, customer acceptance. Payments received under the Company’s commercial contracts and
government contracts and grants are generally non-refundable regardless of the outcome of the future research and
development activities to be performed by the Company. Payments from government contracts and grants, which are
typically, cost plus arrangements, are recognized as revenues as related expenses are incurred over the term of each
contract or grant.

Revenues recogmzed under the progress-to-completlon method for commercial contracts are calculated based on
applicable output measures, such as a comparison of the number of genes analyzed to the total number of genes to
be analyzed, assessed on a contract-by-contract basis. To the extent payments received exceed révenue recognized
for each contract or grant, the excess portion of such payments is recorded as deferred revenues. To the extent
revenues recognized exceed payments recelved for each contract or grant the excess revenues are recorded as
" accounts receivable.

Research and Development Costs _
The Company charges research and development costs to operations as incurred. .

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of differences between the carrying
amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities and operating loss carryforwards using enacted rates expected to be in
effect when those differences reverse. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets that are not
expected to be realized.

N Comprehensive {Loss) Income

Comprehensive (loss) income includes charges and credits to equity that are not the result of transactions with
stockholders. Included in other comprehensive (loss) income for the Company are the cumulative translation
adjustments related to the net assets of the foreign operations. These adjustments are accumulated within the
consolidated statements-of stockholders’ equity under the caption accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.

F-13




(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign Currency
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries denominated in foreign currency are translated to U.S.

dollars at year-end exchange rates and income statement accounts are translated at weighted-average rates in effect
during the year. For ‘those subsidiaries whose functional currency is other than the United States dollar, the
translation adjustment into U.S. dollars is credited or charged to accumulated other comprehensive income, mcluded
asa separate component of stockholders equlty in the accompanymg consohdated balance sheets

Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in other income (expense), net in the consolldated
statements of operations. For fiscal 2006, the net foreign exchange loss was $(26, 000) and for ﬁscal 2005 and 2004
net foreign exchange gains were $106 ,000 and $25 000, respectively.

.-Equity-Based Compensation :

The - Company accounts for equity awards 1ssued to employees using, 1ntr1n51c value principles of Accounnng
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No..25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and the related
interpretations.  No steck-based employee compensation for stock options is reflected in net loss or net income as all
options.granted under the plan had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on
the date of grant (or 110% of the market value on the date of grant if the options were granted to a holder of more
than 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding stock). During fiscal 2006, the Company granted 16,000 shares
of restricted common stock to certain members of the Board of Directors; one-half vested immediately-and the
remainder will vest in October 2006. The fair value of these shares totaled $286,000 or $17.90 per share. Total
¢ompensation expense recognized with respect to these shares during fiscal 2006 totaled $192,000. During fiscal
2006, in connection with the acquisitions of Genaissance and Icoria, the Company issued 42,000 shares of restricted
stock with a fair value of $236,000 and 392,000 options to purchase common stock with a fair value of $336,000 to
employees and consultants of the acquired businesses to replace préviously rssued awards. Total compensation
expense recognized w1th respect to the assumed restrlcted stock and stock optlons durmg “fiscal 2006 totaled
$348, 000

The following table illustrates the effect on net incorné and earn'l'ngs per share if the Company had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, for fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004:

(in thousands, except per share amounts) o T © 2006 2005 2004

Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders, as reported $(50,978) $3,395 $1,646
Add: total stock-based compensation mcluded in reported net A
iricome, net of taxes’ 540 - -

'Less: total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax

effects (889) (108) - (101
Pro-forma net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders $(51,327) $3,287 $1,545
Reported basic net (loss) income per share ' . | S v , - $(8.54) $0.77 - $0.60
Pro forma basic net (loss) income per share o : ‘ $(8.60) . $0.75 $0.56
Reported diluted net (loss) income per share - $(8.54) $0.75 ~ $0.51

Pro.forma diluted net (loss) income per share $(8.60) $0.73 $0.49




(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The assumptions used to calculate the pro forma disclosure and weighted average information for fiscal 2006 and
2004 is set out in the table below. There were no options issued during fiscal 2005.

2006 2004

Risk-free interest rate. . ‘ . 3.88-4.75% i ©2.0-3.0%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% ' 0.44% -
Expected lives 3-5 years 3— 5 years
Expected volatility o 32-43% . 43— 66%

- Weighted average grant date fan’ Value $30.17 $2.64

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based
Payment. This statement is a revision of SFAS No. 123, and its related implementation guidance. SFAS No. 123R
focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based
payment transactions. The statement requires entities to recognize stock compensation expense. for awards of equity
instruments to employees based on the grant-date fair. value of those awards (with limited exceptions).

On April 15, 2005, the SEC issued a rule that has delayed the effective date for the ifnplementation of SFAS No.
© 123R until the start of the Company’s fiscal year beginning on April 1, 2006.

The Company expects to adopt SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective ‘application method. Adoption of
SFAS No. 123R is expected to increase stock compensation expense. Assuming the continuation of current
programs, the preliminary estimate is that additional stock compensation expense with respect to stock options
issued as of March 31, 2006 which will be recorded in the consolidated statements of operations for fiscal 2007 will
be approximately $950,000. In addition, SFAS No. 123R requires that the excess tax benefits related to stock
compensation to be reported as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of taxes paid in cash from
operations.

Concentration of Credit Risk ‘ ;
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credlt risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company maintains substantially all of its cash in four financial
institutions, believed to be of high-credit quality. The Company grants credit to customers in the ordinary course of
business and provides, a reserve .for potential credit losses, . Such losses have been within management’s
expectations. See discussion related to significant customers in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments -
The estimated fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, which include cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, the revolving credit facility, long-term debt and capital leases, approximates their
carrying value due to the current maturities of these instruments or the competitive ‘interest rates that are applicable
to the instruments:. : B

ER
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(2) Net (Loss) Income per Share o B

Basic net (loss) income per share is determined by dividing net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders by
the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding' during the period. Diluted earnings per share is
determined by dividing net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders by diluted weighted average shares
outstanding. Diluted weighted average shares reflects the dilutive effect, if any, of potentially dilutive common
shares, such as common stock options calculated using the treasury stock method and convertible preferred stock
using the “if- converted” method. '

The numbers of basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding are as follows at March 31:

. {(in thousands) R o R 2006 2005 2004
~ Basic weighted average commiton shares o'ufStanding : ‘ 5,969 4,389 2,746
- Dllutlve effect of common stock optlons ' o e 118 o121
Dilutive effect of votmg convertlble Series A preferred stock ' - . © 1,399

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 3,969 4,507 4,266

The following dilutive securities were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculations as at March 31,
:2006, because the inclusion of these amounts would have been anti-dilutive because the Company has a net loss.

(in thousands) . . , : < 2006
Common stock options C T 612

- Common stock warrants -+~ - - < 452
Restricted common stock , ' 16
Convertible note payable : 95
Convertible Series A preferred stock . . 234

Dilited weighted average shares outstanding : 1,409 .

There weré no-outstanding common stock options excliided from the diluted earnings per share calculations as of
March 31, 2005. There were 2,000 common stock options outstanding at'March 31, 2004 which were not included
in the diluted earnings per share calculations as the effect of including these options would have been anti-dilutive
because the exercise price was greater than the average market price of the Company’s common stock.

3) Business 'Combinations

Genalssance Pharmaceutlcals Inc '
On October 6, 2005, the Company acquired all of the outstandmg shares of Genaissance in exchange for 484,070
shares of a newly designated voting, convertible Series A preferred stock (“Series A Preferred Stock) and
approximately 2.3 million shares of the Company’s common stock. The Series A Preferred Stock was valued at its
common stock equivalent, $19.66 per share, and the common stock was valued at $19.66 per share, the average of
the trading price two days before and two days after June 20, 2005, the date of the announced acquisition.

The Company also issued warrants to purchase 386,000 shares of common stock with an aggregate fair value of
approximately $1.2 million., The warrants were immediately exercisable and have exercise prices ranging from
approximately $26.00 per share to approximately $64.15 per share and expire on dates ranging from April 30, 2006
through April 21, 2010.




(3) Business Combinations (continued)

The Company has reserved 349,000 shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to the options assumed in
connection with the acquisition. The options have a weighted average exercise price of $49.10 per share and a
remaining contractual term of 6.7 years The aggregate fair value, measured using the Black-Scholes model, totaled
approximately $1.6 million.

The cost of the transaction is comprised of:

(in thousands)

Value of the Company’s common stock $45,570
Value of the Company’s Series A preferred stock 9,517
Fair value of stock options and warrants 2,846
Transaction costs 1,248
Less: cash acquired , (978)

$58,203

Genaissance develops products based on its proprietary pharmacogenomic technology and has a revenue-generating
business in DNA and pharmacogenomic products and services. The product development strategy is focused on
drug candidates with promising clinical profiles and finding genetic markers to identify a responsive patient
population. The Company believes that Genaissance is a strong strategic fit, enabling the. Company to enter the
molecular diagnostics market in a meaningful way. Genaissance has two clinically relevant molecular diagnostic
tests available commercially and additional developmental opportunities in the central nervous system and
cardiovascular area. The Company believes that the acquisition will allow the Company to leverage its market
knowledge and experience with Genaissance’s platform to become a leading phannacogenomlcs company with high
margin, proprietary tests and services servmg broad markets. ‘ ‘

The purchase price has been allocated to the tangible and 1dentiﬁable intangible assets of Genaissance acquired and
the liabilities assumed based on the fair values on the acquisition date as follows:

Purchase Price Allocation (in thousands)

Accounts receivable S $4,717
Inventories ‘ 517
Other current assets 1,269
Equipment ‘ ‘ 6,040
Intangible assets o 53,150
Long-term assets 373
Accounts payable (1,621)
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations (5,104)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (8,217)
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations (3,338)
Long-term liabilities (1,593)
Deferred compensation for unvested options, restricted common stock and warrants , 521
Goodwill ' 11,489
Total purchase price ‘ £58,203
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(3) Business Combinations (continued)

The allocation of the fair value of Genaissance’s identifiable intangible assets is as follows:

Weighted

Increase Average
(in thousands) in Value Useful Life
Completed technology $9,000 4.6 years
In-process research and development 36,300
Customer relationships ... .. .7500 . 79years
Other S350 3.9 years
' ' 7$53,150 :

Electa Lab s.r.l
On October 7, 2003, the Company acquired all the outstanding stock of Electa Lab s.r.l. based in Forli, Italy, in
exchange for €1.5 million (approximately $1.8 million) plus transaction costs totaling $103,000. The purchase of
Electa Lab was financed, in part, by the issuance of a note payable with principal totaling €500,000 (approximately
$607,000). The note bears interest at 5.5% and matures in September 2007 A bank guarantee has been provided to
secure the note. . .

Electa Lab is a manufacturer of equipment and supplies used to perform.blood sedimentation rate analysis. Electa
Lab sells.its products through a number -of. distributors throughout the world. - The merger provides vertical
integration of the blood sedxmentatlon rate analysis products sold by the Company in addition to providing access to
other dlstrxbutors : . ‘

The purchase price has been allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets of Electa Lab -acquired and
the liabilities assumed based on the fair values on the acquisition date as follows:

Purchase Price Allocation (in thousands) o
Cash 3214

Accounts receivable 217
Inventories : : o <554
Other current assets L0
Equipment 310
Long-term assets 2.
Accounts payable ‘ (260)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (275)
Goodwill 1,153

Total purchase price ‘ $1,925

.Icoria, Inc.
On December 20, 2005, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Icoria in exchange for 614,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock with an aggregate fair value of approx1mately $11.3 million. The common stock
was valued at $18.46 per share, the average of the trading price two days before December 20, 2005 the date of the
acquisition and deemed measurement date.

The Company issued warrants to purchase 42,000 shares of the company’s common stock with an aggregate fair
value of approximately $81,000 in exchange for the outstanding warrants of Icoria. The warrants were immediately
exercisable and have exercise prices ranging from approximately $34.15 per share to $756.36 per share and expire
on dates ranging from July 20, 2006 though October 19, 2009.
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{3) Business Combinations (continued)
The Company has reserved 43,000 shares of its common stock for issuance pursuant to the options assumed in
connection with the acquisition. The options have a weighted average exercise price of $97.04 per share and a

remaining contractual term of 4.2 years. The aggregate fair value, measured using the Black-Scholes model, was
approximately $227, OOO

The cost of the transaction is comprised of:

(in thousands)y

Value of the Company’s common stock $11,329
Fair value of stock optlons and warrants 308
Transaction costs 367
Less: cash acquired » o (1,901) -
- ' ' | $10,103

[coria is a biotechnology company dedicated to finding new ways of detecting and treating human disease. Icoria
uses its ability to analyze biological function at the level of gene expression, biochemical pathways and tissue
structure to discover and validate biomarkers, drugs and drug targets. Icoria works with pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, government and academic laboratories on a fee-for-service or collaborative basis, while it develops
its own sets of products for internal development, or eventual out-licensing. The internal programs focus. on
metabolic disorders (diabetes, obesity, among others) and the liver as a site of disease progression and drug action.
The Company believes that this acquisition will add additional immediate revenue, expand service offerings and will
enhance the intellectual property estate including proprietary markers for future diagnostics.

The purchase price has been allocated to the tang1ble and 1dent1ﬁab1e 1ntang1ble assets of Icoria acquired and the
liabilities assumed based on the falr values on the date of acqulsmon as follows:

Purchase Price Allocation (in thousands)

Accounts' receivable S ' $2,603
Inventories: - .o ' B : 329
Other current assets . . S . 2,360
Equipment o I R 1,715
Intangible assets: N : 10,500
Long-term assets 1 o . 667.
Accounts payable N (780)
Current portion of long-term debt and capxtal lease obhgatxons (3,010)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (5,705)
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations (2,531)
Deferred compensation for unvested optlons and warrants 52
Goodwill , 3,903
Total purchase price $10,103
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(3) Business Combinations (continued)

The allocation of the fair value of Icoria’s identifiable intangible assets is as follows:

: co Increase in Weighted Average -
(in thousands) value Useful Life
Completed technology ' $3,400 7.6 years
In-process research and development © 3,400 - :
Customer relationships 3,300 5.3 years
Other . , 400 ' 3.0 years

$10,500

Genome Express S.A. ‘
On March 7, 2006, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Genome Express in exchange for 108,000
shares of the Company’s common stock with an aggregate fair value of approximately $2.5 million and a contingent
issuance of 15,000 shares of common stock with a value of €300,000 (approximately $361,000); the total purchase
price is approximately $3.3 million. The common stock was valued at $22.99 per share, the average of the trading
price two days before and after March 2, 2006, the deemed measurement date. Transaction costs approximate
$490,000. : , o

The cost of the transaction is comprised of: ~

(in thousands) - :
Value of the Company’s common stock - $2,485 -

Value of the Company’s contingently issuable stock 361
Transaction costs . ' : 490
Less: net cash acquired (9

$3,327

Genome Express is a biotechnology company dedicated to accelerating the discovery of new products for the
advancement of human and animal health, and for the agri-food industry. Genome Express offers a team of experts,
proprietary technologies, and an optimized process that together form a unique molecular biology and
bioinformatics platform. Using its DNA sequencing core business expertise, Genome Express has developed
services and high value added solutions that allow its customers to interpret the data generated quickly and
efficiently. The Company believes that this acquisition will add additional immediate revenue, expand service
offerings and will enhance the intellectual property estate including proprietary markers for future diagnostics.
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(3) Business Combinations (continued)

The purchase price has been allocated to the assets of Genome Express acquired and the liabilities assumed based .on
the fair values on the date of acquisition as follows:

‘1

. Purchase Price Allocation (in thousands)

Accounts receivable Co - . $599
Inventories ‘ Co .- 146
Other current assets ‘ 887
. Equipment ) . - C IR 726
Long-term assets - . N e . 18
Accounts payable C : (438)
Current portion of long-term debt and. capltal lease obllgatlons .. (629)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities \ : (1,618)
Long-term debt (1,016)
Goodwill L . ; . 4,652

Total purchase price - . : $3,327

Goodwill arising on the Genome Express acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Restructurmg and Integration Reserves ' .
Included in the purchase price allocation -of the Genalssance Icoria and Genome Express transactions are
restructuring and integration reserves totaling approximately $4.6 million. The Company expects the severance costs
will be fully paid during the third quarter of fiscal 2007 and the lease termination fee will be fully paid during fiscal
2010. A summary of the act1v1ty forthe year.ended March 31, 2006 is as follows

. (in thousands) o . Severance  Lease Termmation Total - -

Amounts accrued on acquisition - $3,098 ' $1,495 © - ' '$4,593
Less: payments 748 405 1,153
$2,350 $1,090 $3,440

In-Process Research and Development .
Of the total purchase price of Genaissance and Icoria, approximately $39.7 million has been allocated to acquired in-
process research and development (“IPRD”) projects and was expensed in the third quarter of fiscal 2006. Projects
that qualify as IPRD represent those that have not yet reached technological feasibility and have no alternative use.
Technological feasibility is defined as bemg equivalent to the U.S. Food and Drug Admlmstratlon s approval.

These projects were valued based on discounted probable future cash flows on a projeof-by-project basis. The
Company prepared revenue and expense projections as well as technology assumptions through 2025 for two
projects and 2014 for the other projects. The revenue estimates for each project were based on estimates of the
relevant market sizes and growth factors, expected trends in technology and the nature and expected timing of the
introduction of the new products The estimated expenses were based upon the remammg costs to complete each
project.

The Company discounted the projected cash flows using risk adjusted interest rates and considered the probability of
success, where appropriate. The rates utilized to discount the net cash flows to theif present values were based on
the Company’s weighted-average cost of capital. The weighted-average cost of capital was adjusted to reflect the
difficulties and uncertainties in completing each project and thereby achieving technological feasibility, the
percentage of completion of each project, anticipated market acceptance and penetration, market growth rates and
risks related to the impact of potential changes in future target markets. Based on these factors, discount rates that
range from 18% - 30% were deemed appropriate for valuing the IPRD.
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(3) Business Combinations (continued)

The projects for which the IPRD charge relates were as follows:

Clozapine: In December 2004, Genaissance reported the discovery of genetic markers that are believed to
predict who is at risk of developing Clozapine-induced agranulocytosis, a life threatening decrease of white
blood cells that requires frequent blood testing of patients. Genaissance is. in the process of organizing
another clinical trial to further support its findings. This IPRD project was estimated to be 60% complete as
of the acquisition date. The estimated fair value of this IPRD project was $17.9 m1llion as of October 6,
2005.

Vilazodone: In September 2004, Genaissance acquired an exclusive license from Merck AG to develop and
commercialize vilazodone, which is under development for the treatment of depression. Genaissance: is
attempting to identify the genetic marker that defines patients who are more likely to respond to vilazodone
and develop a genetic test. This project was estimated to be 25% complete as of the acquisition date. The
estimated fair valué of this IPRD project was $18.4 million as of October 6, 2005 '

Acute liver m_;ury and liver-disease-related research projects: Icoria had several research projects underway
to identify biomarkers. These projects were estimated to be 75% complete relative to Icoria’s role. The
estimated fair value of these IPRD pro;ects was $3.4 million as of December 20, 2005.

The estimates used in valumg IPRD were based upon assumpt1ons beheved to be reasonable but which are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipated -events and
circumstances may oceur. Accordingly, actual results may differ from the projected results.

(Unaudned) Pro Forma Summary Operating Informatlo

The following unaudited pro forma summary operating information presents the combined results of operations of
the Company as if the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented. This unaudited pro forma
financial information may not be representative or be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition
been made on Aprrl I, 2005 ‘and 2004, or results which may occur in the future;

(in thousands, except per share amouln't‘s) . iy 2006 2005

Revenues $ 91,760 $106,667
Net loss . ... (67,058) (62,988)
Net loss per basic share ‘ - §(11.26) $(9.23)
Net loss per diluted share R $(11.26) $(9.23)

The net loss includes the write-off of $39.7 million of ijurchased resea_rch and deyelopmerit.

4) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the”follow‘ing at March 31:

(in thousands) ) I 2006 2005

Manufacturing and computer equ1pment ) ' 9,597 6,991
Leasehold improvements 3,933 1,074
Laboratory equipment . , 3,506 . -
Furniture and fixtures ‘ L ‘ . 1,321 588
Vehicles . ’ ' 114 121
L ‘ o , : _ 18471 8,774 .
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization , 7,567 . . 5,126

- 10,904 . 3,648

1
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(5) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill balances, by segment, are as follows at March 31:

Clinics & Small Physician’s Molecular
(inthousands) " Hospitals Office Labs  Services . . . Total
Balance at March 31, 2004 . $ - $6,350 $ _ $ 6,350
Balance at March 31, 2005 - 6,350 - - . 6,350
Additions: ” ‘ ‘
Genaissance Pharmaceuticals - - 11,489 11,489
Electa Lab H 1,153 - - 1,153
Icoria ' ’ - . 3,903 3,903
. Genome Express S | - ‘ - ‘ 4,652 ., 4,652 .
Balance at March 31, 2006. co - $1,153 .. $6,350 < 820,044 $27,547

Purchased intangibles are currently evaluated for impairment using the methodology set forth in SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. Recoverability of these assets is assessed only
when events have occurred that may give rise to an impairment. When a potential impairment has been identified,
forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operations to which the asset relates dare compared to the current
carrying value of the long-lived assets present in that operation. If such cash flows are less than such carrying
amounts, long-lived assets, including such intangibles are written down to their respective fair values.

The intangible asset balances are as follows at March 31:

(in thousands) ‘ T T 2006 ‘ . 2005

Purchased intangibles , ‘ ‘ ‘
e . Completed technology $12,400 - $ -
e  Customer relationships 12,245 ‘ 1,445
e Other o 803 34
o - 25,448 . 1,479
" Less: accumulated amortization (4,123) (790)
Net purchased intangibles A ‘ 21,325 © - 689
Capitalized software - 1,609 1,530 -
Less: accumulated amortization C \ . (443) (303)
Net capitalized software - n Lo 1,166 1,227
‘ERP implementation and software: R CL,777 ' 866
Intangibles, net ' ' T 824,268 $2,782

During fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, amortization of intangible assets totaled $3.3 million, $566,000 and $469,000,
respectively. Amortization with regard.to the intangible assets as shown on the balance sheet March 31, 2006 is
expected to total, $7.2 million in 2007, $4.9 million in 2008, $2.7 million in 2009, $2.4 miltion in 2010, $2.0
million in 2011 and $5.1 million in 2012 and beyond.

“F-23




(6) Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following at March 31:

(in thousands) . ' : 2006 2005
Restricted cash $785 , $-
Deposits - 365 ; 102
Long-term lease receivables o 147 194
Deferred income tax asset ‘ - 305
Other | 416 357
$1,713 $958

The restricted cash balances represent security deposits on leased facilities. Approximately’ $561,000 of the
restricted cash balances will be used in fiscal 2007 to satisfy the termination of the lease of certain laboratory
space, as described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

@) Accrued Expenses ' : R ‘ o

Accrued expenses consist of the following at March 31:

(in thousands) ‘ o o 2006 - 2005

Payroll and payroll-related expenses ’ $ 3372 § 1,765
Accrued severance and other acquisition costs , 4,180 . 407.
Accrued dividends assumed in acquisition 1,211 -
Accrued facility costs , 1,257 120
Commissions, royalty and llcense fees 1,052 ) 350
Accrued professional fees 797 © 290
Unvouchered invoices ‘ 589 362
Warranty reserve _ 304 - 232
Accrued VAT and sales taxes ‘ 269 .
- Development credits 256 - . 348
" Other , S 1,391 759
$14,678 $4,633

The Company entered into a credit financing arrangement with a Netherlands governmental agency in connection
with the development of a new product. The grant is to be repaid as a percentage (13.6%) of the product’s gross
revenues as long as the product is a commercial success. The Company began to ship this product during fiscal
1998, evidencing it commercial success. The Company has deferred all funding received and reported those amounts
as developmént credits included in accrued expenses ($256,000 at March 31, 2006). When the Company makes a
payment to the Netherlands government, the recorded liability is reduced. There is no obligation to repay any
remaining amounts after fiscal 2008.
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(8) Debt

Long-term Debt

The Company's long-term debt obligations. are as follows at March 31:

(in thousands) . . ‘ : 2006 2005
¢ Notes payable, bearing 1nterest at 4.0%-10. 4%, w1th maturities between .
April 2008 and December 2009 and secured by related equipment $301 $284
¢ Note payable, bearing interest at 4.0%, with maturity on January 2010 and :
monthly payments of $17 and secured by related software 724 894
e Euro note payable, bearing interest at 5.5%, with maturity on September -
2007 and quarterly payments of $76 and secured by a bank guarantee 1452 -
Icoria Acquired Debt
e  Convertible note payable, bearing interest at 10.0% with maturlty on
October 2007 and secured by certain of Icoria’s fixed assets’ 3,227 -
Genaissance Acquired Debt
e Notes payable, bearing interest at 6.5%, with maturities between February
2009 and May 2011 and secured by Genaissance’s leasehold
improvements ‘ 3,520 -
Genome Express Acquired Debt ‘
¢ Interest-free advance from lendlng institution with respect to research tax
credits and which matures in May 2006 340 -
o Interest-free advance from the French government under a program to
stimulate national innovations with maturities between September 2007
and September 2008. 1,134 -
9,698 1,178
Less: current portion (3,425) (249)
$6,273 $ 929

During fiscal 2006 and 2005, the Company financed equipment purchases totaling approximately $136,000 and
5116,000, respectively, through the issuance of notes maturing between April 2008 and Dec':_e'mber 2009.

During fiscal 2005, a $923,000 five year note payable was entered 1nto to finance the purchase and 1mp1ementat10n
of our new Enterprise Resource Planning System

The purchase of Electa Lab in fiscal 2006 was financed, in part, by the issuance of a note payable. with prlncrpa]

totahng €500,000 (approximately $607, 000) The note bears interest at 5.5%, matures in September 2007 and is
secured by a bank guarantee ,

At the time of its acqursmon in fiscal 2006, Icoria had (i) an outstandrng convertrble note payable with a principal
value of approximately $3.3 million; (ii) a secured bank loan with a principal value of approximately $2.2 million;
and (iii) capital lease obligations of approximately $63,000. In connection with the acquisition, the Company
assumed these obligations. The convertible note payable is payable in cash or convertible into the Company’s
common stock at a fixed conversion price of $34.15 per share subject to certain conditions relatmg to increases in
the price of the common stock above $38.02 per share and the actual trading volume of the comimon stock and is
collateralized by Icoria’s fixed assets. The note holder may elect to have interest paid in stock at a fixed conversion
price of $34.15 per share. The debt may be prepaid with a penalty of 115% if the payment was made before October
19, 2006 and 110% if paid between October 20, 2006 and October 19, 2007.
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(8) Debt (continued)

The secured bank loan assumed in the Icoria acquisition was scheduled to be-repaid monthly through July 2007.
Under the terms of the loan, Icoria was obligated to maintain a deposit account of restricted cash and investments
‘equal to at least 1.5 times the outstanding principal balance of the debt. In January 2006, the remaining cutstanding
balance due on this loan was repaid with a prepayment premium of' approx1mate]y 310, 000 :

At the time of its acquisition in fiscal 2006 Genaissance had approx1mately $8.5 million-of notes payable and other
debt outstanding, including approximately $188,000 related to capital leases. In connection with the acquisition, the
Company assumed these obligations.. In December 2005, appr0x1mately $4.5 million of assumed notes payable were
repaid. Genaissance’s other debt primarily represents borrowings to finance certain leasehold improvements and
other costs associated with its facility. The financing agreements provide for monthily - payments of principal and
interest with final balloon payments due in March 2009 through June 2011. Borrowings are collateralized by the
related leasehold 1mprovements The financing agreements require the Company to comp]y with certain terms; the
Company believes that it in compliance with such terms as of March 31, 2006.

The maturities of the long-term debt as of March 31, 2006 are as follows:

2007 $3,425
2008 2,282
2009 - 1,195
2010 " 1,061
2011 - . 1,506
After © <229
Total $9,698

_Line of Credit Agreements

At March 31, 2006, the Company maintained a $10.0 million revolving credit facility at CDSS. The line of credit
bears interest at the rate of either 0.25% in excess of prime or 300 basis points above the LIBOR rate (4.9% at
March 31, 2006). Approximately $4.0 million of principal was outstanding at March 31, 2006. The borrowings
under the credlt facility are secured by trade receivables and inventories of CDSS. On December 2, 2005, the terms
of its revolving credit facility were amended to permit the Comparly to use up to $1.5 million available credit liné
under the terms of the agreement as applicable in the Company’s other business lines. Based upon the available
collateral, approximately $1.7 million of additional capacity was available to ‘the Company as of March 31, 2006.
The credit facility requires the Company to comply with certain financial ‘covenants, including tangible net worth,
capital expenditure limitations, and fixed charge coverage. As of' March 31, 2006, the Company did not meet the
fixed charge coverage covenant and was granted a waiver of the non-compliance. There is uncertainty that the
Company will be able to mamtam complrance in the future The revolvmg credlt facility was automatically renewed
for one year in March 2006

The Company maintains a line of credit agreement with a financial institution which prov1des for €1.8 million
(approx1mately $2.2 million) of avarlable credit. The line of credit bears interest at 1.25% above the base rate as
reported by.the Netherlands Central Bank with a minimum base rate of 3.25%. At March 31, 2006 the base rate as
reported by the Netherlands Central, Bank was 6. 58%; therefore the rate on borrowings would be 7.83%. Trade
receivables and inventories are provided as collateral for this facrllty The line of credit requires the Company to
comply with certain financial covenants relating to solvency, which are not considered restrictive to the Company's
operations. As of March 31, 2006, no amounts were outstanding under the agreement.
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(8) Debt (continued)

The Company maintains a line of ‘credit agreement with a financial institution which provides for A$300,000
(approximately $215,000) of available credit. The line of credit bears interest at 2.98% above the base rate as
reported by the Australian bank’s Business Mortgage Index (8.40% at March 31, 2006). Outstanding principal is
secured by the assets of the Company’s Australian subsidiary. The line of credit requires the Company to comply
with certain financial covenants. There are no amounts outstanding on this line of credit.

(9) Commitments and Contingencies
Contractual Commitments and Commercial Obligations

The Company leases facilities, vehicles and computer equipment under capitalized and operating leases. Future
minimum lease payments under these leases as of March 31, 2006 are approximately as follows (in thousands):’

Year Ending , Operating Capitalized
March 31, - Leases - Leases
2007 $4,182 : $ 606
2008 . 3,120 ‘ © 405
2009 2,551 334
2010 ' ©1,934 199
2011 S 947 L
" Thereafter B 2,176 A -
Total S ' $14910 1,544
Less: amount representing interest ‘ : - (250)
Total principal obligations : 1,294
Less: current portion | o —_— . (504)
Long-term capital lease : : $ 790

Rent expense was approx1mately $3.1 mllhon $1.8 million: and $1.7 mllhon during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

During fiscal 2006 and 2005, the Company capitalized leases with a principal value of $13,000 and $1.3 million,
respectively. In connection with the acquisitions during fiscal 2006, the Company assumed $397,000 of capital lease
obligations. The assets recorded under capitalized leases are included within manufacturing and computer
equipment and are depreciated over three to five years.

(10) Significant Customers

During " fiscal 2006, the Comipany had sales of scientific and blood analysis equipment and reagents to one
significant customer -amounting to approximately 13% of consolidated revenues. Approximately 6% of accounts
receivable at March 31, 2006 was receivable from this customer '

During ﬁscal 2005, the Company had sales of scientific and blood analysis equipment and reagents to two
significant customers amounting to approximately 16% and 11%, respectively, of consolldated revenues.

Approximately 22% of accounts receivable at March 31, 2005 were from these two customers.

During fiscal 2004, the Company had sales of scientific and process monitoring equipment to two significant
customers approximating 14% and 13%, respectively, of consolidated revenues.
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(11) Equity

Preferred Stock
In connection wrth the Genaissance merger, the' Company authorized and issued 484,070 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock has a par value of $0.01 per share. The Series A Preferred Stock is
senior in right of payment of drvrdends and on liquidation to the common stock. .
Dividends - The holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the
Board of Directors, cash dividends at the rate of 2% of the accretive value of such share of Series A Preferred Stock,
in preference to cash dividends on any other class of capital stock. Dividends on outstanding shares of the Series' A
Preferred Stock are payable on January 5th and July 5th of each year, when and if declared by the Board of
Directors. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock are cumulative and will not be accrued or payable until each
dividend payment date. Accrued but unpaid dividends with respect to each share of Series A Preferred Stock shall
upon conversion of such share into'common stock, be forfeited. ‘

Voting - The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to vote on all matters submitted to the
stockholders of the Company for a vote, voting as a single class with the common stock, with the holders of the
Series A Preferred Stock entitled to one vote for each share of preferred stock they hold, without regard to the
number of shares of common stock into which such shares would then be convertible.

Conversions - At any time, a holder of the Series A Preferred Stock shall have the right to convert any
shares of the Series A Preferred Stock into the number of shares of common stock computed by dividing (X) the
original issue price of $22.80 by (Y) the conversion price then in effect for such share of the Series A Preferred
Stock, currently set at $22.80 (such quotient being the “ordinary conversion amount”); provided, however, that after
the third anniversary of the date of filing of the certificate of merger relating to Genaissance, ainy share(s) of the
Series A Preferred Stock shall be convertible into a number of shares of common stock computed by dividing (A)
the original issue price of $22.80 by (B) the average market price for the ten (10) consecutive trading days before the
delivery to the office of the. Company or any transfer agent of the written notice of election to convert if such
amount is greater than the ordinary conversion amount; and :

If the market price of the common stock exceeds the original issue price per share plus $5.00 per share for-ten (10)
consecutive trading days, the Company may elect, beginning on the first business day following such ten (10)
trading day period, and at any time thereafter while any shares of the Series A Preferred Stock remain outstanding,
to require the holders of all outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock to convert such shares into common
stock.

Redemption - 1f the Company is liquidated, dissolved, or wound-up, or transfers all or substantially all -of
its assets, or is a party to a merger or other change in control transaction in which its stockholders do not own a
majority of its outstanding voting securities after such transaction prior to the fifth anniversary of the completion of
the Genaissance merger, then, regardless of whether any dividend payments are in arrears, and unless the holders of
66 2/3% of the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding elect otherwise to receive the as converted
value, the Company shall redeem each then outstanding share of the Series A Preferred Stock at a per share purchase
price equal to the sum,of (i) the accreted value of such shares of the Series A Preferred.Stock on the date of
redemption, plus (ii) all dividends (whether or not declared) accrued since the end of the previous dividend period
on such share of the Series A Preferred Stock, plus (iii) the sum of the remaining dividends that would have accrued
and/or been payable on one share of the Series A Preferred Stock from the date of redemption through the fifth
anniversary of the date of filing of the certificate of merger had such share of the Series A Preferred Stock not been
so redeemed.

Private Placement
On November 17, 2005, the Company entéred into a securities purchase agreement to sell to certain qualrﬁed
institutional buyers and accredited investors, including certain members of the Company’s board of directors, an
aggregate of 614,405 shares of the Company’s common stock and warrants to purchase an additional 307,203 shares
of common stock, for an aggregate purchase price, net of associated costs, of approximately $11.9 million. The sale
of securities was consummated on November 17, 2005. The exercise price of the warrants is $23.40 per share. The
warrants are exercisable at any time after May 17, 2006 and expire on May 17, 2011.
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(11) Equity (continued)

On . February 6, 2006, the Company provided notice to the holders of the warrants that the Company was
accelerating the initial exercise date of the warrants for a period limited to five days beginning at 12:00PM
on February 6, 2006, and ending at 5:00PM on Friday, February 10, 2006. During this period, certain of the warrant
holders exercised their right to purchase 153,355 shares of the Company’s common stock, resulting in gross
proceeds to the Company of approximately $3.6 million. At the expiration of “this limited exercise period,
the initial exercise date of the warrants is once again fixed at May 17, 2006, and the termination date of the
warrants remained fixed, as originally established, at May 17, 2011.

(12) Income Taxes
The components for (loss) income before income taxes were as follows at March 31:

(in thousands) ‘ . 2006 2005 2004

United States $ (53,000) $2,300 $ (216)
Foreign ‘ ‘ 4,371 3,229 2,691

$(48,629) $5,529 § 2,475

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes shown in the accompanying consolidated ‘statements of operations
consists of the followmg for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

(in thousands) . 2006 2005 2004

Current:

Federal ‘ - $(244) $355 - $
o ‘ 212
State - ‘ : L 46 77 122
* Foreign o 1,463 956 716
Total Current o 1,265 1,388’ 1,050

Deferred: . o . )
Federal , . ' ' 91 304 (249),
State : ' - ‘ - 18 17 (44)
Foreign _ o o 67 .93 148
Change in valuation allowance h 915 316 (618)
Total Deferred ’ 967 . 730 . (763)
: $2,232 . $2,118 $287

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes differs from the-amount computed by applying the statutory Federal
income tax rate to income before taxes due to the following for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
(Benefit from) provision for taxes at statutory rate $(16,534) $1,881 $841
Losses not benefited . ; 4,032 - -
State taxes | ' ‘ ' 46 94 78
Non-U.S. rate differential, net (143) (25) (46)
Change in valuation reserves, : 915 316 (618)
Write-off of purchased research and development 13,498 - -
Other 418 (148) 32
$2,232 $2,118 $287
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(12) Income Taxes (continued)

The approximate income tax effect of each type of temporary d1fference compnslng the net deferred tax (hablhty)
asset at March 31,2006 and 2005 is as follows ; ‘

A T

(1n thousands) : BRI <L 2006 ‘ 2005
Deferred tax assets: ‘; —_— :
Net operating loss carryforwards: - C e $130,549 $1,926
Capitalized research costs ‘ o 9,738 ° -
Tax credits - 2,413 -
Fixed assets 1,931 -
Severance and accrued payroll o o 1,267 -
Other reserves and accrued liabilities o o 4,617 1,165
Total assets R 149,248 3,091
Deferred tax liabilities: ‘ . ' T oo
Purchased intangibles ‘ ' (8,027) -
Capitalized software o (448) (396)
Other . : . S (22) (177)
Total liabilities (8,497) (573)
" Net deferred tax asset ’ K i ' 140,751 © 2,518
Less: valuation allowance (141,055) S (1,923)
$(304) $ 595

SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, requires the Company to assess whether it is more likely than not that
the Company will realize its deferred tax assets. Prior to fiscal 2004, because the Company had no significant U.S.
operations that would allow the Company to realize the benefits of the net operating loss carryforwards, the values
of these losses were not likely to be realized. As such, a full valuation reserve had been provided in periods prior to
2004. Certain business combinations completed during 2004 resulted in the Company having U.S. taxable income
and therefore the valuation allowance totaling $618,000 was released in 2004.

Upon the completion of the fiscal 2006 business combinations, the Company incurred taxable losses in the United
States. The Company determined that it was more likely than not that the net operating losses and the deferred tax
assets would not be realized in future periods and a valuation allowance was created, with a corresponding expense
totaling $915,000 being realized in the 2006 consolidated provision for income taxes.

The Company has United States federal net operating loss carryforwards, after limitation for a change in ownership,
of approximately $74.5 million; these carryforwards will expire from 2011 through 2026. In addition, the Company
has available United States federal tax credit carryforwards of approximately $6.5 million. These carryforwards
which will expire between 2010 and 2021 may be used to offset: future taxable income, if any, and are subject to
review and possible review by the Internal Revenue Service. ‘The Company has net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $262.3 million for state purposes which expire from 2007 through 2026.

The Company has foreign net’ operatmg loss carryforwards of approximately $16.6 million of which $442,000 are

not subject to expiration and $16.2 million that expire between 2007 and 2016. A full vauation allowance has been
provided on these losses for all periods presented as the amounts are not deemed recoverable.
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(12) Income Taxes (continued)

The Dutch tax authorities have notified Vital Scientific that it does not agree with its method of deducting research
and development costs on its tax return. The potential cost to the Company if the Dutch tax authorities should
prevail in their position is €600,000 (approximately $726,000). The position is subject to interpretation and the
Company believes it will prevail on audit. Accordingly, no amount is provided in the income tax provision for this
assertion. . ‘

(13) Stock Option Plans

The Company established a 1991 Stock Option Plan (the “1991 Plan”) and a 1991 Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the
“Directors' Plan”) under which an aggregate of 150,000 shares and 75,000 shares of common stock were reserved,
respectively, for the purpose of granting incentive and. nonstatutory stock options. In September 2002, the
stockholders approved the establishment of the 2002 Incentive and Stock Option Plan (the “2002 Plan”) under
which an aggregate of 250,000 shares of common stock were reserved. In September 2005, the stockholders
approved the establishment of the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”) under which an aggregate of 1.0
million shares of common stock’ were reserved.” All optlons are granted at not less than the fair market value of the
--stock on the date of grant.- .

Under the terms of t'he 1991 Plan and the Directors' Plan, options are exercisable-over various periods not exceeding
four years; the options under the 1991 Plan expire no later than seven years after the date of grant whereas the
‘options granted under the Directors' Plan’ explre no later than ten years after the date of grant.

Under the terms of the 2002 Plan and 2005 Plan, options are exercisable at various periods and expire as set forth

. in the grant document. In the case where an incentive stock option is granted, the maximum expiration date is not
later than 10 years from the date of grant unless made to a more than 10% stockholder; those incentive stock
options expire no later than 5 years from the date of grant.

_ The following table summarizes stock option activity.

Weighted
Number of Average
(in thousands, except for per share amounts) Shares Price |
Outstanding at April 1, 2003 o 156 % 2.66
Granted , ‘ 142 6.67
Forfeited Co . . (39 494 .
Exercised R o Co(60) 097
" Outstanding at March31 2004 199 T 558
Exercised - e ooy o 1.63
Outstanding at March 31, 2005 188 5.82
Granted 304 18.54
. Issued in business comblnatlons , 392 62.82
_ Forfeited P S @30y 554
. Exercised ) S (42) . 793
Outstanding at March 31 2006 i ‘ o612 $30.17
Exercisable at March 31, 2006 242 $ 26.25
Exercisable at March 31, 2005 128 $5.36




(13) Stock Option Plans (continued)

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding and options exercisable at March 31, 2006 is as follows:

Outstanding . Exercisable
Number of : ' R : '
Shares Weighted Average Weighted Number of - Weighted
(in Remaining Average Shares Average
Price Range thousands) Contractual Life Exercise Price  (in thousands) Exercise Price
Clinical Data
$3.09 - $3.40 53 1.22 years $3.38 53 $3.38
$4.82-$532 - 67 4.14 years '5.05 50 5.05
$9.00 - $9.20 - : 16 © 7176 years 1 9.00 3 9.08
' $11.00 13 ' 4.70 years 11.00 13 “11.00
$17.89 - $17.90 250 9.59 years 17.89 14 17.90
'$19.86 12 10.00 years 119.86 - : -
$21.34 - $23.47 42 : 7.85 years 21.98 18 ©21.89
‘ 453 7.45 years '$ 14.24 151 $8.29
Genaissance ‘
$6.15 - $25.69 30 5.87 years $16.40 17 $16.13
$30.46 - $58.46 75 7.76 years 42.27 54 42.92
$60.92 - $92.15 8 .. .5.77 years 74.61 6 73.30
$118.27 - $151.92 1 4.72 years 133.31 - -
$163.85-%201.23 . 29 .4.10 years 185.09 - -
$230.77 - $495.23 - . 4.76 years . 322.19 - -
A , 143 _ . 6.48 years - - $68.88 77 - $39.07
Icoria
$9.02 - $28.99 9 ' 5.45 years $16.36 7 $16.12
$31.57-853.47 2 3.69 years 49.81 2 50.33
$67.00 - $88.91 2 4.78 years 81.38 2 81.56
$99.87 - $161.06 1 3.42 years 107.24 1 107.26
$253.71 - $644.26 2 1.35 years 390.84 2 467.04
$805.32 - $1,145.49 - - 1.76 years 820.62 - 820.62
$1,814.87 - $1,966.27 - 4.29 years 1,856.25 - 1,856.25
$3,630.38 - 5.08 years 3,630.38 - 3,630.38
$4,537.49 - 4.06 years 4,537.49 - 4,537.49
S 16 4.45 years 134.95 14 - $150.24
612 7.15 years $°30.17 242 $26.25

(14) Pension Plan

The Company sponsors pension plans for its operating subsidiaries. Contributions and expenses incurred by the
Company amounted to approximately $538,000, $379,000 and $254,000 during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. In the United States, the plan contributions represent the employer’s matching contributions to the
Company’s 401(k) plan. Outside the United States, the plans are defined contribution plans. a
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(15) Segment Information

The Company’s chief decision-maker, as defined under SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information, is the Chief Executive Officer, who evaluates the Company’s performance
based on the revenues, cost of revenues and operating expenses and net income. The Company manages its business
as four operating segments: sales of instruments and consumables to Clinics and Small Hospitals; sales of
instruments, consumables and services to Physician’s Office Laboratories, Molecular Services and All Other. “All
Other” includes corporate related items, results of insignificant operations and, as it relates to segment profit (loss),
income and expense not allocated to reportable segments. The Molecular Services segment was formed during the
quarter ended December 31, 2005 as a result of the acquisitions of Genaissance and Icoria. The Molecular Services
segment also includes the operations of Genome Express from the date of its acquisition during the quarter ended
March 31, 2006.

Segment information for the years ended Ma'rch‘31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

Clinics and Molecular All
(in thousands) ‘ Small Hosp. POL Services Other Total
Revenues ‘ . , , : .
2006 $31,246  $25,146  $12332 $24  $68,748
2005 ' , 28,210 28,109 - 81 56,400

i 2004 . o o - 25,181 27,018 - - 321 52,520
.Cost of revenues and operating expenses - :

. 2006 , . $27,817 $24,145  $62,322® $2,597 $116,881
2005 : 25,309 24,524 - 1,003 50,836
2004 22,950 26,092 - 860 49,902
Interest expenée

. 2006 o $50 $308 $256  $53 $667
2005 9 173 - 26 208
2004 ‘ ' 20 184 - 36 240
Interest income
2006 _ $118 T8l - $29 $63 $211
2005 ‘ 67 9 - - 76
2004 ‘ 25 6 - 41 72
Income tax provision (benefit) :

2006 $1,247 $837 $199 $(51) $2,232
2005 - B - 1,003 1,140 - (25) 2,118
2004 ’ 864 62 . - -(639) 287
Net income (loss)

2006 R o $2,258 $(165)  $(50,520) $(2,454) $(50,881)”
2005 ' C ‘ 1,842 2,322 - (769) 3,395

2004 ‘ 1,676 (24) - 51 2,171

® Includes $39,700 of purchased research and development costs written off after the acquisitions of Genaissance
on October 6, 2005 and Icoria on December 21, 2005.
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(15) Segment Information (continued)

. Clinics and : Molecular "All

- (in thousands) Small Hosp: .~ POL “Services Other Total
Capital expenditures and capitalized
software ' ~ :
2006 . $985 $520 $104 $4 $ 1,613
2005 - ' Co 801 191 oo 6 998
2004 888 128 - 86 L1
Total assets
2006 . $21,631 $20,066 $63,127 $3,403  $108,227
2005 - 15,952 22,073 - 1,121 39,146

Geographic information for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

North

(in thousands) America Europe Asia All Other Consolidated

Revenues ‘

2006 $34,910 $16,907 $6,388" '$10,543 - ' $68,748

2005 27,546 14,053 6,556 8,245 56,400

2004 26,587 12,677 4,842 8,414 52,520

Property, Plant and

Equipment, net o ‘

2006 to $8,047 " $2,517 $- $340 $10,904

2005 ’ 2,552 799 297 3,648

Goodwill and

intangibles, net ‘ o A

2006 . $49,128 $2,687 $- $- $51,815

2005 7,983 1,149 - - 9,132
(16) Related Parties

The law firm of Malman and Goldman, LLP, 6f which Arthur B. Malman, a director of the Company, is a partner,
provided legal services to the Company during fiscal 2004. The fees invoiced by Malman and Goldman; LLP
amounted to approximately $56,000. There were no such services rendered in fiscal 2005 or 2006.

The Company was billed for sales commissions by Third Security LLC in the amount of $85,000 during fiscal 2006.
In fiscal 2005, the Company was billed for sales commissions and consulting services by Third Security LLC in the
amount of $169,000. Third Security LL.C billed $11,000 for consulting services during fiscal 2004. Third Security
LLC is controlled by Randal J. Kirk, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the largest shareholder of the
Company.




(17) Subsequent Events

On June 6, 2006, the Company renegotiated the lease of certain laboratory space in North Carolina assumed in the
Icoria acquisition. In lieu of leasing the laboratory at an annual cost of approximately $1.4 million through the ledse
period ending November 1, 2010, the Company will vacate the space on or before July 31, 2006 and pay rent
* through July 31, 2006 per the terms of the original agreement. No further rent payments will be due after July 31,
2006 and the security deposit of approximately $561,000 included in Other Assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2006 will be retained by the lessor.

On June 9, 2006, the Company issued convertible promissory notes to two affiliates of Randal J . Kirk, its Chairman
of the Board. The lenders provided the Company with $2.0 million to fund working capital needs until such time as
it could complete a new private offering, structured as a private placement to certain institutional and accredited
investors exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.  The notes, which are payable
at thirty days from the date of issuance, accrue interest at a rate of 12% per annum and are convertible at the option
of the holders into the same type of security sold by the Company to investors in the first financing following
issuance, at a price per-share equal to the last reported closing bid price of the its common stock as reported on
NASDAQ on the date of issuance. The Company’s repayment obligations under the notes accelerate upon any
material breach of its obligations under the notes, the initiation of any insolvency proceeding by it or against it, or
the entry of an order for the general assignment for the benefit of creditors, each relating to its assets, or'any default
by it on any other material indebtedness which is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on its ability 1 to
repay the notes. On June 14, 2006, the notes plus accrued interest of approximately $4,000 were repaid’ usmg a
portion of the proceeds from the private placement of common stock discussed below.

On June 13, 2006, the Company closed a private placement of common stock in which it sold 1,039,783 shares of
common stock and warrants to purchase an additional 519,889 shares of common stock for net proceeds of
approximately $17.0 million, after transaction expenses of approximately $50,000, to certain institutional investors,
* including certain members of our board of directors. The unit price was $16.2725, which equaled the closing bid
price of its common stock on NASDAQ on the closing date, plus $0.0625 per’ share.” The exercise price of the
warrants is $19.45, equaling a twenty percent premium on'the closing bid price of the common stock on NASDAQ
on the closing date. The warrants are exercisable beginning December 14, 2006 through the close of business on
June 13, 2011.
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(18) Quarterly Summarized Financial Information (Unaudited)

Third Quarter

First Second Fourth Quarter
(in thousands except per share amounts) - <Quarter 2006 - Quarter 2006 2006 " 2006 @
Total revenues T y “ $12,773 $12,888 $19,901 $23,186
Gross margin ‘ ‘ ' ) ’ 4,594 4,639 7,988 5,525
Operating income (loss) ‘ s o 660 . 648" (42,109) (7,332)
Net income (loss) o ‘ 407 377 (42,717) (8,948)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders - 407 377 (42,769) (8,993)
Net income (loss) per share: - - ’
‘Basic A o L $0.09 $0.09 $(6.25) $(1.10)
Diluted o ' $0.09 $0.08 - $(6.25) $(1.10)
First . Second ~ Third Fourth
Quarter 2005 Quarter 2005 Quarter 2005 Quarter 2005
Total revenues. ‘ | - $16338 $13,024 $14,360 $12,678
Gross margin . 5,462 4,992 5,420 4,299
Operating income , - ‘ o 1,973 .. 1,549 1,755 287
Net income ‘ . ‘ 1,271 910 1,016 197
Net income per share: S . . o ,
Basic $0.29 $0.21 $0.23 $0.04
Diluted : . N  $0.28 $0.20 $0.23 $0.04

¢)) ‘For the three months ended December 31 2005 includes $40,100 of purchased research and development costs
related to the acquisition of Genaissance on October 6, 2005 and Icoria on December 20, 2005.
(2)  For the three months ended March 31, 2006, includes $400 adjustment to the value of the purchased research
and development costs related to the acquisition of Genaissance on October 6, 2005.
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$10,000,000 Demand Revolving Note, dated March 31, 2003, issued by. CDSS in favor of
LaSalle. Filed-as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Commission on May 12, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 3 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated November 12, 2003, among
LaSalle, CDSS, BioClinical Concepts, Inc. and GSPI Acquisition, Inc. Filed as Exhibit 10.5
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB, filed with the Commission on
November 14, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 5 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 25, 2004, among

- LaSalle, as lender, and Clinical Data Sales & Service, Inc., as borrower. Filed as Exhibit

10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB, filed with the Commission on
February 11, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 6 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 28, 2005, among
LaSalle, as lender, and Clinical Data Sales & Service, Inc., as borrower. Filed as Exhibit
10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB, ﬁled with the Comm1581on on

-June 27,2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 7 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2005, between
Clinical Data Sales & Service, Inc. and La Salle Business Credit, LLC. Filed as Exhibit
10.11 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on
February 14, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2005, between the Company and RAM
Trading, Ltd. Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the Commission on June 24, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement among the Company and the Investors listed
therein, dated as of November 17, 2005. Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on' November 21, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in connection with the Securities Purchase
Agreement, dated as of November 17, 2005. Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 21, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference. ‘
Form of Registration Rights Agreement among the Company and the Investors listed
therein, dated as of Novemnber 17, 2005. Filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 21, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between Icoria, Inc. and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd.,
dated as of October 19, 2004. Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Réport on
Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on February 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Master Security Agreement, by and between Icoria, Inc. and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd.,

dated as of October 19, 2004. Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on

" Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on February 14, 2006, and incorporated herein by

reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, by and between Icoria, Inc. and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd.,
dated as of October 19, 2004. Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on February 14, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Form of Two Year Warrant, dated as of October 19, 2004. Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the

. Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on February 14,

2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Five Year Warrant, dated as of October 19, 2004. Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on February 14,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Secured Convertible Term Note, by and between Icoria, Inc. and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd.,
dated as of October 19, 2004. Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on February 14, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.




10.27 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement among the Company and the Investors, dated as of
June 13, 2006. Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the Commission on June 15, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.28 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in connection with the Securities Purchase
Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2006. Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on June 15, 2006, and incorporated herein

‘ by reference.

10.29 Form of Registration Rights Agreement among the Company and the Investors, dated as of
June 13, 2006. Filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the Commission on June 15, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.307 License, Development and Cooperation Agreement by and between Merck KGaA and
Genaissance Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated September 22, 2004. Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to
Genaissance's Current. Report on Form 8-K/A, filed with the Commlssmn on October 13,
2004, and incorporated herein by reference. ‘ :

10.31* Letter Agreement between the Company’s subsidiary, Genaissance Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,

and Kevin Rakin, a director of the Company. Filed herewith.
14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. Filed herewith.
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company. Filed herewith.
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, an 1ndependent registered public accountmg ﬁrm Filed
herewith.
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to §240.13a-14 or §240.15d-14 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Filed herewith.
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to §240.13a-14 or §240.15d-14 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Filed herewith.
321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to- 18 U S C.

Section 1350 Flled herewith.

Indicates a contract with management
T Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portlons have been filed separately with the
Commission.




Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Name Jurisdiction
Clinical Data BV , The Netherlands
Clinical Data Incorporated Massachusetts
Clinical Data Sales & Service, Inc. Delaware

Electa Lab s.r.l. Italy
Genaissance Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Delaware
Genome Express S.A. France

GPSI Acquisition, Inc. Delaware
Icoria, Inc. Delaware

Lark Technologies, Inc. Delaware
NovaChem BV The Netherlands
Spectronetics NV Curagao, Netherlands Antilles
Vital Scientific NV The Netherlands
Vital Diagnostics Pty. Ltd. Australia

Vital Diagnostics Ltd.

New Zealand




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 33-25938, 33-25939, 33-46233, 33-
46234, 333-129633, 333-129634, 333-129637 and 333-131024 on Form S-8 -and Registration Statement Nos. 333-
111347 and 333-133267 on Form S-3 of our report dated June 27, 2006, which report expresses an unqualified
opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph concerning substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Clinical Data, Iric. for the year ended March 31,
2006.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts ) . . .
June 27, 2006 ’ '




EXHIBI’i‘ 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Andrew J. Fromkin, certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Clinical Data, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this’
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operatlons and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as deﬁned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d- 15(e) for the
registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, paiticularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC transmon instructions contamed in'SEC Release

‘ 34-47986]

'c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the régistrant's internal control over financial reporting; and '

5. The registrant's ‘other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the

_registrant’s ability to record, process, summarizeé and-report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have

a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  June 28, 2006 /s/ Andrew J. Fromkin
‘ Andrew J. Fromkin
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Israel M. Stein, certify that: . _ .
1. T have reviewed:this annual report on Form ‘IO-K of Clinical Data, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made; not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this-
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operatlons and cash
flows of the reglstrant as of, and-for, the periods presented in this report; :

4. The registra.nt's other certifying ofﬁcer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) for the

reglstrant and have:

a. De51gned such disclosure controls and -procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly dunng the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. . [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC transition instructions contained in SEC Release
34-47986]

c. Evaluated the effectlveness of the reglstrant s dlsclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

“procedures, as-of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and .

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): '

~a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operanon of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: June 28, 2006 {s/Israel M. Stein, MD
Israel M. Stein MD
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1
STATEMENT PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Clinical Data, Inc.(the "Company") for the year ended
March 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the
undersigned, Andrew J. Fromkin, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company and Israel M. Stein MD,
Executive Vice Chairman, Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: '

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

~ (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company at the end of such year.

/s/ Andrew J. Fromkin
Date:  June 28, 2006 Andrew J. Fromkin
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Israel M. Stein MD
Date:  June 28, 2006 Israel M, Stein MD
Executive Vice Chairman
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer







